

# A QUET REVOLUTION: DRUG DECRIMINALISATION ACROSS THE GEOBE

NIAMH EASTWOOD, EDWARD FOX & ARI ROSMARIN

**MARCH 2016** 

E.



# THIS PUBLICATION

This is the second edition of 'A Quiet Revolution: Drug Decriminalisation Across the Globe'. The first edition was released in July 2012 and has since been cited by a wide range of organisations and agencies, including: the World Health Organisation, the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, and the Global Commission on Drug Policy. This edition builds on the 2012 publication, providing updates on the jurisdictions originally covered and highlighting a number of new countries that have adopted a non-criminal justice response to the possession of drugs for personal use.

Many countries continue to incarcerate and criminalise people for possession or use of drugs, with criminalisation alone undermining employment, education and housing opportunities. In addition, many people who use drugs are often subject to human rights abuses by the state in jurisdictions which continue to criminalise them. The continued targeting of this group has not only a negative impact on the individuals in question, but their families and broader society as a whole. The aim of this report is to inform the public and policymakers alike on the impact of decriminalising drug possession offences, showing that decriminalisation does not lead to increased rates of use while equally demonstrating that law enforcementled approaches have little impact on this metric. Rather, the decision to end the criminalisation of people who use drugs can negate the harms highlighted above when done effectively and produce positive social, health and economic outcomes, not just for the individual, but for society as a whole.

# **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

The authors would like to thank the following people who reviewed the country information to ensure it was accurate and up to date:

Aram Barra, Vendula Belackova, Mariano Fusero, Luciana Pol, Dr. Caitlin Hughes, Professor Tom Decorte, Maria Cristina Meneses Sotomayor, João Augusto Castel-Branco Goulão, Pablo Cuevas, Sergio Sánchez Bustos, Ana Maria Rueda, Marco Perduca, Pien Metaal, Ana Sofia Santos, Raymond Pryce, Tom Blickman, Bill Piper, Lynne Lyman, Stephen Gutwillig, Demaluí Amighetti López, Milton Romani Gerner, Ivan Varentsov, Luis Eduardo Sandí Esquivel, Professor Alex Stevens, Agnieszka Sieniawska, Christine Kluge Haberkorn, Magdalena Dabkowska, Joanne Csete, Diane Steber. Finally, thank you to Amber Marks for drafting and reviewing the section on Spain. Her expertise on this country is invaluable.

# **DONORS**

Thanks to Open Society Foundations and to The Esmée Fairbairn Foundation for funding this publication.

# AUTHORS

# **NIAMH EASTWOOD**

Niamh is the Executive Director of Release. Niamh has extensive experience of service delivery, policy strategy, and operational development and has co-authored Release's two previous policy papers, 'The Numbers in Black And White: Ethnic Disparities in the Policing and Prosecution of Drug Offences in England and Wales', and the first edition of 'A Quiet Revolution'. Niamh is also responsible for drafting many of Release's briefings for Parliamentarians and policymakers, has presented at international and national conferences and is regularly invited to comment in the media. More recently Niamh co-authored an *Amicus Curiae* that was submitted in relation to the successful Mexican Supreme Court challenge to national cannabis laws, and served as technical advisor to the Global Commission on Drug Policy.

# **EDWARD FOX**

Edward is Release's Policy and Communications Manager, having previously worked as a journalist and editor in Colombia for InSight Crime. He served as technical advisor on the latest Global Commission on Drug Policy report, is regularly invited to comment in the media, has guest lectured at the University of London on drug policy and human rights, presented at national and international conferences and European Parliamentary briefings, and engages in developing Release's policy briefings and research.

# **ARI ROSMARIN**

Ari Rosmarin is the Public Policy Director at the American Civil Liberties Union of New Jersey, where he manages the ACLU-NJ's legislative and policy advocacy work throughout the state. His work covers a broad array of civil rights and liberties issues, and is currently involved in campaigns to reform police practices, strengthen immigrants' rights, and legalise, tax, and regulate cannabis for adults.

Prior to joining the ACLU-NJ, Ari was the Senior Advocacy Coordinator at the New York Civil Liberties Union, where he led campaigns on drug sentencing reform, privacy rights, and post-9/11 government surveillance, among other issues. He has written various articles on drug policy reform in both the U.S. and the U.K. While in law school, he worked with Release in the summer of 2011 where he served as a co-author on the first edition of 'A Quiet Revolution'. Ari received his B.A. from Columbia University and his J.D. from Brooklyn Law School, where he was an Edward V. Sparer Public Interest Law Fellow.

# CONTENTS

Introduction	6
Considerations for Implementing an Effective Decriminalisation Model	9
Decriminalisation systems by country	13
- Argentina	13
- Armenia	13
- Australia	14
· South Australia	14
• Australian Capital Territory (ACT)	15
· Northern Australia	15
• Western Australia	15
<ul> <li>Drug diversion schemes</li> </ul>	16
• Australia: Conclusions	17
- Belgium	17
- Chile	18
- Colombia	18
- Costa Rica	19
- Croatia	19
- Czech Republic	20
- Ecuador	21
- Estonia	22
- Germany	22
- Italy	22
- Jamaica	24
- Mexico	24
- The Netherlands	25
- Paraguay	27
- Peru	27
- Poland	27
- Portugal	28
- The Russian Federation	30
- Spain	31
- Switzerland	33
- United States of America	34
· California	35
• Washington D.C.	36
- Uruguay	36
Conclusion	38
References	39

# INTRODUCTION

Over 50 years since the foundation of the current global drug policy regime was laid, prohibitionist drug laws continue to inflict countless harms. An estimated \$100 billion is being pumped annually into law enforcement-led approaches around the world to combat drugs<sup>1</sup>, with the results mainly involving the criminalisation and incarceration of low-level, nonviolent drug offenders. Indeed, an estimated 83 per cent of all drug-related offences worldwide are simple possession offences.<sup>2</sup>

In spite of this undue emphasis on tackling drug use, the number of adults globally who have used drugs increased almost 20 per cent between 2006 and 2013 from 206 million to 246 million,<sup>3</sup> underscoring how punitive approaches do not serve as a deterrent. Rather, they help swell prison populations, stoke the spread of blood-borne viruses and other infectious diseases and contribute to the shameful level of drug-related deaths, which in 2013 stood at close to 200,000 globally.<sup>4</sup>

The aforementioned are just a select few of the myriad harms caused by criminalisation. As highlighted in our 2013 report, *The Numbers in Black and White: Ethnic Disparities in the Policing and Prosecution of Drug Offences in England and Wales*,<sup>5</sup> drug laws are often imposed most harshly against ethnic minority communities despite prevalence rates among these groups being no higher than among the white population. This disproportionality is reflected elsewhere in the world, particularly the United States where it has resulted in the mass incarceration of African Americans. Such a policing approach has had serious implications for community-police relations in many parts of the world.

However, cracks are beginning to emerge in the prohibitionist consensus, both in rhetoric and in practice. Across the globe governments are adopting different policy approaches to address drug use in their communities – some are reducing harsh penalties for drug offences to save costs, while others are increasing their harm reduction and public health measures in an effort to properly address problematic drug use. Rising costs, commitments to personal autonomy, and mounting evidence of the devastating consequences of criminal justice responses to drugs for individuals – stigmatisation, employment decline, housing issues, and public health harm, among others – have led a number of countries towards an alternative policy option: the decriminalisation of drug possession and use. Under these regimes, the possession of small amounts of illicit drugs for personal use is no longer a criminal offence.<sup>6</sup>

To call decriminalisation a *new* option is misleading. Some countries have had decriminalisation policies in place since the early 1970s, while others never criminalised drug use and possession to begin with.

However, in the past 15 years, a new wave of countries have moved toward the decriminalisation model, suggesting growing recognition of the failures of the criminalisation approach and a strengthening political wind blowing in the direction of an historic paradigm shift.

The models of decriminalisation vary considerably – some countries adopt a *de jure* model (one defined by law), others have de-prioritised the policing of drug possession through *de facto* decriminalisation. Furthermore, there is enormous geographical variance, with countries as disparate as Armenia, Belgium, Czech Republic, Ecuador, Estonia, Mexico, Portugal and parts of the United States all adopting some form of decriminalisation within their jurisdictions in the last 15 years or so.

While the precise number of countries with formal decriminalisation policies is not clear, it is likely slightly above 30,<sup>7</sup> depending on which definitions are used. Additionally, at the time of writing, Ireland was exploring the decriminalisation of all drugs along the lines of the model implemented in Portugal.

Decriminalisation has received considerable endorsement in recent years. The Global Commission on Drug Policy – a body comprised of former heads of state, human rights and global health experts, business leaders, economists, and UN leaders – has repeatedly called for decriminalisation since the launch of their first report in 2011.<sup>8</sup> What's more, several prominent UN agencies, including UNAIDS,<sup>9</sup> the World Health Organisation (WHO),<sup>10</sup> the United Nations Development Programme,<sup>11</sup> and the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights (OHCHR),<sup>12</sup> have all expressed the need to decriminalise the possession of drugs for personal use.

The United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (UNODC) similarly advocated decriminalisation in a 2015 position paper, albeit supressing its publication immediately prior to release.<sup>13</sup> It has, however, publicly endorsed decriminalisation in joint publications.<sup>14</sup>

Nowhere in the past few years has the fracturing consensus on prohibition's efficacy been more evident than on the international scene. In 2012, heads of state from Colombia, Mexico and Guatemala called on the UN to bring forward its General Assembly Special Session (UNGASS) on drugs scheduled for 2019. These countries, ravaged by the harms of aggressive prohibitionist policies, demanded a debate be held in order to explore alternative approaches, and achieved their goal with the UNGASS set to take place in April 2016.

Critics of a more progressive approach to drugs and drug use continue to claim that adoption of decriminalisation will lead to a 'Pandora's box' of horrors, increasing drug use throughout all levels of society and thus the overall harms of drugs. In light of the differing decriminalisation models in practice today, it is certainly difficult to make sweeping assessments of decriminalisation's impact on various metrics such as criminal justice savings, drugrelated deaths, and the spread of infectious diseases. However, one conclusion that can be drawn is that the doomsday predictions are simply wrong, and removing criminal sanctions for possession and use of drugs does not lead to skyrocketing prevalence rates. The United Kingdom Home Office concluded as much in a report looking into different countries' approaches to drugs, varying from repressive regimes like Sweden and Japan to decriminalised models such as Portugal and the Czech Republic. The report stated that there was no 'obvious relationship between the toughness of a country's enforcement against drug possession, and levels of drug use in that country'.<sup>15</sup>

Decriminalisation is not a panacea for all of the problems associated with problematic drug use; a country's drug-enforcement policies appear to have but a minor effect on the impact

#### of drugs in a society. But what emerges is that the harms of criminalisation far outweigh those of decriminalisation.

As this report will show, decriminalisation when implemented effectively does appear to direct more people who use drugs problematically into treatment, reduce criminal justice costs, improve public health outcomes, and shield many drug users from the devastating impact of a criminal conviction. Decriminalisation when coupled with investment in harm reduction, and health and social services, can have an extremely positive effect on both individuals who use drugs and society as a whole. Even if a state is unable to invest in these services, decriminalisation removes the harms a criminal conviction can bring, such as reducing people's education, housing and employment opportunities, and in some cases the right to vote.

What follows is a snapshot of decriminalisation policies in practice around the world. The goal of this report is not to put decriminalisation on a pedestal or to give a comprehensive portrait of every policy detail, but rather to summarise some of the available research on decriminalisation and demonstrate that law enforcement-led approaches have little impact on drug prevalence rates. Not all countries that have decriminalised drug use and possession have been included here as some countries espouse a decriminalisation model but in the place of criminal sanctions have adopted deeply harmful systems for addressing drug use. Many Southeast Asian countries, for example, have introduced 'compulsory' detention centres', where people are forcibly detained for up to two years. These centres are associated with serious human rights violations, where people are beaten or raped and may be used as forced labour.<sup>16</sup>

The jurisdictions that form the case studies for this paper are examples of both those countries that have adopted good models of decriminalisation and those that have adopted what could be described as hollow examples of decriminalisation; that is, the possession thresholds are so low that the system is effectively unenforceable and most people who use drugs are still criminalised. Perversely, those countries that have weak systems of decriminalisation also tend to have harsher sentences for those caught in possession of an amount above the threshold stated. This leads to a far more punitive response to those who use drugs, and is disproportionate when compared with other offences.<sup>17</sup>

Decriminalisation has brought a number of positive outcomes across the globe, though efforts should

continually be made to address any failures in its implementation. In order to ensure a truly effective model is put in place, the criteria highlighted at the beginning of this report should be taken into strong consideration.

# CONSIDERATIONS FOR IMPLEMENTING AN EFFECTIVE DECRIMINALISATION MODEL

The effectiveness of a decriminalisation model in diverting people away from the criminal justice system is dependent on a number of factors. Research has shown that some jurisdictions have failed woefully in the implementation of such a system and in some cases this has created much greater harms for people who use drugs. In Russia, for example, the extremely low thresholds make the system unworkable, with those caught in possession of very small quantities of drugs for personal use facing prison. This coupled with the lack of health and harm reduction services on offer to people who use drugs in the country creates a particularly dire situation, with human rights abuses widespread.

Other countries implement unnecessary punitive systems within a civil law response – Paraguay serving as one such example in its requirement that people who use drugs be registered with the government following first arrest in order to avoid future criminal prosecution for possession. In other Latin American countries there are high rates of pre-trial detention of people who use drugs, often for months or years, while people wait for judicial determination as to whether they will be subject to criminal proceedings.

It is important that any model that imposes civil instead of criminal responses should be grounded in human rights and dignity for the person. Coercive and punitive regimes founded in the civil law can cause as much damage as criminalisation. This is why we must ensure that the models implemented are evidencebased and humane.

The following are criteria that policymakers should consider when developing a model of diversion away from the criminal justice system.

# **THRESHOLDS**

The majority of jurisdictions adopt threshold amounts to aid police, prosecutors and the judiciary in determining whether someone in possession of drugs has them for personal use. However, in some countries generic terms such as 'small amount/quantity' are used, often resulting in the law being applied in an inconsistent way as demonstrated in the section on Poland. This is an unhelpful approach. Threshold amounts can be useful as a guide for those responsible for determining the personal possession of drugs, but as highlighted below thresholds should not be the sole determinative factor.

There is considerable variance in the threshold quantities that have been adopted for similar substances in different countries. If a government chooses to adopt a threshold system, the amounts defined in law or prosecutorial guidance must be meaningful – that is to say, adapted to reflect market realities and to ensure that the principle of decriminalisation of possession for personal use is properly achieved. The case of cannabis thresholds in the Australian Capital Territory is a good example of policy adjustment to represent the market realities for users of cannabis, where the threshold was increased to 50 grams to include those who bought more than an ounce of cannabis (28.3 grams) for their own personal use.

In some countries it is a criminal offence to be in possession of any amount above the threshold despite the fact that the case is still one of personal possession. This is an arbitrary approach and fails to recognise that in many cases some people will be in possession of larger quantities in order to avoid repeated contact with the black market or because of having a high tolerance/dependency. This is why, to reiterate the above point, thresholds should serve as guidance and not be the sole determinative factor, something which works both ways. For example, no one caught in possession of drugs for personal use should be subject to criminal sanctions in a decriminalised regime if it is proven the drugs were intended for such, even if they possess amounts above the stated thresholds. Similarly, this applies in determining supply offences in cases where someone is caught in possession below the threshold amount but where there is evidence to indicate intention to supply - although arguably, diversion schemes such as the Law Enforcement Assisted Diversion programme should be considered for low-level supply offences where the offender is drug dependent or economically disadvantaged. (See the section on the United States for more details on this.)

In all cases, purity threshold amounts should be avoided as this places an onus on the user to know what is in the drugs they have in their possession, creating a lack of legal certainty. It is also onerous for the authorities to enforce such a system.

While there is no ideal threshold quantity, the appropriate adoption of this model should result in no arrests or criminal prosecutions against those caught in possession of drugs for personal use.

#### LOW-LEVEL SUPPLY OFFENCES

As stated above, thresholds should only be used as guidance. There is a concern that where thresholds are arbitrarily applied in a strict manner, it results in people caught with quantities above the threshold being subject to supply charges, despite the drugs being for personal use. Disproportionate sentencing for cases involving possession above the threshold amount or for supply offences can occur as a result of policymakers wanting to appear 'tough' on drugs while implementing a decriminalisation policy, which can be viewed as a liberalisation of the law. It is vital that governments recognise the principle of proportionality in sentencing for drug offences. Too often those convicted of non-violent drug supply offences receive custodial periods that are much harsher than other violent offences, such as rape or murder.

#### PENALTIES

There are a number of responses a country can take outside a criminal justice setting which address drug possession:

No response - some countries, for example the Netherlands, have policies whereby those caught in possession for personal use receive no sanction. The benefit of such an approach is the cost savings to the criminal justice system, in addition to the individual caught not having to undergo an unnecessary penalty. For example, large numbers of people in other jurisdictions who are subject to a civil fine for possession will agree to undertake a treatment programme in lieu of payment. Many of them do so simply to avoid payment and do not benefit from treatment since they do not use drugs problematically. It should be recognised that only a minority of people who use drugs (estimated at 10 to 15 per cent of all users) suffer from problematic drug-dependence and are in need of treatment.

Further to this, the model adopted by Portugal allows for an incremental response to someone caught in possession of drugs for personal use. On the first occasion, if the person is assessed as not having a problem or dependency on drugs, proceedings will be suspended. The person's name is simply recorded by the authorities, and after a prescribed period their name is expunged from the records. However, if they are caught again with drugs within that prescribed period they are brought before the dissuasion commission and face a penalty (if they are not drug dependent) or a referral to treatment, although suspension of proceedings is still possible. (Please see the section on Portugal for all relevant references.)

It is arguably a waste of police resources to pursue and arrest those who use drugs, and evidence shows that the decision not to police such offences does not lead to an increase in drug use. (Please see the section on the Netherlands for more detail.) We would recommend that when implementing a decriminalisation model that users are not sanctioned for possession of drugs for personal use.

Fines or other administrative penalties many countries issue fines (including on-the-spot fines issued by the police) for possession of drugs for personal use. As highlighted in the point above, the availability of undertaking treatment in lieu of payment can be problematic. If a system of fines is to be adopted it must be set at a reasonable level and not result in the imprisonment of large numbers of people for non-payment. In addition, there is a real risk of netwidening - the incidence of when a greater number of people are subject to non-criminal sanctions than would previously have been - in that police may be motivated to intercept more people as the issuing of a fine, especially on-the-spot fines, is seen as a quick and easy response. In Western Australia the decision to require people to attend a police station to pay a fine mitigated the risk of net-widening to some degree as the system became more bureaucratic for police officers.

Other forms of civil penalties, such as seizure of a person's passport or driving licence, should be avoided as these can have an unduly negative impact on a person's life.

**Treatment** – in terms of those who are dependent on drugs, we would recommend that the police work with treatment agencies and the relevant health authorities to offer an individualised and voluntary referral route such as that advocated in Portugal. It should also be recognised that a variety of treatment options should be made available, including opioid substitution therapy (OST), and counselling. Drug dependency is a chronic relapsing condition and any system that solely focuses on 'drug-free outcomes' is potentially setting a person up to fail. Also, failure to meet the conditions of treatment should be addressed by involving the person in their treatment programme and should certainly not result in criminal sanctions or a more punitive response.

Administrative detention – such detention, as adopted in some countries in Southeast Asia and in Russia, is not and should never be considered an appropriate response to drug possession under a decriminalisation model or any other model. Such regimes are linked with significant human rights abuses where individuals are detained for significant periods to be 'treated' and are often subject to forced labour, beatings and torture. Harsh detention outside of the criminal justice system can be more destructive than criminal custodial penalties and does not serve the foundational aims of a decriminalisation policy.

# **DECISION MAKER**

The decision as to whether a person is in possession of drugs for personal use will be determined either by the police, the prosecution or the judiciary. Who is best placed to make this decision is very much dependent on local factors such as the weakness or strength of state institutions, and whether they are vulnerable to corruption or capable of abuse of position.

**Police determination:** the main benefit is that the decision is made at a very early point in the process – usually when a person has been stopped and searched – and avoids lengthy delays which can occur if the prosecution or judiciary are responsible for determining the offence. Furthermore, if the aim of decriminalisation is to take people out of the criminal justice system then an expedient decision can achieve this aim.

A problem that does arise in relation to police discretion and the implementation of a decriminalised model is the potential for net-widening. For example, the introduction of administrative fines for possession of cannabis in South Australia resulted in more people being sanctioned than under the previous criminal system, and more people being incarcerated due to non-payment of fines. This is a far harsher sanction than they would have received for possession of cannabis under the old criminal justice regime, leading South Australia to revise the policy to address these issues.

**Prosecutorial guidance:** prosecutorial guidance will often be provided to police to assist in determining whether the person detained is in possession of drugs for personal use as is the case in the Netherlands and the Czech Republic. There is little commentary about the impact of the state prosecutor as the decision maker. Arguably as long as an individual is not detained while the determination is being made, the involvement of prosecutorial authorities should not be problematic; however, the delay for the individual may cause distress.

**Judicial determination:** where the legal system requires a judge to assess the facts of the case and to make a ruling as to whether a person was in possession of drugs for personal use or for trafficking can often lead to lengthy periods of pre-trial detention. The use of judicial determination tends to be confined to the Latin American region and has been subject to significant criticisms. This is often due to the disconnection between the policy's aims and its implementation, and the subsequent imprisonment of people found in possession of drugs until a determination can be made. In Peru, one third of the nearly 12,000 inmates incarcerated for drug offences in 2010 had not been formally charged or convicted of a crime, for example. Sometimes they are detained for months or even years.

While initial police determinations about personal possession versus supply can work to protect users and save prosecution costs, it is critical that independent judiciary subject police determinations of supply to rigorous scrutiny. This is to ensure that in the absence of quantity thresholds those caught in possession for personal use are not mistakenly subject to criminal penalties for supply offences. Judges ought to consider the totality of circumstances as well as embrace principles of lenity in cases such as these.

Where there are weak institutions and risks of corruption or abuse of power it may be sensible to encourage oversight from judicial authorities. This could include a mechanism for independent review or recourse for those who have not benefitted from the decriminalisation model.

Any effective system of decriminalisation should be complemented with investment in public health and social services, harm reduction interventions, and treatment. Policymakers must view the positive outcomes of the Portuguese decriminalisation experience in light of the significant investment in public health initiatives that the country made in conjunction with decriminalising possession of drugs for personal use, including needle exchanges, opioid substitution therapy, and treatment and prevention strategies. Countries wishing to reduce the harms of problematic drug use and who want to limit long-term health costs by introducing programmes that tackle HIV transmission and other blood-borne viruses should consider coupling the decriminalisation model with such a public health investment.

Ultimately, it is important that any model is subject to assessment and where it is determined that it is not working effectively then it should be revised. The fundamental aim of the system should be to divert people away from a criminal justice system and offer voluntary engagement with health programs when needed, but recognise that it is neither necessary nor effective to impose the harms and costs of criminalisation of drug use and possession in order to reduce drug use and related harms.

# DECRIMINALISATION SYSTEMS BY COUNTRY

# ARGENTINA

In 2009, Argentina's Supreme Court issued the *Arriola* decision, declaring national legislation<sup>18</sup> that criminalised drug possession for personal use was unconstitutional on the basis that it was a violation of an individual's right to privacy and personal autonomy under Article 19 of the Argentinian Constitution.<sup>19</sup> The court held: 'Criminalising an individual [for drug use] is undeniably inhumane, subjecting the person to a criminal process that will stigmatise him for the rest of his life and subject him, in some cases, to prison time'.<sup>20</sup>

While the facts of the *Arriola* decision were concerned with the possession of cannabis the ruling of the court is interpreted as being applicable to the possession of all illicit drugs.<sup>21</sup> Despite the ruling, though, the Argentinian executive and legislative branches have still to implement legislation that would reflect the decision of the court. Since 2009 there have been various attempts to bring forward statutory legislation to reflect the ruling of the Supreme Court but to date none have made it through Argentina's Congress.<sup>22</sup>

The most recent attempt came in 2014 under the former government of Cristina Fernández de Kirchner when a new *Criminal Code* was submitted to Congress. This draft legislation proposed a number of significant reforms to the *Code* including that possession and/or cultivation of drugs for personal use were no longer criminal offences, thus reflecting the *Arriola decision*.<sup>23</sup> However, no debate was held in Congress about this element of the Code and the reforms did not pass.

Currently, although many lower courts have begun applying the *Arriola* decision and throwing out cases involving possession of small amounts of drugs, some police forces have not adjusted their enforcement practices.<sup>24</sup> Approximately 70 per cent of all drug arrests involve possession for personal use.<sup>25</sup> This tension between the enforcement and judicial branches has created an ambiguity in the implementation of Argentinian law which is manifest in criminal justice statistics; for example, the Buenos Aires police arrested 2,093 people in the first quarter of 2014, 98 per cent of which were ruled on the grounds of illegal possession, and half of which involved minors.<sup>26</sup>

The 2015 presidential election saw the drug issue gaining new prominence largely as a result of media reports that Argentina has increasingly become a key transit route for cocaine through the region and the fact that the country is the second highest consumer of the drug in Latin America. However, the language of the presidential debate was one of military responses to drug trafficking rather than concern with any reform of the law to reflect the Arriola decision.<sup>27</sup> The election was won by the Conservative leader Mauricio Macri, who defeated the Peronist candidate and ended 12 years of rule by the Peronist party. Macri has been a vocal opponent to decriminalisation of drug possession,<sup>28</sup> therefore making it hard to see that there will be any moves by his government to reconcile the Arriola decision with national legislation.

#### ARMENIA

Throughout its history as part of the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics (USSR) and for nearly two decades after it gained independence in 1990, Armenia enforced a 'zero tolerance' approach to illegal drugs, with harsh criminal sentences for use and possession. However, amendments to the law in 2008 resulted in a significant policy shift. Drug use and possession statutes were removed from its *Criminal Code* and were replaced with Article 44 of the *Administrative Offences Code*, which punishes possession of 'small quantities' of illicit drugs with administrative penalties.<sup>29</sup> The law also decriminalises the non-commercial (social) supply of small amounts of drugs.<sup>30</sup>

Under the old law a person convicted of drug possession would face a prison sentence of up to two months if it was their first offence. The 2008 law introduced an administrative fine of approximately \$400 in place of this, the fine being waived if the person seeks voluntary drug treatment.<sup>31</sup> Clearly, the level of fine is out of reach of most people, though, in a country where the average income is just \$340 per month.<sup>32</sup> However, research has suggested that the decriminalisation of drug possession has led to a greater number of people who use drugs problematically accessing treatment.<sup>33</sup>

The definition of 'small quantities' does not appear to be specifically defined in law, although the *Administrative Offences Code* does distinguish on the basis of 'significant', 'large' and 'extremely large' quantities.<sup>34</sup> A recent Penal Reform International report did find that stakeholders in Armenia had expressed concern that the maximum amount of drugs that fell within the definition were quite small, leading to people being convicted of trafficking offences despite them being in possession of drugs for personal use or social supply.<sup>35</sup>

# **AUSTRALIA**

Australia was an early adopter of decriminalisation having had cannabis decriminalisation policies in place for over 25 years, albeit not on a national level. There are currently three Australian jurisdictions that have laws decriminalising the possession and cultivation of cannabis for personal use. A fourth cannabis civil penalties scheme operated from 2004 to 2011 in Western Australia but was overturned for political reasons.<sup>36</sup>

Significant research has been completed on the effects of Australian cannabis decriminalisation policies.<sup>37</sup> Studies into decriminalisation's impact on the prevalence of cannabis use are mixed – some suggest a statistically significant increase in cannabis consumption; others suggest no significant increase in use. All generally agree, though, that decriminalisation has not resulted in the catastrophic explosion in cannabis use many predicted as a result of decriminalisation. In addition to the three states that have decriminalised cannabis possession all states operate a range of *de facto* decriminalisation schemes, namely drug diversion schemes for people caught in possession of cannabis or other illicit drugs for personal use, as well as for minor and serious drug-related offenders.<sup>38</sup>

#### South Australia

With some modifications over the years, South Australia's Cannabis Explation Notice (CEN) scheme has been in place since 1987. Under this policy, the police issue a CEN to individuals caught in possession of up to 100 grams of cannabis or found to be cultivating no more than one non-hydroponic plant for personal use. This requires the individual to pay a civil fine of up to AU\$300 depending on the amount of cannabis found within 28 days. If the individual pays the fine, no admission of guilt is recorded and there is no prosecution. If the individual fails to pay the fine they will be sent a reminder notice and an additional fee for the notice will be added to the original fine. If they subsequently do not pay the expiation fee and the reminder fee the matter will be referred to court which will administratively issue an enforcement notice. This results in an automatic conviction and enforcement of the outstanding fine.<sup>39</sup>

Despite the intentions of South Australian officials, the introduction of the CEN scheme initially resulted in more prosecutions of cannabis users than in previous years - 6,000 CENs were issued in the first year of decriminalisation (1987-1988) growing to 17,000 issued in 1993-1994 owing to the relative ease with which they could be distributed by police officers.<sup>40</sup> The effect of this 'net-widening', combined with early confusion among their recipients regarding payment requirements and methods, was a higher number of cannabis users ending up incarcerated for non-payment of fines.<sup>41,42</sup> The South Australian Government responded to this trend by changing the payment options to include payments by instalment, substitution of community service for payment, and making the CEN requirements clearer. This has resulted in increased payment and reduced numbers of criminal convictions.<sup>43</sup> By 2013, the number of notices issued had fallen to just over 9,000.44

The literature on decriminalisation's effect on the prevalence of cannabis use in South Australia is mixed; one study suggests decriminalisation resulted in an increase in the prevalence of cannabis smoking,<sup>45</sup> but most studies indicate there is no evidence of an increase in cannabis use that is attributable to the CEN scheme.<sup>46</sup> The National Drug Strategy Household Survey conducted by the Australian Institute of Health and Welfare noted a

decline in rates of cannabis use (past 12 months use) of 17.6 per cent of the state population in 1998 to 10.8 per cent in 2007. Since that survey there has been small increase in prevalence with the most recent 2013 data reporting 11 per cent of respondents had used cannabis in the past year.<sup>47</sup>

The other key concern about the scheme has been its effects on cannabis cultivation to the black market and organised crime. As a consequence, while the 1987 scheme enabled expiation for cultivation of up to 10 plants for personal use, this was reduced to three plants, then two plants, and finally in 2001 to one non-hydroponic plant.<sup>48</sup>

Considering the literature balance and the data from the National Survey, the CEN scheme does not appear to have had a significant impact on cannabis use, but it has resulted in keeping more individuals out of the criminal justice system and has saved the state government hundreds of thousands of dollars in enforcement costs.<sup>49</sup> Furthermore, interviews with South Australian law-enforcement leaders more than 10 years after decriminalisation revealed near-unanimous support for continuing the CEN policy.<sup>50</sup>

#### Australian Capital Territory (ACT)

Beginning in 1993, police in the ACT had the authority to issue a *Simple Cannabis Offence Notice* (SCON) to an individual found with up to 25 grams of cannabis or cultivating two non-hydroponic plants when for personal use, instead of charging them with a criminal offence.<sup>51</sup> A SCON requires payment of a AU\$100 fine within 60 days. If paid within 60 days, no criminal charge is recorded. Failure to pay the fine may lead to the SCON being withdrawn or a summons to appear in court. Since 2002 a final option has been provided for non-compliant offenders whereby the SCON may be withdrawn and the offender can be referred to a therapeutic drug diversion programme instead (PED).<sup>52</sup>

Under this scheme, *in lieu* of paying a fine an individual can be assessed and referred to a treatment or education programme up to two times if necessary.<sup>53</sup> A recent evaluation showed that there had been some resistance by police to using the scheme due to a perceived non-payment of fines, and a preference to refer minor cannabis offenders to drug diversion schemes instead of SCON.<sup>54</sup> However, this same evaluation also showed that the SCON scheme was a much better use of resources and recommended changes to increase utilisation. Following this evaluation, payment systems for fines were streamlined and the threshold quantity

for possession was increased, from 25 grams to 50 grams of cannabis for personal use.<sup>55,56</sup> The threshold was adapted since the original threshold precluded anyone caught with an ounce (28.3 grams) from the SCON scheme, criminalising cannabis users who would commonly buy this quantity.<sup>57</sup>

The prevalence of cannabis use has been on a continued decline in the ACT since 1998. The most recent surveys show statistically insignificant increases in recent cannabis use from 9.1 per cent in 2007 to 10.1 per cent in 2013, though the ACT still has one of the lowest rates of cannabis consumption in Australia.<sup>58</sup>

#### **Northern Territory**

Cannabis possession has been decriminalised in the Northern Territory since 1996. Under the Northern Territory scheme, police may give individuals found with up to 50 grams of cannabis an infringement notice requiring them to pay a fine of up to AU\$200. Failure to pay the fine results in the individual owing a debt to the state but does not result in a criminal conviction or record.

The Northern Territory has historically reported high rates of cannabis use well exceeding all other states in Australia. Since 1998 national surveys have collected data on recent use of cannabis from the age of 14 onwards. The most recent 2013 analysis shows that 17.1 per cent of the population of the Northern Territory reported using cannabis in the last 12 months, well above the national average of 10.2 per cent.<sup>59</sup> However, rates of cannabis consumption in the state have fallen significantly since 1998 - two years after the introduction of decriminalisation with reported use in that year of 36.5 per cent of the population, meaning that prevalence has more than halved in the last 17 years, supporting the evidence that the ending of criminal sanctions does not lead to an increase in use.

#### Western Australia

Western Australia repealed its decriminalisation policy in 2011 replacing it with a new law for first time cannabis offences.<sup>60</sup> It is worth considering how the system operated in practice and the lessons learned from the seven-year period that cannabis possession offences were decriminalised.

In 2004 the Western Australian government introduced a new system whereby police were able to issue a *Cannabis Infringement Notice* (CIN) to an individual when they had reason to believe the person had committed a minor cannabis offence. If an individual was found in possession of up to 30 grams of cannabis, or of paraphernalia or two non-hydroponic plants, a CIN was issued and the individual had the options of choosing to pay a fine of up to AU\$200, attending a *Cannabis Education Session* (CES) with an approved treatment provider, or facing prosecution in court. There was no limit to the number of CINs an individual could receive. However, if an individual received more than two CINs within a three-year period, they were no longer eligible to pay a fine and had to either attend a CES or go to court.<sup>61</sup> Individuals who failed to pay their fine incurred a debt to the state but not a criminal record as a result.

The government of Western Australia was relatively successful in encouraging individuals to pay the CIN fines by using the threat of driver's license suspensions to compel payment, resulting in over 75 per cent compliance.<sup>62</sup> The state government was also able to avoid the net-widening problem that South Australia faced by processing CINs at the police station, rather than issuing them in the field.

Following the election of the centre-right Liberal party in 2008, the government eliminated the CIN scheme in Western Australia, with the new law coming into effect in August 2011. Seemingly ignoring evidence of the success of the CIN policy, the government replaced the scheme with a therapeutic diversion programme namely, a Cannabis Intervention Requirement (CIR) for which it is compulsory to attend a brief intervention with a counsellor within 28 days of detection. The CIR is only allowed for individuals possessing up to 10 grams cannabis, rather than 30 grams as per the CIN scheme. Moreover, adults are only eligible to receive a CIR once, and youth twice. Any subsequent offences will result in prosecution. One of the arguments put forward by the state government for the reversal of the decriminalisation law was a perceived increase in cannabis use within the state.63 However, data reveals there had actually been a decrease in levels of cannabis use within Western Australia during the period of decriminalisation.64

For example, in 1998 the rates of recent use of cannabis were 22.3 per cent of the population; by 2004, the year of entry of the CIN scheme, the rates had fallen to 13.7 per cent and by 2007 that rate had further fallen to 10.8 per cent. By 2013, and despite having one of the toughest laws in the country,<sup>65</sup> cannabis prevalence had crept up and was on par with the national average with reported rates of 11.3 per cent.<sup>66</sup> Extensive evaluations also showed that while the scheme was in operation it did not result in increased cannabis use among regular cannabis users, nor school students, nor did it result in a 'softening' of attitudes to cannabis. It also coincided with improved understanding of the harms of cannabis.<sup>67</sup>

Opponents of cannabis decriminalisation often argue that decriminalisation would make cannabis more widely available and lead to increased use of other drugs. Yet, one study demonstrated that after the CIN scheme was implemented, only 5 per cent of Western Australia residents reported an increase in their use of non-cannabis drugs, 9 per cent reported a decrease in their use of other drugs and 82 per cent reported no change in their use of non-cannabis drugs.<sup>66</sup> The 2011 law has resulted in a greater number of people being prosecuted for cannabis possession.

#### **Drug diversion schemes**

Since 1999 all six Australian states and two territories have introduced local diversion programmes for those caught in possession of drugs for personal use, or for drug and drug-related crimes. Indeed, in 2007 there were a total of 51 such programmes across Australia.<sup>69</sup> The principle of these programmes is to divert those caught in possession for personal use from the criminal justice system into assessment, education, and/or treatment. Most programmes only allow one or two opportunities to receive a diversion rather than a charge, as well as other eligibility requirements (such as to admit the offence). Failure to comply with the requirements of the programme can result in proceedings being reinstated in many cases. While this is described as de facto rather than de jure decriminalisation it is worth looking at the impact of diverting people away from the criminal justice system. This is particularly relevant given that there are many more people who avoid charge through this system than through the de jure decriminalisation schemes.

The model for diversion varies between jurisdictions with a range of interventions including warning schemes, a requirement to attend education or counselling sessions *in lieu* of prosecution, or attendance at drug treatment for a prescribed period. All jurisdictions also provide diversion schemes for those who have committed serious drug crimes (such as trafficking) or minor drug-related crimes. These schemes usually involve drug testing and treatment, as well as sometimes employment and housing assistance.<sup>70</sup>

A 2008 national review of eight jurisdictions' diversion schemes demonstrated that a majority of drug offenders did not reoffend following diversion, and that in five jurisdictions out of eight, the majority of reoffenders were only charged with one new offending incident.<sup>71</sup> A more recent evaluation examining

cannabis diversion programmes for use/possession offences specifically showed that, compared to people who received a charge, those who were diverted were no more likely to use cannabis or commit serious offences such as violence or drug trafficking. Rather diversion was found to be a much cheaper option for the state.<sup>72</sup> Diversion was also associated with less adverse employment outcomes such as the loss of a job, and improved relationships with significant others. The outcomes were thus similar to that seen through the CEN schemes. The main difference appears that such schemes cost more than the expiation scheme, both because the latter makes less demands on the treatment system and brings in revenue.

Diversion schemes for possession of other illicit drugs and drug-related offences have also been shown to motivate reductions in the frequency of drug use and/or harmful use.<sup>73</sup> Other positive outcomes include a reduced burden on the criminal system and better outcomes for those accessing diversion programmes in terms of physical and mental health. The costbenefit of the programmes have additionally proven effective, with every AU\$1 spent leading to savings of AU\$2.98 in relation to police, hospital, prison and probation costs.<sup>74</sup>

Similarly to what was observed with the cannabis decriminalisation initiatives there are some problems with diversion schemes in that they can produce a 'net-widening' effect when diversion is faster for the police to implement, and there is a belief that diversion will necessarily benefit offenders.<sup>76</sup> A further challenge is that by design such schemes divert some offenders, not all of them, with specific groups of offenders being more and less likely to be given access. There are also philosophical dilemmas about the extent to which it is just to require people who use drugs to undergo a therapeutic intervention to avoid a criminal sanction.

#### Australia: Conclusions

The decriminalisation models across Australia vary and have resulted in different outcomes and frequent policy changes. While additional research is needed to fully assess the impacts of Australia's various decriminalisation policies, one general conclusion that emerges is that the country's decriminalisation policies have had little to no impact on people's decision to use cannabis or other drugs. In our review of the analytical literature about the impact of decriminalisation on cannabis use in Australia, we found one study reporting a significant increase in cannabis use in states where it has been decriminalised,<sup>76</sup> one study demonstrating a decrease in cannabis use after decriminalisation,<sup>77</sup>

and five studies showing that decriminalisation had no significant impact on the prevalence of cannabis use.<sup>78</sup> Collectively, this would suggest that at the very least reform of the law and the ending of criminal sanctions for cannabis use has no or little impact on prevalence.

One important consequence of the Australian system of de jure and de facto decriminalisation is that Australia has very low rates of imprisonment for drug offences, with less than 1 per cent of offenders imprisoned for use/possession.79 In addition, research has shown that the jurisdictions that have implemented cannabis decriminalisation have not only succeeded in keeping individuals out of the criminal justice system, but that they have avoided the kinds of social harms that are associated with criminal sanctions. One study compared the outcomes of individuals given a CEN in South Australia and individuals given a criminal sentence in Western Australia (pre-2004 decriminalisation) and found that the individuals given criminal penalties were more likely to suffer negative employment, relationship, and accommodation consequences as a result of their cannabis charge, and were more likely to come into further contact with the criminal justice system than the South Australia (noncriminalised) individuals.80 Additionally, a more recent national review of eight jurisdictions' diversion schemes demonstrated that a majority of drug offenders did not reoffend following diversion, but also that in five jurisdictions out of eight, the majority of reoffenders were only charged with one new offending incident.<sup>81</sup> On a broader societal level, research also suggests that moving from criminalisation to decriminalisation can save jurisdictions' scarce fiscal resources<sup>82</sup> and may even have the potential to reduce rates of recidivism.83

#### BELGIUM

Belgium passed laws in 2003 creating a legal distinction between possession of cannabis for personal use and other types of drug offences, which created a civil penalty system.<sup>84</sup> The laws were amended and supplemented by a Minister of Justice and Prosecutor-General directive issued in 2005, instructing that adults found with under 3 grams or just one plant of cannabis for personal use would be issued a *simple record (Process-Verbal Simplifé –* PVS). While the cannabis is not confiscated, the police officer does send the individual's relevant details to the police station. However, these are not kept in any database.<sup>85</sup>

If aggravating factors are present – for example, cannabis possession in a penitentiary, or possession in or near places where minors gather – more serious penalties can be enforced, including 3 months to a year in prison and/or a fine of  $(1,000 - (100,000))^{86}$  All illicit substances other than cannabis are criminalised.

In October 2014, Belgium's governing coalition issued a declaration stating that 'all drug use is illegal. Use and possession of cannabis *in public* [emphasis added] will not be tolerated'. While the mayor of Antwerp has cracked down heavily on drugs in that particular city, other mayors continue to adhere to the official decriminalisation policy as the political declaration has no formal impact on the law.<sup>87</sup>

Based on the most recently available data from 2008, the lifetime prevalence of cannabis use in Belgium among adults aged 15-64 was 14.3 per cent, well below the EU average of 23.3 per cent.<sup>88</sup> Furthermore, lifetime prevalence of cannabis use among 15-16 year olds in Belgium fell from 31 to 24 per cent between 2003 and 2011,<sup>89</sup> underscoring that the decriminalisation of cannabis has not had the effect of increasing use among youth.

### CHILE

Since 2005, individuals in Chile found with illicit drugs intended for 'exclusive personal use and consumption in the near future' in private have been exempt from criminal prosecution.<sup>90</sup> As there are no thresholds in place, the judge must determine whether the drugs were intended for private use when the evidence does not provide for a rational inference that it was for such purposes, while the legal burden falls on the arrestee to prove possession was for personal use and not for distribution or sharing. If the individual is arrested for use or possession in public the judge may administer fines, forced treatment, community service requirements, and/or suspension of his or her driver's licence. This also applies for consumption in the private sphere if within a group and it is determined that 'they have assembled for that purpose'.91

Although the majority of possession cases terminate in a suspended sentence or administrative sanctions, a high number of arrests are still carried out for lowlevel offences with some resulting in imprisonment. In 2014, for example, 63.6 per cent of the 51,357 arrests carried out for drug-related offences were for drug possession or consumption, with the remainder being for trafficking.<sup>92</sup>

In recent years, the impetus to fully decriminalise drugs in Chile has grown, in particular with regards

to cannabis. The Chamber of Deputies (Lower House) passed a bill in July 2015 that would decriminalise possession for private consumption of up to 10 grams of cannabis and the private cultivation of up to 6 plants. Prior to the Senate voting on it, however, the government recommended the thresholds be lowered to just 2 grams and 1 plant.<sup>93</sup> The bill is still to go before the Senate.

Further to this, in June 2015 the Supreme Court declared 'the need for reforms of the law that punishes the illicit trafficking of narcotics and psychotropic substances', in a ruling concerning the cultivation of cannabis plants. The defendant in this case had originally been sentenced to 41 days in prison, which was overturned when the Supreme Court deemed that the plants were intended for personal use.<sup>94</sup>

Though efforts to decriminalise cannabis and make broader reforms to the country's drug laws could ultimately move slowly, progress has been made with regards to medicinal cannabis. President Michelle Bachelet signed a decree in October 2015 allowing pharmacies to sell cannabis-derived substances for medicinal use.<sup>95</sup>

According to Chile's National Drug and Alcohol Use Prevention and Rehabilitation Service (SENDA), the lifetime prevalence of both cocaine and cannabis use among 12-64 year olds have followed virtually identical paths; both rose between 1994 and 2008, falling sharply in 2010 and then have seen a slight uptick since. Lifetime cannabis use stood at 31.5 per cent in 2014, while lifetime cocaine use was 5.9 per cent.<sup>96</sup> These fluctuations – the rising prevalence rates prior to decriminalisation, the drop post-2005 and the rise again five years later – suggest little impact of the law on use levels among the population.

#### **COLOMBIA**

Drug possession for personal use was decriminalised in Colombia in 1994 when the Constitutional Court ruled that penalties for possession of a 'personal dose' violated Articles 16 and 49 of the 1991 Constitution. These respectively guarantee the rights to 'free personal development' and the freedom of decisionmaking to affect one's own health as long as it does not impact the rights of third parties.<sup>97</sup> Following the court ruling, possession of quantities under certain maximum thresholds – 20 grams for cannabis, 5 grams for hash, and 1 gram for cocaine – was not prohibited until 2009, when then-Colombian President Álvaro Uribe's government succeeded in passing a constitutional amendment to Article 49, restoring a prohibition model. Uribe had been campaigning for this since his election in 2002.

The sanctions for possession for personal use following 2009 were largely limited to administrative sentences, including referrals to various treatment and prevention services, though there was a degree of legal uncertainty among judicial and police authorities who lacked clear guidance on how to proceed with possession offences. Following passage of *Law 1453* in June 2011, people faced imprisonment of between 64 and 108 months and a fine of 2 to 150 months' minimum wages when caught with less than 1,000 grams of cannabis, 100 grams of cocaine or 20 grams of opium derivatives.<sup>98</sup>

However, an August 2011 ruling by the Colombian Supreme Court determined that the concept of 'personal dose' as established in 1994 still held primacy. The Constitutional Court followed up this ruling in June 2012 by reinstating the decriminalisation of possession for personal use, setting the thresholds for a 'personal dose' back to those established in 1994.<sup>99</sup> The following month *Law 1566* was signed, guaranteeing to people who use drugs the right to access health and social services, and thus reaffirming drug use to be a public health issue rather than a criminal one.<sup>100</sup>

Hearing the case in 2014 of an individual caught with 2.2 grams of cocaine and 51.8 grams of cannabis, Colombia's Supreme Court ruled that those caught with amounts slightly above the limits defined for a personal dose should not be penalised providing it is for personal use.<sup>101</sup> While this ruling was issued, the thresholds instated in 2012 remain the same, leaving it to judges to use their discretion following the Supreme Court's directive.

Despite thresholds being in place for some substances, people who use drugs can still be criminalised for simple possession and continue to receive penalties due to 'serious problems with judicial safeguards in the investigative and trial phases.'<sup>102</sup> People who use drugs have reported corrupt officers detaining them for longer periods than necessary in order to extort them, and even if not detained, individuals can have their substances confiscated by police who are trying to meet institutional quotas.<sup>103</sup> Indeed, from 2000 to 2016 the number of people imprisoned for drug crimes increased astronomically from a little over 6,000 people to over 24,000.<sup>104, 105</sup>

#### COSTA RICA

Drug possession for personal use has been

decriminalised in Costa Rica since the enactment of *Law 7093* in 1988 which set out administrative fines for these offences. Further reform in 2001 with the passage of *Law 8204* saw the removal of administrative fines for possession offences, and instead brought in voluntary treatment (although mandatory treatment is still applied to those aged under 18). This legal foundation has been underpinned by a judicial culture that treats drug use as a public health problem and seeks to avoid the criminalisation of drug users. Following an increase of arrests for drug possession, the Public Prosecutor's Office issued two circulars in 2010 and 2011 instructing all court prosecutors to abandon cases of possession for personal use.<sup>106</sup>

While Costa Rica does not have threshold amounts to determine what constitutes personal use, one court overturned the convictions of defendants who were carrying up to 200 grams of cannabis or cocaine. The court determined that the drugs were for personal use as there was no evidence of trafficking.<sup>107</sup> In another case a man of German nationality was arrested for trafficking 487 grams of cocaine. He alleged that it was for his own personal use and the prosecution failed to prove that he intended to traffic the drugs, thus he was found not guilty.<sup>108</sup>

In August 2013 Costa Rica amended *Law 8204* to reflect the role that economic deprivation and multiple dependents play in encouraging women to undertake minor drug trafficking roles. The reform reduced sentences for drug trafficking among women who have attempted to bring drugs into prison and who fulfil one of the following criteria: living in situations of poverty, head of a household in a situation of vulnerability, responsibility for minors, elderly or disabled persons, or herself an elderly person. The sentences were reduced from 8-20 years, to 3-8 years. The reform also gives judges the power to consider alternatives to sentencing such as house arrest or probation.<sup>109</sup>

#### CROATIA

Drug control in Croatia is covered by two acts; the *Law on Combating Drug Abuse (LCDA)* 2001 and the *Criminal Code* 1997.

New amendments to the *Criminal Code* came into force on 1 January, 2013, stipulating that the possession of 'small quantities' of drugs for personal use is no longer a criminal offence, punishable instead by a fine of (650-2,600) and classed as a misdemeanour under the LCDA.<sup>110</sup> It is for the state prosecutor or the court to decide what is to be classed as a 'small quantity' (they have discretion on each case). A measure of compulsory treatment may also be imposed in a medical or social care institution for a period of 3-12 months and if the offender successfully completes the rehabilitation process, the fine does not need to be paid.<sup>111</sup> The use of drugs in public is punishable by a fine of  $(100.^{112})$  The penalties for personal possession do not vary by drug, quantity, dependency or recidivism.<sup>113</sup>

### **CZECH REPUBLIC**

The Czech Republic has a history of treating problematic drug use as a health issue. Since the early 1960s treatment approaches, considered to be particularly humane when compared to other Soviet Bloc countries, have been implemented by health professionals.<sup>114</sup> It is arguably this background that set the tone for the Czech Republic's first national drug legislation as it emerged from the Soviet Union in 1989.

In 1990 the possession of drugs for personal use was removed from the penal code, with little in the way of media coverage of the country's reforms. However, as drug consumption in many Eastern European countries began increasing, including in the Czech Republic where there were emerging visible drug markets,<sup>115</sup> the public and the media began to take interest, displaying what commentators referred to as a 'moral panic' about drugs.<sup>116</sup>

Two political parties, the Christian Democrats and Communists, called for the criminalisation of drug possession in response to the media hyperbole. However, the Parliament at the time, who largely came from the Civic Democrats and the Social Democrats, got ahead of the debate by bringing forward an amendment to the penal code that would criminalise drug possession of amounts considered 'greater than small'.<sup>117</sup>

In 1998 the penal code was amended along these lines and made possession for personal use a civil offence if in 'small amounts'.<sup>118</sup> Possession of drugs for another person's use remained a criminal offence, as did smuggling, and selling or offering drugs to another person. The 'propagation of drug use' – i.e. the incitement of others to use drugs – was also criminalised.<sup>119</sup>

In response to the new legislation the National Drug Commission instigated a cost-benefit analysis of the new laws. After a two-year evaluation was concluded in 2002, research found that:

- penalisation of drug use had not affected the availability of illicit drugs;
- there was an increase in the levels of drug use within the country;
- the law did not reduce initiation of drug use and in fact found higher initiation rates among young people during the period of evaluation;
- and, the social costs of illicit drug use increased significantly.<sup>120</sup>

As a result of this analysis and further expert efforts to rationalise drug policy, Czech legislators revised the drug laws once again in 2010 when a new penal code entered into force. This time the reform included the introduction of threshold amounts defining what constitutes a 'greater than small' amount.<sup>121</sup> At the same time, the law imposed lower penalties for some cannabis offences and established the new offence of the 'cultivation of psychoactive plants', which could also attract civil penalties if the plants grown were of a small number ('small amount') and for personal use. Building on existing drugs policy, the new Czech policy thus distinguished between types of drugs for the first time, and created an incentive to self-supply rather than to enter the illegal market.<sup>122</sup>

The threshold quantities were published in a governmental decree which the new penal code pointed specifically to in defining the 'small amount' for personal use where civil, instead of criminal, proceedings would apply. For example, in relation to methamphetamine, known locally as 'pervitin' and one of the main drugs consumed in the country, the threshold amount was 2 grams. For herbal cannabis it was 15 grams and for hashish it was 5 grams.<sup>123</sup> The threshold limit for cultivating cannabis for personal use was 5 plants.<sup>124</sup>

However, a Supreme Court decision<sup>125</sup> in 2013 ruled that the government did not have the authority of Parliament to determine what constitutes a criminal offence in this case to set threshold amounts without accounting for specific circumstances surrounding the drug offence.<sup>126</sup> Thus, in practice the enforcement of 'small amount' possession for personal use went back to the previous situation, meaning that people caught in possession of drugs for their own use do not know if they will be subject to criminal or civil proceedings.<sup>127</sup> The Supreme Court did provide some new 'tentative threshold quantities', though, where it decreased the thresholds for personal use of methamphetamine from 2 grams to 1.5 grams, and herbal cannabis from 15 grams to 10 grams. However,

police and state attorneys are not bound by these new amounts when enforcing the law.

Possession offences (a 'small amount' for one's own use) incur potential fines of up to the equivalent of \$600 processed through municipal administrative procedures, but no criminal record is created for the individual.<sup>128</sup>

Despite the Czech Republic ranking at or near the top of European countries in terms of prevalence of cannabis use in all age groups,<sup>129</sup> decriminalisation legislation and investment in public health by implementing health and harm reduction services, has had widespread impacts on reducing harms suffered by people who use drugs.<sup>130</sup> HIV rates among injecting drug users remains below 1 per cent in the Czech Republic,<sup>131</sup> and these outcomes can be attributed to the Czech Republic's drug policy being shaped by a commitment to scientific evidence, rather than ideological agendas.

Between 2008, prior to implementation of the Czech Republic's new decriminalisation laws, and 2013, both the lifetime and recent prevalence of drug use fell, according to representative population surveys. Last month prevalence of cannabis use across all age groups dropped from 5.3 per cent to 2.1 per cent, a nearly 50 per cent drop in regular users. A similar reduction in cannabis use among 15-34 year olds has been reported with last year prevalence of use falling from 28.2 per cent to 21.6 per cent. Last year use of methamphetamine among 15-34 year olds is also down, from 3.2 per cent (2008) to 0.7 per cent (2013), with lifetime prevalence also falling from 7.8 per cent to 2 per cent between 2008 and 2013.<sup>132</sup> The National Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Addiction's 2013 report records that 'long-term trends suggest a decline in the level of current cannabis use among the general population, particularly as far as younger age groups are concerned', and that overall, 'the population of drug users is aging'.133,134 This once again supports the principle that the drug laws have very little impact on rates of use and, at the very least, decriminalisation of drug possession offences does not lead to an increased consumption of drugs.

#### ECUADOR

Ecuador's moves toward drug policy reform began in 2008 when the country was faced with severe overcrowding in its penitentiary system; in August of that year the prison population stood at somewhere between 167 per cent and 212 per cent its official capacity, with many there on drug charges.<sup>135</sup> In an effort to alleviate this, the Constitutional Assembly approved a government proposal to pardon people for drug trafficking offences if they had been convicted, served at least 10 per cent of their sentence (or over 1 year), if it was their first offence, and if the amount of narcotics involved was less than 2 kilograms.<sup>136</sup> At the end of that year, some 1,500 people were released from prison as a result.<sup>137</sup>

In the same year, Ecuador approved a new constitution, within which drug addiction is referred to as a 'public health problem,' and one that in no case should be criminalised.<sup>138</sup> However, it was not until 2013 that guidance was issued as to what constitutes possession for personal use, with the National Council for Control of Narcotic and Psychotropic Substances (CONSEP) issuing a decree setting the thresholds at 10 grams for cannabis, 1 gram for cocaine hydrochloride, or 0.1 grams of heroin, among others.<sup>139</sup> People caught with less than these amounts were exempt from criminal prosecution.

The following year, the Organic Comprehensive Criminal Code (COIP) was written into law, repealing the harsh sanctions for drug offences laid out under Law 108 (1990), and introducing proportionality for these crimes. For example, Law 108 previously held that drug offences, no matter their nature, could carry a 12-16 year sentence, whereas the 2014 COIP differentiates between different levels of trafficking offences - with separate penalties for each - and possession for personal use (which should incur no penalty).<sup>140</sup> Three months after the COIP's introduction, some 2,000 people were released from prison owing to retroactive application of the new criminal code.<sup>141</sup> However, some commentators noted that the thresholds for personal possession and those for small-scale trafficking overlap – the latter starting from 0 grams – meaning training for judges and police officers would be needed to protect against the unnecessary criminalisation of people who use drugs.<sup>142</sup>

Despite these progressive moves, CONSEP introduced new thresholds for small-scale trafficking in 2015 – e.g. 0-20 grams of cannabis under the new directive compared to 0-300 grams previously – following fears from the government that drug use was increasing after the COIP was passed. These fears, according to the head of the public defender's office, were unfounded, adding that the new thresholds were a regression back to the days where users could receive harsh prison sentences for simple possession.<sup>143</sup>

Indeed, while the thresholds still exist for personal possession, in light of the aforementioned overlap between these and small-scale trafficking thresholds, combined with an apparent government objective to crackdown on small-scale trafficking, there appears a real risk that Ecuador's decriminalisation law could become redundant.

# **ESTONIA**

In 2002, amendments made to the Act on Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances and Precursors Thereof ensured that possession of small quantities of all illicit drugs for personal use were no longer a criminal offence.144 The 'small quantity' standard is one determined by judicial precedent or expert opinion in court in a particular case, but is generally considered to be 10 times a single dose for an average drug user.<sup>145</sup> Police do still arrest individuals found with illicit drugs, and under the law, courts or 'extrajudicial bodies' may issue a sentence. This can include a fine of up to the equivalent of €1,200 (300 'fine units') or a sentence of administrative, non-prison detention for up to 30 days, and there is no variance in the penalty for repeat offenders.<sup>146</sup> According to colleagues in Estonia, from March 1, 2016, the value of the 'fine unit' is set to double meaning the maximum possible fine handed down could increase to €2,400.

As drug use is a misdemeanour, the penalty of a fine or detention can be replaced with participation in a 'social programme', something which is reportedly being utilised more in practice compared to administrative detention.

Past year use of cocaine or cannabis among people aged 15-34 is 1.3 per cent and 13.6 per cent respectively. The former sits just below the EU average by 0.6 per cent, the latter just above by 1.9 per cent based on the most recent data available.<sup>147</sup>

# GERMANY

German law has contained decriminalisation elements since the early 1990s. At a federal level, amendments to the *Narcotics Act* in 1992 gave prosecutors the discretion to decide not to prosecute an individual for cannabis possession if the prosecutor considers the offence to be 'minor' and determines there is 'no public interest' in criminal prosecution.<sup>148</sup> The determination of whether the offence is minor largely depends on whether an individual possesses a 'small amount' of prohibited substances. The definition of 'small amount' varies between länder (German states) for different substances.<sup>149,150</sup>

In 1994, the German Federal Constitutional Court ruled that criminal penalties for the possession or importation of small amounts of cannabis were unconstitutional,<sup>151</sup> though different länder have interpreted this ruling in different ways, with some interpreting it to extend to non-cannabis drugs as well. Since the ruling, the länder and even some municipalities have set their own threshold definitions of a 'small amount' of illicit drugs, below which individuals are not prosecuted for possession. With regard to cannabis, these limits vary from 6 grams to 15 grams,<sup>152</sup> while for cocaine the range is 1-3 grams. Some länder do not have threshold limits but instead look to judicial precedent to establish limits on these and a wide range of other drugs.<sup>153</sup>

While the law only grants prosecutors the authority to not prosecute an individual possessing a small amount of illicit drugs, in practice police in some länder often refrain from proactively arresting such individuals or reactively responding to complaints about such minor drug possession, particularly in cases involving cannabis or ecstasy.<sup>154</sup> In Germany, people who use drugs problematically who have received a custodial sentence of two years or less are eligible for diversion to treatment instead of imprisonment. Incarceration may be cancelled entirely if an individual demonstrates continued participation in a treatment programme for the duration specified by the administering authority. Failure to participate successfully can result in the execution of the original custodial sentence.<sup>155</sup> Reports indicate, however, that in practice many problematic users face coerced therapy followed by a custodial sentence.<sup>156</sup>

There has been some political discussion at the national level on harmonising the thresholds across all 16 German länder in recognition of people being treated differently in neighbouring länders for possession of small amounts of drugs. For example, in Berlin the threshold amount for cannabis is up to 15 grams, while in neighbouring Brandenburg the threshold quantity is 6 grams. However, to date no concrete legislative reforms have been put forward.<sup>157</sup>

Like many other Western European countries Germany has been experiencing a decrease in drug use, especially in relation to cannabis since the early 2000s. One study showed that last year prevalence among under 17s had fallen from 10.1 per cent in 2004 to 4.6 per cent in 2011.<sup>158</sup> Germany has lower rates of drug use, including problematic drug use, than many other European countries.<sup>159</sup>

# ITALY

Drug use and possession was first decriminalised in Italy in 1975, though Italian drug laws and policies have fluctuated considerably since between harsh and lenient penalties.<sup>160</sup> Amid these varying policies one conclusion can be drawn – no matter how liberal or punitive they have been, they have had little effect on the prevalence of drug use throughout Italy.

The first U-turn on the 1975 law came in 1990 when Italy instituted an administrative sanctions regime for possession offences involving a small quantity of drugs. A 'daily average dose' guide was produced to assist sentencing and established potential fines or three month custodial sentences for repeat or drug-dependent offenders. Yet, the introduction of harsher sanctions did not appear to affect the prevalence of drug use and in the early 1990s Italy's rate of problematic users became the highest in the EU.<sup>161</sup> Following a 1991 Constitutional Court decision and a 1993 referendum, the law eventually changed to eliminate custodial measures for people who use drugs or repeat offenders and eliminated the 'daily average dose' concept. This gave judges more flexibility in considering whether an individual possessed drugs for personal use or sale even if the quantity surpassed the maximum quantity threshold established by law.<sup>162</sup>

This 'judicial discretion' regime existed until 2006 when Italy's Parliament passed new drugs legislation known as the *Fini-Giovanardi*.<sup>163</sup> These laws had the impact of:

- reinstituting a stricter 'maximum quantity allowed' threshold for personal use possession offences (set at 500 milligrams of cannabis' psychoactive ingredient, 250 milligrams of heroin, 750 milligrams of ecstasy and 750 milligrams of cocaine);
- establishing tougher administrative sanctions for personal use offences, including curfews, mandatory reporting to police, and driving prohibitions for longer periods of time;
- eliminating the alternative sentence of therapy *in lieu* of administrative sanctions for personal use;
- extending the sentences that drug-dependent individuals must receive in order to be eligible for alternative therapeutic programmes in place of imprisonment, from four years to six years. This applies if the individual is already imprisoned and has six years or less remaining on their sentence.<sup>164</sup>

Following implementation of the 2006 law, the number of sanctions administered for personal use more than doubled, from 7,229 in 2006 to 16,154 in 2010,<sup>165</sup> while the proportion of individuals incarcerated for drug offences as part of the general prison population also increased from 28 per cent in 2006 to just under 31 per cent in 2013.<sup>166</sup> Additionally, the number of drug-dependent offenders in treatment significantly decreased, from 3,852 at the start of 2006 to 2,816 at the start of 2012.<sup>167</sup> It is possible that this reduction is linked to both the increased stigmatisation of those who use drugs as a result of criminalisation, and the devolution of services from the central administration to Italy's 20 regions. The latter has resulted in the provision of health services in many parts of the country not being fully implemented due to the transition.

In June 2011, Italy's highest court, the Court of Cassation, held that individuals could legally grow small amounts of cannabis on their home balconies or terraces.<sup>166</sup> Then, following challenges to the *Fini-Giovanardi's* legitimacy in 2013, the Constitutional Court ruled it unconstitutional in 2014 due to not having followed proper Parliamentary procedure in its passage.<sup>169</sup>

This striking down of the Fini-Giovanardi broadly reinstated the 1990 law, as amended by the 1993 referendum, and with it the distinction between 'hard' and 'soft' drugs - cannabis offences no longer carried the same sentences as those for heroin or cocaine, for example. Furthermore, the small amount for personal use set out in the 2006 law no longer exists, bringing back the regime of judicial discretion, and an April 2014 decree introduced by the Minister of Health which was signed into law later that spring reinstated some administrative sanctions. The penalty periods for these administrative sanctions were reduced, though (2 months to 1 year for 'hard drugs,' 1 to 3 months for 'soft' drugs) and community service was introduced as a possible penalty under Law 36/2014.170

Upon reversal of the *Fini-Giovanardi* law, it was projected that up to 10,000 people could be released from prison due to the significant reduction in penalties for cannabis offences,<sup>171</sup> and the number of drug-related arrests for minor offences has dropped dramatically, according to analysts.

Despite the punitive nature of the *Fini-Giovanardi* law, it appeared to have little impact on high drug use prevalence rates in Italy; in 2012 lifetime cannabis use among 15-64 year olds stood at 21.7 per cent, one of the higher rates in Europe.<sup>172</sup>

In March 2016, Italy's Constitutional Court is expected to rule on a case raised in Brescia's Court of Appeal concerning the right to cultivate cannabis for personal use.

#### JAMAICA

As early as 1977, Jamaica has contemplated decriminalising cannabis possession for personal use – a Joint Select Committee set up in that year concluded that there was a strong case for removing criminal sanctions for the possession of up to 2 ounces (56.7 grams) of cannabis, a recommendation that was reiterated in 2001 by the government-appointed National Commission on Ganja.<sup>173</sup>

In spite of these recommendations, it was not until February 2015 that Jamaica's Parliament finally passed the *Dangerous Drugs (Amendment) Act*, which came into force in April of the same year.<sup>174</sup> The amendments stipulate that anyone caught with 56.7 grams of cannabis or less will not receive a criminal record, though can be fined J\$500 (just under £3) which is payable within 30 days. Smoking cannabis in a public place incurs the same penalty and failure to pay any fine will result in a criminal record and a possible sentence of community service.<sup>175</sup>

Both those under the age of 18, along with adults appearing dependent on cannabis, will be referred to counselling for drug misuse if caught in possession. $^{176}$ 

Possession of cannabis for religious purposes in adherence with the Rastafarian faith, for medicinal purposes if prescribed by a doctor, or for scientific research in an approved institution, is exempt from any of the above mentioned penalties. Furthermore, private households may lawfully cultivate up to five cannabis plants.<sup>177</sup>

Additionally a Cannabis Licensing Authority has been created and is due to begin operating in April 2016.<sup>178</sup> Its mandate is to regulate the cultivation of cannabis for medical, therapeutic and scientific purposes through the issuance of licenses and growing permits. By doing this it hopes to bring lands used for cultivation from the illicit trade into a formalised and controlled framework.

The former justice minister, Senator Mark Golding, who was influential in seeing decriminalisation come into force, highlighted in October 2015 that as a result of the law change arrests for cannabis-related offences had decreased by approximately 1,000 per month. This not only helps relieve any stress on the criminal justice system – authorities predict that 15,000 fewer cases will go before the courts each year now – but also removes any potentially damaging contact with the criminal justice system for a high number of people, particularly youth.<sup>179</sup>

#### MEXICO

Mexico has gained considerable notoriety over the past decade for becoming the frontline of the so-called War on Drugs. Since a decision in 2006 by then-President Felipe Calderón to militarise the country's fight against drug trafficking homicides skyrocketed, with the annual rate of murders per 100,000 inhabitants almost tripling compared to pre-2006 levels. Of the more than 160,000 homicides committed from 2007-2014, 34-55 per cent of them are estimated to be related to organised crime.<sup>180</sup>

In 2009, amendments were made to the country's *General Health Law* in an effort to focus lawenforcement priorities on combating traffickers and small-scale drug dealing. These changes additionally decriminalised the possession of small amounts of illicit drugs, with the Attorney General instructed not to prosecute individuals found in possession of less than 5 grams of cannabis, 0.5 grams of cocaine, 50 milligrams of heroin, or one ecstasy tablet, among other minimum quantities.<sup>181</sup>

If caught with drugs under the threshold amount, individuals are supposed to receive only an encouragement to seek treatment; if caught three times with drugs under the threshold amount, treatment becomes mandatory.<sup>182</sup> If the arresting authorities, in consultation with medical officials, determine that an individual uses drugs problematically, they can refer that individual to treatment on the first offence. And, if individuals refuse or fail to participate successfully in treatment, they are subject to criminal prosecution, as are those found in possession of drugs above the legal thresholds.

The law's extremely low thresholds for possession offences leaves a large number of people vulnerable to prosecution for smallscale trafficking if caught with anything above these, despite them potentially having no intention beyond personal use. Indeed, people caught in possession of drugs under the thresholds have similarly been detained, possibly owing to a combination of poor knowledge of the law among those who are caught, and police corruption.

From 2011 to 2013, the number of people imprisoned in federal penitentiaries for drug crimes grew by 19 per cent compared to just a 7 per cent overall rise in federal prison population during the same period.<sup>183</sup> Furthermore, between 2009 and May 2013 140,860 people were arrested in Mexico for drug use, according to data from the Attorney General's Office, and cases of possession and use still represent the majority – 65 per cent – of drug-related cases at the federal level,<sup>184</sup> though the annual figure has been declining in recent years.

Despite the fall at the federal level, statistics provided by 17 of Mexico's 31 states plus the capital show the opposite at the local level; the number of open cases for drug-related crimes more than doubled from 2012 to 2014 from 9,518 to 22,234.<sup>185</sup>

Mexico has taken recent steps toward potentially liberalising its drug laws further. Following the submission of a case by the Mexican Society for Responsible and Tolerant Consumption (SMART) – a project of Mexico United Against Crime (MUCD) and the Strategic Centre of Social Impact (CEIS) – against the Federal Commission for the Protection Against Sanitary Risks (COFEPRIS), the Supreme Court in November 2015 granted an *amparo* (writ) to four members of SMART allowing them to cultivate cannabis for personal use.<sup>186</sup> In its ruling, the Court stated that outlawing cannabis for personal use violated the plaintiffs' right to 'free development of personality,' thus declaring the current model of cannabis prohibition unconstitutional.<sup>187</sup>

While the ruling only grants rights to the four plaintiffs, it is expected to open the door to further legal challenges to the country's cannabis laws.

#### THE NETHERLANDS

The Netherlands has long been regarded as a global pioneer in drug policy, often relating to the amendments it made to its drug laws in 1976 that created a legal division between 'hard' and 'soft' drugs.<sup>188</sup> The aim of this policy was to separate the cannabis market from other drug markets in order to limit young people's exposure to harder drugs.<sup>189</sup>

Technically, the 1976 legislation continued to criminalise drug possession and supply, but guidelines for prosecution introduced at the same time by the Ministry of Justice laid the foundation for the *de facto* decriminalisation framework<sup>190</sup> by determining that cannabis supply and possession should be of the lowest priority to law enforcement and prosecutors.<sup>191</sup> This system led to the subsequent creation of the Netherlands' famous 'coffee shops', which are legally permitted to sell cannabis in limited amounts.<sup>192</sup>

Under the aforementioned guidelines, prosecutors are currently instructed not to prosecute possession offences of up to 5 grams of cannabis for personal use (the amount was 30 grams before 1996).<sup>193</sup> In respect of 'hard' drugs police will dismiss the matter if a person is found in possession of less than 0.5 grams

and will confiscate the drug.<sup>194</sup> Individuals found with amounts at or below these thresholds should face no penalties – civil or criminal.

In 2012 the Dutch government initiated measures to reclassify cannabis containing more than 15 per cent of THC<sup>195</sup> as a 'hard drug' meaning that the police may arrest and prosecute anyone caught in possession of over 0.5 grams.<sup>196</sup> Considering that the percentage of an active ingredient will only be detectable through forensic analysis it will be interesting to see if and how this proposal moves forward, particularly as it has been opposed by every government office that would be involved in enforcing the limit, including the police, prosecution and forensic services. The current government still intends to implement the measure, but its future is increasingly uncertain, and research from the Trimbos Institute has argued convincingly that the potency threshold is arbitrary, stating that there is no evidence it would reduce health harms.<sup>197</sup>

Numerous studies have been undertaken to evaluate the effects of the Netherlands' cannabis policies on the prevalence of drug use. One study demonstrated that the removal of prohibitions on cannabis has not led to an explosion of drug use and that particular policies do not have much of an impact on rates of drug use.<sup>198</sup> Another concluded that there is no evidence that the decriminalisation component of the 1976 policy increased levels of cannabis use.<sup>199</sup> While reported prevalence of lifetime cannabis use in the Netherlands did increase significantly from 1984 to 1996, experts have pointed to the expansion of the commercial promotion of cannabis use by coffee shops as a cause of the increase, not the decriminalisation policy enacted years before.<sup>200</sup>

With regard to other drugs, policies in the Netherlands have resulted in a smaller proportion of 'hard-drug' users there than in most of the rest of Western Europe and the United States.<sup>201</sup> Between 1979 and 1994, the prevalence of 'hard-drug' use in the Netherlands decreased from 15 per cent to 2.5 per cent, indicating no compelling correlation between decriminalisation and increased prevalence of drug use.<sup>202</sup> Recent evaluations of Dutch drug policies show low numbers of deaths from heroin and methadone use compared to the rest of the globe and one of the lowest rates of injecting drug use in Europe.<sup>203</sup> Furthermore, a 1995 Government report confirmed that the tolerated cannabis market had been effective in its aim to separate the drug markets and that this was evidenced by the low numbers of young people transitioning into problematic use compared to the rest of Europe.<sup>204</sup>

Despite the decades of *de facto* decriminalisation in the Netherlands, according to the EMCDDA the prevalence of cannabis use is only slightly above the EU average and on a par with countries like the United Kingdom. Importantly, the harms created by problematic use have been avoided – in addition to the aforementioned low rate of injecting drug use, the Netherlands continues to have low rates of drug-related deaths.<sup>205</sup> Moreover, the Netherlands' progressive drugs policies have limited the numbers of people arrested for possession of small amounts of cannabis,<sup>206</sup> prevented the growth of 'no-go' zones dominated by drug markets, and combatted the overpolicing of minority communities.<sup>207</sup>

Nevertheless, even in the Netherlands, which is often seen as the most liberal country where cannabis is concerned, the number of offences related to cannabis possession remains significant. In 2012, there were 4,594 recorded offences under the Opium Act, 71 per cent of which concerned possession of 5 grams of cannabis or less - the threshold quantity for cannabis to be purchased in coffee shops. That amounts to nine offences per day. However, the risk of being caught in the Netherlands is relatively low, since detection of possession is generally the result of non-targeted detection rather than targeted control.<sup>208</sup> Many of these offences are related to border control policing, involving the trafficking of small amounts of cannabis bought by people in coffee shops to take across the border.

While it appears there is no intention to change the rules around decriminalisation of drug possession in the Netherlands, the political climate has resulted in changes to the coffee shop model. In recent years, the previous Conservative government restricted access by introducing a 'weed pass' system that allowed only legal residents of the Netherlands to buy cannabis and turned coffee shops into closed clubs with a maximum of 2,000 resident members. The new system went into effect in southern cities in May 2012,<sup>209</sup> but was largely rejected by northern cities.

This disparity in drug policies between the north and the south of the Netherlands had interesting effects on local drug markets. While the 'weed pass' aimed to reduce public disorder associated with foreign tourists buying cannabis, the policy only shifted the type of disorder by encouraging the growth of street suppliers on drug-supply scooters. Citizens reported experiencing aggression from these black market drug runners, which also involved minors. The policy facilitated the emergence of a larger illegal drug market in the south, while the north maintained legislative control over drug distribution. Southern coffee shop owners protested that the 'weed pass' not only encouraged illegal dealing but also damaged the local economy.  $^{\rm 210}$ 

Eventually, the nationwide introduction of the 'weed pass' failed due to political opposition, but the residence criterion (tourist ban) remains. The Justice Minister still insists on maintaining the residence criterion, although a provisional opt-out was included in the measure for municipalities to decide whether they would enforce the rule. A survey found that 85 per cent of the municipalities did not enforce the residence criterion,<sup>211</sup> and those that did are mainly located in the south.<sup>212</sup>

The current debate in the Netherlands is about whether or not to regulate cultivation and supply of cannabis to coffee shops. The problems with the current model are rooted in the paradox that at the front-door, the sale and possession of small quantities are not prosecuted, while at the back-door supply (cultivation and trade) is still fully criminalised.

In November 2015, the Dutch platform of municipalities called on the government to allow regulated cannabis production by introducing licences for growers to take cannabis out of the hands of organised crime. They concluded that 'the toleration policy is no longer suitable in the current circumstances. The toleration policy was successful for some time but is now an obstacle to effectively tackling the problems. The changing circumstances, in particular the fact that organised crime has a firm hold of the production and trade of cannabis, makes a toleration policy untenable.'213 Furthermore, they said that '[t]he discussion on cannabis policy has reached an impasse, between proponents and opponents of regulation. We cannot allow the various levels of administration to become bogged down in discussions, while organised crime profits and public health remains insufficiently protected.'214

A survey in June 2015 showed support for regulated cannabis production reaching 70 per cent among the Dutch population, with strong majority support across voters for all main parties.<sup>215</sup> Judges are also increasingly showing discomfort with current policies in their sentencing – for example, a case involving two cannabis growers who cultivated overtly, reported their income to the tax authorities and paid their electricity bills saw the court find them guilty but no punishment was applied.<sup>216</sup> The court ultimately criticised the policy that criminalises cannabis production while allowing its sale. This case has been referred to the Supreme Court for a final ruling that is expected in the fall of 2016. The ruling is potentially

ground breaking as it might open up the legal supply of cannabis to the coffee shops.

#### PARAGUAY

Paraguay permits the possession of illicit drugs for personal consumption under *Law 1340* passed in 1988 which states that an individual found with less than 10 grams of cannabis, or 2 grams of cocaine or heroin will generally not be punished criminally or administratively. However, in order to qualify for this exemption people must be registered as a person who uses drugs, something which occurs upon first being caught in possession of drugs. Furthermore, if a court determines that an individual is drug dependent then a judge is authorised, following an assessment by medical authorities, to mandate custodial drug treatment for a period of his or her determination.<sup>217</sup>

The country has not collected statistics on drug use among the general population since 2003, though according to estimates collated in the 2011 World Drug Report by the United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime, Paraguay had the third lowest annual prevalence of cannabis use in South America and tied for lowest annual prevalence of cocaine use among 15-64 year olds in the region.<sup>218</sup>

In 2013, of those imprisoned while awaiting trial, nearly 18 per cent of the female prison population and 6.4 per cent of the male were there for drug possession offences.<sup>219</sup> This points to problems with *Law 1340* – while thresholds may be in place, they remain low and the administrative steps needed to be taken in order to qualify as exempt from prosecution could be prohibitive for a number of people, particularly the economically disadvantaged.

### PERU

Peru's 1991 *Criminal Code* removed criminal sanctions for drug possession for personal use, with the judge having to determine if they were intended solely for a person's own consumption. Modifications to the country's *Criminal Code* in 2003, though, established thresholds, meaning individuals found with up to 5 grams of cocaine paste, 2 grams of cocaine hydrochloride, 1 gram of opium latex or 200 milligrams of its derivatives, or 8 grams of cannabis are not punishable under Peruvian law provided the drugs are for immediate personal use.<sup>220</sup> Furthermore, traditional consumption of the coca leaf has never been criminalised in Peru, a country which is historically a major source of coca.<sup>221</sup>

Despite this statutory decriminalisation, research reveals a disconnection between policy and the reality

of policing practice, with officers regularly holding individuals in custody who are found in possession of drugs until determination of a non-trafficking status can be made. This often results in long periods of detention without charge<sup>222</sup> and reveals not only that criminal justice structures and operations within a state may have a significant impact on the successful implementation of decriminalisation, but also leaves room for police corruption and abuse of people who use drugs. From 2010-2012, the number of people arrested for drug use/possession in Peru rose from 42.6 per cent to 59.3 per cent of the total number of police arrests for drug crimes.<sup>223</sup>

Low-level drug crimes are also a driver of high incarceration rates in Peru – the number of people imprisoned for these offences grew 46 per cent from 2008-2013, meaning drug crimes constituted 24 per cent of the total prison population.<sup>224</sup> In 2010, one third of these people – approximately 4,000 – had not been formally charged or convicted of any crime.<sup>225</sup>

According to Peru's National Commission for Development and Life Without Drugs (DEVIDA), lifetime prevalence of cannabis or cocaine (hydrochloride and base) use among 12-64 year olds stood at 5.8 per cent and 3.9 per cent respectively in 2002.<sup>226</sup> In 2010, these percentages were 3.8 per cent and 3.2 per cent respectively, with the age range being 12-65 years,<sup>227</sup> suggesting the change in law had no impact on prevalence rates, and certainly did not lead to an increase in use levels.

### POLAND

Poland took its first steps towards decriminalisation in May 2011 when President Bronisław Komorowski signed an amendment to the country's drug laws – Article 62a of these laws provides prosecutors with the discretion not to prosecute drug possession offences when the offender possesses a 'small quantity' for personal use.<sup>228</sup> The change to the law also places an obligation on prosecutors and judges to collect information on a person's drug use to determine if their use is problematic or if they are dependent. In such cases proceedings can be suspended in favour of a referral to treatment, or referral to prevention or education programmes. After completion of treatment or the relevant programmes judges can decide to conditionally discontinue the case.<sup>229</sup>

The law, which formally took effect at the end of 2011, does not set out thresholds for determining what constitutes a 'small quantity'.<sup>230</sup> The failure to set out threshold amounts has arguably impacted on the efficacy of this legal reform, with prosecutions for

possession of drugs remaining persistently high. In the first six months of 2012, a total of 14,858 people were convicted for drug possession, and only 2,595 of these cases were discontinued. In the first six months of 2011, when the law had not taken effect, 16,035 people were convicted of the offence of possession, while only 930 people had their proceedings discontinued.<sup>231</sup> By 2013 possession offences still accounted for 77.8 per cent of all drug-related preliminary proceedings instituted under Polish law,<sup>232</sup> demonstrating that the law has had a negligible effect and has not achieved the goal of diverting people away from the criminal justice system.

The problem with the system, specifically the lack of threshold amounts to determine a 'small quantity', was identified by the Polish Drug Policy Network. In 2013 they developed a draft amendment which would have introduced a reference table with specified amounts. The amendment was brought before Parliament but was voted down by the Legislative Committee in February 2014.<sup>233</sup>

The inconsistent application of the law was highlighted by Michael Kabacinski MP when the amendment was being debated. He said:

"In practice, there are cases where 0.5 grams, a very small amount, is often regarded as significant and the user will be punished. But there are also cases when a person has more than 2 grams, which is definitely more than 0.5 grams, and his/her case becomes the subject of Article 62a of the Drug Act allowing discontinuance of criminal proceedings. It is a kind of inconsistency. In our opinion, there is an element of unconstitutionality, as there is no equality before the law. One person is considered to be the holder of an illegal substance and criminal proceedings are initiated, while the proceedings in the case of the other are dismissed."<sup>234</sup>

This inequitable approach in the application of the law will continue to lead to high numbers of arrests for possession offences, a number that is estimated to be 30,000, mostly young, people annually.<sup>235</sup>

#### PORTUGAL

When Portugal decriminalised drug use and possession in 2001, newspapers and governments across the globe labelled it a bold step forward for evidence-based drug policies, a dangerous retreat in the 'War on Drugs', and everything in between. As shown in this report, Portugal was not the first country to decriminalise illicit drugs, but it did so in response to a perceived national drug problem. Together with its decriminalisation legislation, lawmakers also re-focused Portugal's drug policies on a public health model with significant financial investment from the state. The country passed new harm-reduction measures in 2001 to better coordinate and bolster drop-in centres, shelters, mobile health units, low threshold opioid substitution programmes, syringe-exchange schemes, and other initiatives for dependent drug users, including the provision of outreach workers.<sup>236</sup>

There remains much to be learned about the effects of Portugal's 2001 policy change on drug use and harms, but the evidence appears clear that decriminalisation has not been the disaster that critics forecast. Rather, the decriminalisation model and the associated public health policies were followed by dramatic reductions in drugrelated harms and Portugal has experienced a perceived decline in drug use among some of the most vulnerable populations, including problematic users.

Under the decriminalisation law, if the police find an individual in possession of up to 10 days' worth of an average daily dose of drugs for personal use,<sup>237</sup> an officer issues that individual a citation referring them to a meeting with a 'dissuasion commission' (CDT) - a three-person panel made up of medical experts, social workers and legal professionals.<sup>238</sup> Designed to be non-adversarial, the panels do not meet in courtrooms and focus on a health-centred approach to gauge an individual's treatment needs, if appropriate. The panels have a wide range of sanctions at their disposal to respond to each individual's offence these include facilitating treatment for those who are drug-dependent, requiring regular reporting to the panel, mandating community service, suspending a driver's licence or other licences, or, as a last resort, issuing fines. For non-dependent, first-time offenders, the panels will almost always suspend the proceedings and impose no sanction.239 If an individual is found with more than up to 10 days' worth of personal supply, he or she is referred to a criminal court where criminal charges for trafficking or criminal consumption are possible.<sup>240</sup>

Between 2002 and 2013, CDTs have facilitated approximately 6,000<sup>241</sup> to 8,000<sup>242</sup> administrative processes annually against individuals in possession of illicit drugs. Most of these cases have resulted in suspensions of proceedings for non-dependent users. In 2013, CDTs provisionally suspended 83 per cent of cases, issued punitive sanctions in 12 per cent (two thirds of this group did not receive a pecuniary disposal) and the remaining 5 per cent were found innocent.<sup>243</sup> Approximately 82 per cent of cases involved cannabis alone, 6 per cent involved heroin, 6 per cent involved cocaine and the remaining cases involved multiple drugs.<sup>244</sup>

Reports on the impact of the Portuguese model have ranged from a 'resounding success'<sup>245</sup> to 'disastrous failure'.<sup>246</sup> Some decriminalisation proponents have claimed that Portugal's decriminalisation policy has led to a significant decrease in drug use and critics have claimed a significant increase; the truth lies somewhere in the middle. A study of the evidence and the competing positions was published in a 2012 article that identified the tensions in terms of the quality of available data in Portugal and the narrow reporting, or 'cherry picking', by some analysts of the Portuguese experience.<sup>247</sup>

The impact of decriminalisation on any of the trends is debatable, not least because of the significant investment in harm reduction, treatment and prevention that has been made since 2001, but analysis appears to suggest Portugal experienced a small increase in lifetime drug use among adults following decriminalisation, on a par with its regional neighbours.<sup>248</sup> Yet, Portugal's level of drug use still remains generally below the European average.<sup>249</sup> A national survey indicated a decrease in lifetime prevalence rates among 15 to 64 year olds between 2007 and 2012, with prevalence falling from 12 per cent to 9 per cent. There were also reported reductions in recent use (3.7 per cent to 2.7 per cent) and a reduction in continuity rates<sup>250</sup> of use (31 per cent to 28 per cent) during the same period.<sup>251</sup>

Studies have also suggested that there has been a steady decline in the number of problematic drug users.<sup>252</sup> The estimated numbers of injecting drug users in Portugal also decreased by over 40 per cent during that period.<sup>253</sup>

The 2011 European School Survey Project on Alcohol and other Drugs (ESPAD) report shows there have been recent increases in illicit drug use among school students in Portugal, with critics arguing it is a direct result of decriminalisation<sup>254</sup>. However, it is important to contextualise these increases within similar Europe-wide drug use trends among young people. For example, last month use of cannabis among Portuguese students' rose from 4 per cent in 1995 to 7 per cent in 2003 before falling slightly to 6 per cent in 2007, a pattern reflected in the rates for the European average with an increase from 5 per cent in 2007.<sup>255</sup> Until 2007, six years after the introduction of drug decriminalisation, drug taking among young people in Portugal followed the same statistical trends as most of Europe.

Between 2007 and 2011 while the European average stabilised for last month use of cannabis, remaining at 7 per cent, in Portugal prevalence rose from 6 per cent in 2007 to 9 per cent in 2011. During the same period lifetime prevalence of other drugs rose from 6 per cent to 8 per cent in the same period.<sup>256</sup>

However, there are also some noteworthy points in relation to younger students with drug use prevalence in 2011 lower among 13 to 15 year olds than in 2001.<sup>257</sup> The usual age of initiation of drug use has also increased slightly across a number of drugs including heroin and cocaine, where the median age of initiation rose from 18 years old in 2001 to 20 years old in 2012.<sup>258</sup>

And while lifetime prevalence of use of any drug among young people has increased to 19 per cent in 2011 from 14 per cent in 2007, this is dwarfed by comparison with the United Kingdom's experience where 29 per cent of students have taken an illicit drug. This is despite the UK deploying a criminal justice response.

No major legal changes were made to drug laws or their implementation between 2007 and 2011 making it difficult to link this increase to a particular regime of drug policy enforcement. One potential explanation for Portuguese students' increased drug use could be the social impact of the global economic crisis which hit Portugal particularly hard, leading to unemployment rising from 8 per cent in 2007 to 14.2 per cent in 2014.<sup>259</sup> The United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime's own research has found that a 'lack of household stability triggered by low and irregular income and unemployment may increase the stress on the family and its vulnerability to drug abuse'.<sup>260</sup>

Some of the most significant changes in Portugal have taken place in the public health arena – since decriminalisation, Portugal has experienced tremendous increases in the number of drugdependent individuals accessing treatment<sup>261</sup> and has seen significant reductions in the transmission of HIV and tuberculosis.<sup>262</sup> The number of drug users newly diagnosed with HIV decreased from 907 new cases in 2000<sup>263</sup> to 78 in 2013.<sup>264</sup> Similarly the number of AIDS diagnoses decreased from 506<sup>265</sup> to 74<sup>266</sup> new cases over the same period. Experts on the ground attribute this to the significant expansion of harmreduction services in conjunction with Portugal's decriminalisation policy.<sup>267</sup> There have been conflicting reports on the level of drug-related deaths since the introduction of decriminalisation in 2001, with some commentators stating that there has been an increase and others claiming a decrease. This is largely as a result of the different methods of post-mortem reporting resulting in weaknesses in the data. The European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction records the number of annual drug overdose deaths falling from 318 in 2000<sup>268</sup> to 22 in 2013.<sup>269</sup> In 2013 Portugal had a drug death rate of 2.1 cases per million population,<sup>270</sup> significantly lower than the EU average of 16 per million.<sup>271</sup> The drop in the rate of deaths attributable to drug use is clearly a great success, although it is important to note Portugal's investment in harm reduction and treatment services will have had a significant effect.

The impact the reforms have had on the criminal justice system are also of note. Unsurprisingly decriminalisation in Portugal reduced the number of criminal drug offences from approximately 14,000 per year in 2000 to an average of 5,000 to 5,500 per year after decriminalisation.<sup>272</sup>

This has led to a significant reduction in the proportion of individuals with drug-related offences in Portuguese prisons - in 1999, 44 per cent of prisoners<sup>273</sup> were incarcerated for drug-related offences and by 2013, that figure had reduced to 24 per cent,<sup>274</sup> resulting in a major reduction in prison overcrowding in Portuguese penitentiaries.<sup>275</sup> Since decriminalisation, Portuguese law-enforcement statistics have also revealed an increase in operational capacity, resulting in more domestic drug trafficking seizures and an increase in international anti-trafficking collaborations that have provided for greater targeting of drug traffickers by sea.<sup>276</sup> At a local level police officers who were initially resistant of the law reform now view decriminalisation as a positive change. Initially officers were worried that they would lose the ability to elicit information from those arrested for possession about other players in the trade, though this has not been the case with people more likely to cooperate with the police due to less fear of prosecution. Some police officers have even reported improved community relations as a result of the reforms.<sup>277</sup>

In terms of social costs research has found that the implementation of decriminalisation and the investment in public health responses has had a significant effect. In the first five years of decriminalisation there was a reduction of 12 per cent in the social cost of drugs attributable to indirect health costs. This was largely driven by the reduction in drug-related deaths. **Over the 10 year period**  of implementation there was an even greater reduction of 18 per cent in social costs as a result of both indirect health costs and costs associated with the legal system, the latter being directly attributable to decriminalisation. The costs saved to the legal system related to direct costs saved due to the reduced number of criminal proceedings and the indirect costs saved due to an avoidance of lost income and lost production as a result of people not being sent to prison for possession of drugs.<sup>278</sup>

#### THE RUSSIAN FEDERATION

Russia has one of the most punitive environments in the world for people who use drugs.<sup>279</sup> The government has banned methadone maintenance treatment<sup>280</sup> and the provision of needle and syringe programmes is difficult unless it can be shown that the purpose of distribution is to prevent HIV transmission.<sup>281</sup> This invariably leaves the country's four million drug users without basic HIV prevention services, and they are also often excluded from HIV treatment.<sup>282</sup>

Human rights abuses against those who use drugs have been well documented, with methods of addiction 'treatment' including beatings, starvation, long-term handcuffing to bed frames, electric shock and burying patients in the ground.<sup>283</sup> Police brutality and intimidation against those who use drugs has also been well recorded, with the United Nations highlighting its concerns about such practices.<sup>284</sup>

These policies combined have contributed to an HIV epidemic that continues to spread; an estimated one in 100 Russian adults are infected with the disease.<sup>285</sup> Between 2010 and 2015 the official number of Russians with HIV surged from 500,000 to 930,000, of whom approximately 60 per cent are injecting drug users.<sup>286</sup> Vadim Pokrovsky, head of the country's state AIDS centre, has estimated that an additional two million people are likely to be infected in the next five years.<sup>287</sup>

The inclusion of Russia in this report is because it has a decriminalisation policy in place but it is essentially a hollow approach, unworkable in practice, with thresholds so low that the impact is negligible. It is not to be considered an example of a drug policy that reduces harms and respects human rights. Indeed, it is fair to say that Russia's current approach to drug use is an unmitigated public health and human rights disaster. However, the history of how the threshold amounts were revised between 2004 and 2006 do demonstrate how important a component they can be in terms of their impact on rates of imprisonment. In the early 2000s Russia moved towards decriminalisation for the possession of small quantities of drugs. *Article 228* of Russia's *Criminal Code* provides that possession of a 'large amount' of illegal drugs is punishable by criminal sanctions. Those caught in possession of less than a 'large amount', however, potentially face only administrative sanctions. Since 2004 the threshold that determines a 'large' quantity of drugs has oscillated from a very low limit to slightly higher limits and then back to a very low level. This has made decriminalisation in Russia an inconsistent and effectively unrealised policy, in that it does not divert people who use drugs away from the criminal justice system.<sup>288</sup>

Prior to 2004, Russian law did not define the threshold that constituted a criminal amount or 'large amount' of drugs. However, courts and prosecutors relied on a summary table drawn up by Eduard Babaian, a former member of the International Narcotics Control Board and the founding father of Russia's practice of narcology. This table defined 0.1 grams of cannabis and 0.005 grams of heroin as exceptionally large amounts.<sup>289</sup> This meant that the application of administrative as opposed to criminal punishment was practically unavailable.

In 2004, *RF Government Decree No. 231* was introduced and increased the threshold amounts for what constituted a 'large quantity' to 20 grams for cannabis, 1 gram for heroin and 1.5 grams for cocaine.<sup>290</sup> Those caught with less than these amounts should, in theory, have been subjected to administrative sanctions, and the increased thresholds resulted in the release or sentence reduction of 40,000 people who were previously convicted. In 2004–2005, an estimated 60,000 people avoided criminal prosecution as a result of the change.<sup>291</sup>

Yet, following political pressures on the Russian Government after the 2004 law revision, the law was changed again in 2006 to decrease the thresholds. The new 'large amount' thresholds – 6 grams of cannabis, 0.5 grams of heroin and 0.5 grams of cocaine<sup>292</sup> – are still higher than the pre-2004 thresholds but have

significantly increased the number of individuals convicted under the drug possession laws.<sup>293</sup>

If found in possession of an amount below the 'large amount' threshold, individuals face fines of up to 5,000 Roubles (approximately \$65) or 15 days of administrative detention.<sup>294</sup> It is worth noting that according to the European Court of Human Rights, any detention, including administrative detention, of an individual by the state for such acts is equal to criminal liability.<sup>295</sup>

It is also worth noting that those who are caught in possession of drugs above the 'large amount' threshold face up to three years in prison, and those caught in possession of an 'exceptionally large amount' can be imprisoned for anywhere between three and 10 years. For heroin an 'exceptionally large amount' is 2.5 grams.<sup>296</sup>,<sup>297</sup> It is estimated that more than 90,000 people are prosecuted annually for drug use and that over 50 per cent receive custodial sentences.<sup>298</sup>

# SPAIN (by Amber Marks<sup>\*</sup>)

Possession of drugs for personal use has never been a criminal offence in Spain. The only attempt by the legislature to criminalise drug possession for personal use was in 1971 which failed on account of the Supreme Court's interpretation of the new generic drug offence (now Article 368 of the Criminal Code). The Court excluded possession for personal use from the ambit of the new offence, and justified its decision with reference to the grammatical dictates of the offence - its specified objective which is restricted to the protection of public health and does not extend to protecting an individual's health, and what the court perceived to be the societal acceptance of a drug consumer as an infirm person in possession of a drug for the sole purpose of satisfying their own vice who ought not, therefore, be punished by the criminal law, but instead rehabilitated.<sup>299</sup> The Supreme Court's interpretation was confirmed and adopted in a legislative revision to the Criminal Code in 1983.<sup>300</sup>

<sup>\*</sup>Amber Marks is a lecturer in law at Queen Mary, University of London, Deputy Director of its Criminal Justice Centre and a visiting fellow at the University of Barcelona. She is a trustee of Release and co-chair of the Metropolitan Police Service Taser Reference Group. Her principal area of research is the intersection between science, criminal justice and human rights, a topic on which she has published a book and several academic articles. Amber regularly provides expert legal analysis for governmental and non-governmental organisations and recently completed a briefing note on cannabis social clubs for the All Party Parliamentary Group on Drug Policy Reform in the United Kingdom. She has worked as a barrister in both private practice and in the UK's Government Legal Service and has taught a wide range of English law courses at Kings College London, the London School of Economics and Anglia Ruskin University. She has presented at international and national conferences and is regularly invited to comment in the media.

Although there are no statutorily prescribed limits, the case-law of the Supreme Court makes frequent reference to a report authored by the *Instituto Nacional de Toxicología* (2001) suggesting that the average personal dosage is an amount equivalent to that which would last five days – thus, 100 grams of cannabis, 25 grams of cannabis resin, 2.4 grams of ecstasy, 3 grams of heroin, or 7.5 grams of cocaine. If a person is found to possess amounts above these then they are likely to be treated as suspected drug suppliers but if it is within this range and the person is in a public place then they are likely to face an administrative penalty issued by the police.<sup>301</sup>

The cultivation of cannabis for personal use is not a criminal offence in Spain. The Supreme Court recently reaffirmed that cultivation of cannabis for personal use is outside the ambit of *Article 368* of the *Criminal Code* whenever and wherever the cultivation does not promote, encourage or facilitate consumption by third parties.<sup>302</sup>

During the 1990s the Supreme Court expanded the scope of the personal use exemption from criminal liability to include collective acquisition for shared consumption among drug users, deploying similar reasoning to that used for excluding personal possession from the ambit of the criminal law. The objective of the generic criminal offence is the protection of public health; where drugs are supplied among a close group of friends and established drug users but are not distributed to third parties, public health is not endangered and no criminal offence is committed.<sup>303</sup> This doctrine of Spain's Supreme Court is variously referred to as that of shared consumption, collective purchase and closed circle use.

The cannabis club movement that emerged in Spain over recent years has sought to comply with the Supreme Court doctrine of closed circle use and to operate within the confines of a prohibition model. Over the course of the last two decades a combination of grassroots activism, self-regulation, municipal authorisations and court decisions has effectively achieved a situation in which the non-commercial cultivation and non-commercial supply of cannabis is a widespread socially entrenched activity and not a criminal offence in Spain. This has been achieved in a piecemeal fashion with the impetus coming from civil society and has hitherto progressed in the absence of any legislation. It is widely referred to as the Spanish Cannabis Social Club Model.

Cannabis associations are democratically-structured and not-for-profit private-member associations of adult cannabis consumers, the social club premises of which provide a space for the acquisition and consumption of cannabis sourced by the association board members for the use of members.<sup>304</sup> The first cannabis association was formed in 1991 and the first club appears to have opened in 2001. There was a dramatic proliferation of cannabis associations and clubs between 2007 and 2011.<sup>305</sup> Official records suggest that there are now at least 500 cannabis associations operating in Spain, each with hundreds, if not thousands of members. The majority are in Catalonia, followed by the Basque country, but they are in existence throughout the country, including in the autonomous communities of Madrid, Valencia, the Canaries, Andalusia, the Balearics, Navarra, Castile and León, and Galicia.<sup>306</sup>

The overwhelming majority of prosecutions in regional courts of persons operating cannabis clubs has resulted in acquittals or in a stay of proceedings occasioned by judicial findings that the conduct proven is not in breach of the criminal law of Spain. Such rulings are not infrequently accompanied by judicial statements about the inequity of the prosecutions and the urgent need for regulation to ensure law enforcement and prosecutions target only criminal supply, and not cannabis clubs which are not acting in breach of the criminal law.  $^{\rm 307}$  In 2014 the Parliament, Government and municipal authorities of Catalonia acknowledged the cannabis social club model as one that minimises harm and promises advances in public health.<sup>308</sup>

Data regarding the effect of cannabis social clubs on cannabis use is limited. However, in Catalonia, the region with the highest concentration of cannabis clubs, consumption has fallen slightly among both regular and irregular users.<sup>309</sup> For example, reported rates of last year cannabis use among 15 to 64 year olds was at 14.1 per cent in 2007, 12.4 per cent in 2009, and 11.3 per cent in 2011, and similar trends have been reported across last month use and daily consumption.<sup>310</sup> This could be attributed to the impact of the clubs, but primarily it demonstrates that social and legal tolerance of cannabis use does not entail any significant statistical increase in drug use. Researchers have estimated that the state could benefit by approximately  $\notin$ 411 million per year in direct tax revenue from the employment and sales tax generated by cannabis social clubs, as well as savings of €250 million per year in unemployment benefit.<sup>311</sup> These figures do not include the additional savings in law enforcement and judicial costs. On account of the legal uncertainty in which cannabis associations operate, crop theft remains difficult to report to the police.<sup>312</sup>

The future of the cannabis club model in Spain is uncertain, however, after the Anti-Drugs Prosecutor of the Partido Popular disagreed with the jurisprudence of the lower courts on the lawfulness of the cannabis club model and announced an offensive against the clubs. In 2015 the prosecution successfully appealed three acquittals by regional courts to the national Supreme Court. Although the Supreme Court stated it was possible for a cannabis club to operate outside the scope of the criminal law, it was unwilling to specify in what circumstances on account of this being the job of legislation and not of jurisprudence. Instead, it stated that the outcome of each case would depend upon its particular facts. The defendants were convicted in all three cases under its consideration and the Supreme Court decisions are now being appealed for being in breach of fundamental rights.<sup>313</sup>

The regional regulation approved by the parliament of Navarra (which was instigated by a popular legislative initiative) has been challenged by the central government (*Partido Popular*) and suspended until a decision is reached by the Constitutional Court. The Basque government has approved the *Ley Vasca de Adicciones* and this includes a regulatory framework for cannabis clubs and is expected to come into force in 2016.

A popular citizens' legislative initiative, *La Rosa Verda*, seeks to provide a statutory framework of regulation for cannabis clubs in Catalonia and is likely (on account of having recently submitted the requisite 50,000 signatures) to be debated in the Parliament of Catalonia in 2016. It is publicly supported by all political parties with the exception of the *Partido Popular* which has only a very small number of seats in the Catalan legislature. Unlike the case in Navarra, the parliamentary legal service of Catalonia advised Parliament that it does have the legislative competence to approve the proposal as drafted. If approved it should provide the cannabis clubs with a significant measure of legal security.

Administrative penalties were introduced for possession of drugs in public in 1992.<sup>314</sup> Administrative penalties can include a fine (up to a maximum of €30,000), suspension of driver's licence or firearms licence, or other minor penalties. In a country with a long tradition of cannabis consumption, the law was seen as an unacceptable infringement by cannabis consumers on personal freedom and was catalyst of the birth of Spain's cannabis activism, including the cannabis club movement.<sup>315</sup> According to data collected by the EMCDDA, more persons are subjected to administrative penalties for drug possession in Spain than in any other country in Europe (397,713 in 2013).<sup>316</sup> Administrative penalties were first introduced for the cultivation of cannabis in 2015 in the revised version of the 1992 law; the sanctions are only applicable where the plant is visible to the public.<sup>317</sup>

# SWITZERLAND

Until the 1990s Swiss authorities took a tough criminal justice response to drug use, with possession of all drugs criminalised, drug users heavily policed and a lack of harm reduction services including a ban on needle and syringe programmes.<sup>318</sup> In some parts of the country visible injecting scenes developed and in Zurich this led police and public health officials to establish a tolerated drugs scene at Platzspitz Park – commonly referred to as 'needle park' – but local opposition led to the experiment ending.<sup>319</sup> At the same time a growing HIV crisis, strongly linked to a proliferation of injecting drug use, was occurring with Switzerland having the highest rates of HIV incidence in Europe.<sup>320</sup>

The HIV crisis was the catalyst for reform of Swiss drug policy.<sup>321</sup> Rather than taking a hard line policeled approach to control the harms of heroin injecting, Swiss drug policy was instead driven by public health concerns and saw the implementation of lowthreshold methadone programs, needle exchanges and safe injection rooms, the first of which opened in 1986.<sup>322</sup> Since 1994, this approach to drug policy has been articulated by the 'four pillars' - prevention, treatment, harm reduction, and law enforcement and control.<sup>323</sup> The federal government also gave the green light for heroin assisted treatment (HAT), the prescribing of diamorphine as a substitute for street heroin. The impact of the new approach yielded significant positive results with deaths from AIDs among people who use drugs falling dramatically by the late  $1990s.^{324}$  With more people engaged in services the visible drugs scene also dissipated and the new approach seemed popular with the general public. Even today HAT remains popular among the general public with 68 per cent voting to retain the policy in a 2008 referendum.<sup>325</sup>

In addition to the widespread propagation of harm reduction services in the 1990s, a political debate on how to address the possession of cannabis emerged. In 2008 the referendum that was put to the public on HAT also included an initiative that would have decriminalised the possession of cannabis and the cultivation of the plant for personal use.<sup>326</sup> While the majority of the public overwhelmingly supported the change in federal law concerning the HAT program, 63 per cent rejected the proposals relating

to cannabis.<sup>327</sup> Commentators have suggested that this was a result of the public conflating legalisation and decriminalisation.<sup>328</sup>

The Federal Law on Narcotic Drugs was later amended by the Swiss Parliament, and on 1 July, 2011, a number of changes took effect, including reflecting the outcome of the 2008 referendum in respect of HAT which is now classified as a 'regular medical treatment'.

Despite the failure of the referendum in 2008 to secure legal reforms in respect of cannabis the debate continued. Inconsistent policing practices in different Cantons and police resources being diverted away from other crimes, with 30,000 cases of cannabis possession being brought before the courts, finally led to Parliamentarians amending the laws.<sup>329</sup>

The Swiss Parliament simplified the penal procedure in respect of cannabis possession for personal use in order to tackle these policing inconsistencies, these amendments coming into force in October 2013. While the consumption of illicit drugs, including cannabis, is still a punishable offence under the Federal Law on Narcotic Drugs, a threshold has been set at 10 grams of cannabis whereby an adult caught in possession of this amount or less will not be subject to prosecution.<sup>330</sup> Instead, they receive an administrative fine of CHF 100 (roughly \$100).<sup>331</sup> The Narcotics Law of 1975 had, in fact, deemed possession of a 'minor amount' of drugs to be exempt from punishment<sup>332</sup>; however, in practice the police had no discretionary power rendering this law effectively redundant.

In order to enhance youth protection, it is worth noting that the 2013 amendment does not apply to under 18s who remain subject to the youth criminal procedure code. It is too early to know the effect of the amendment on prevalence and on other health and social outcomes.

# UNITED STATES OF AMERICA (introduction by Stephen Gutwillig\*)

More than 1.5 million drug arrests are made every year in the United States – the overwhelming majority for possession only.<sup>333</sup> Thirty-four states still consider simple possession of small amounts of drugs other

than cannabis a felony, while 16 states, as well as Washington, D.C. and the federal government treat personal possession as a misdemeanour.<sup>334</sup> Thirteen of these states have never made simple possession a felony, but three states recently reclassified possession from felony to misdemeanour.

While decriminalisation at the federal level is not openly discussed by lawmakers, substantial momentum to lower or even eliminate criminal penalties for low-level drug possession has emerged across the country at the state level.

As discussed below, in 2014 California became the first state to reduce simple drug possession from a felony to a misdemeanour with the adoption of Proposition 47, overwhelmingly passed by voter initiative. Since its passage, more than 13,000 people have been released and resentenced – saving the state an estimated \$156 million in incarceration costs averted, which is being reinvested in drug treatment and mental health services, programmes for at-risk students in K-12 schools, and victim services.<sup>336</sup> The law is furthermore significantly easing notorious (and unconstitutional) jail overcrowding in California counties. In 2015, Connecticut and Utah became the most recent states to reduce penalties for drug possession to a misdemeanour.

Public sentiment in favour of reducing criminal penalties is growing in other parts of the country, too. In the nation's capital, a 2013 poll found that more than half (54 per cent) of respondents supported decriminalising possession of small amounts of drugs other than marijuana.<sup>336</sup> A 2016 poll of presidential primary voters in New Hampshire found that 66 per cent support decriminalising drug possession outright.<sup>337</sup> In the conservative state of South Carolina, a surprising 59 per cent of 2016 presidential primary voters supported decriminalisation.<sup>338</sup> A 2014 national Pew poll found that roughly two-thirds believe that people should no longer be prosecuted for possession of cocaine or heroin.<sup>339</sup>

In addition, 32 states and the District of Columbia have adopted 911 Good Samaritan immunity laws, which essentially decriminalise simple possession and other minor drug offences at the scene of an overdose.

\*Stephen Gutwillig is the Deputy Executive Director for Programs of the Drug Policy Alliance. He leads their public policy program, which includes seven offices across the country. Based in Los Angeles, Gutwillig served as DPA's California director until 2012, overseeing the organization's statewide legislative agenda, "model city" initiative in San Francisco, and marijuana reform efforts, including advocacy on behalf of Proposition 19 on the 2010 ballot.

Seattle recently instituted a pilot program known as 'Law Enforcement Assisted Diversion,' or LEAD, that aims to bypass the criminal justice system entirely. Instead of arresting and booking people for certain drug law violations, including drug possession and low-level sales, police in Seattle immediately direct them to drug treatment or other supportive services.<sup>340</sup>

An ongoing evaluation by the University of Washington has found that LEAD participants were up to 60 per cent less likely to reoffend than non-LEAD participants,<sup>341</sup> and that LEAD has resulted in 'statistically significant reductions in average yearly criminal justice and legal system utilisation and associated costs' among participants.<sup>342</sup> The program has already been replicated in Santa Fe, New Mexico, and Albany, New York, and is under consideration in Atlanta, Buffalo, Houston, Ithaca (NY), Los Angeles, New York City, Philadelphia, Portland (ME) and San Francisco.

Finally, legislation was introduced in the state of Maryland in 2016 to decriminalise low-level drug possession, part of a ground breaking package of health-centred responses to drug use. The other bills in the package included the establishment of safe consumption sites (drug consumption rooms), which do not currently exist in the U.S., requiring acute care hospitals to offer addiction treatment on demand, and the establishment of a poly-morphone assisted treatment pilot project, which would treat a certain demographic of opioid users through initiatives such as heroin assisted treatment, as has been practised successfully in a number of European countries.<sup>343</sup>

#### California

In the 10 years following cannabis decriminalisation in California in 1976 – where possession for personal use of up to 28.5 grams became a misdemeanour punishable by a fine of up to \$100 – the state made an estimated \$1 billion in savings to the criminal justice system and policing.<sup>344</sup> Under this law, those caught in possession were potentially subject to diversion into education, treatment or rehabilitation programmes.

Though economic savings were made following the 1976 decriminalisation law, by 2010 California was still spending close to \$500 million annually on enforcing cannabis possession laws. What's more, almost 60,000 people were being arrested annually for this offence.<sup>345</sup>

The state moved to lower the penalties associated with cannabis possession in 2011 through enacting *Senate Bill No. 1449* which made possession of up to 28.5 grams of cannabis an infraction instead of a misdemeanour.<sup>346</sup> Following the downgrading, misdemeanour arrests for cannabis fell dramatically from close to 55,000 in  $2010^{347}$  to 6,411 in  $2014.^{348}$ 

Although cannabis is currently the only decriminalised illicit drug in any state in the USA, California is among jurisdictions that have made strides towards reducing the punitive sanctions associated with minor drug offences more generally. In 2000, voters in California approved Proposition 36, changing state law to sentence offenders convicted of nonviolent, first- or second-time simple drug possession to community drug treatment and probation, *in lieu* of a custodial sentence.<sup>349</sup> After implementation began in 2001, hundreds of thousands of individuals were referred to treatment and avoided entering the criminal justice system, with savings to the state of \$5,836 for each offender that successfully completed treatment.<sup>350</sup>

It must be noted, however, that Proposition 36 did not create a system of formal decriminalisation as individuals had to plead guilty or be convicted of an offence in order to qualify for diversion. Additionally, the treatment programme had to be successfully completed for an individual to have the arrest and criminal conviction wiped from their record. Indeed, five years after implementation - after which time the state began defunding the initiative - only 34 per cent of people who entered treatment through the programme completed it successfully<sup>351</sup> and half of people who entered the programme were re-arrested for drug offences within 30 months.352,353 For those who did complete treatment successfully, subsequent drug use dropped by 71 per cent and employment rates nearly doubled.354

In November 2014, almost 60 per cent of voters approved Proposition 47, which downgraded six nonviolent crimes – including simple drug possession for all substances – from a felony to a misdemeanour. Under the measure, people caught in possession of drugs other than cannabis could still face up to a year in county jail. A person does not qualify for receiving a misdemeanour conviction if they have a prior conviction for a violent felony, for example.<sup>355,356</sup> People can apply for prior felonies to be reduced to misdemeanours, if they are classed as one of the six offences under the new law.

In the 12 months after Proposition 47 was voted in, California's state prison population fell 3.8 per cent and thousands of jail inmates were released. Reductions in the state prison population are expected to save the state over \$100 million annually,<sup>357</sup> and the public defender's office has identified some 200,000 people who will be eligible to apply for crimes on their records

under Proposition 47 to be reclassified from felonies to misdemeanours. $^{358}$ 

#### Washington D.C.

The United States' capital was notorious for its disproportionate policing of cannabis, with data from 2010 showing that black people comprised 90.9 per cent of all cannabis possession arrests, despite only accounting for 51.6 per cent of the D.C. population. This is despite use rates among black and white populations being roughly similar across the nation.<sup>359</sup> Furthermore, possession offences accounted for 94.8 per cent of all cannabis-related arrests in that year, and the capital had the highest cannabis possession arrests rate in the country.<sup>360</sup>

D.C. lawmakers moved to address this by passing the *Marijuana Possession Decriminalization Amendment Act* in March 2014, which took effect four months later. Under the act, possession of 1 ounce (28.3 grams) or less of cannabis was no longer a criminal offence, but rather a civil one punishable by a fine of \$25 along with possible confiscation of the cannabis and related paraphernalia if visible when the officer stopped the individual. 'Gifting' up to 28.3 grams of cannabis – i.e. without any financial transaction – was similarly a non-criminal offence, though public consumption remained criminal.<sup>361</sup> Individuals had 14 days to pay the fine, and failure to do so resulted in a doubling of the penalty.<sup>362</sup>

Cannabis decriminalisation only lasted seven months in practice; in November 2014, 69.4 per cent of voters approved *Ballot Initiative 71* to legalise possession of cannabis for personal use, which was enacted in February the following year. *Initiative 71* allows for individuals over the age of 21 to possess up to 2 ounces (56.7 grams) of cannabis and cultivate up to six cannabis plants in their homes. None of these actions carry any penalty, nor does 'gifting' up to 28.3 grams of cannabis to another person.<sup>363</sup> Consumption in a public place remains a criminal offence, though as of early 2016, the city's council was beginning to explore the regulation of spaces outside of the home where adults could use cannabis.<sup>364</sup>

As a result of legalising possession, arrests for cannabis possession plummeted 98 per cent from 2014 to 2015, falling from 1,840 to just  $32.^{365}$ 

Unlike other legalisation initiatives in the US, regulating the supply and taxation of cannabis in D.C. was not included in *Initiative 71* as D.C. law prohibits citizen initiatives from interfering with the City Council's tax, spending and budget authority.

# URUGUAY

Possession of drugs for personal use has never been criminalised in Uruguay,<sup>366</sup> with the decriminalisation principle having formally entered Uruguayan law in 1974 and then updated in 1998 to clarify ambiguities. Under the law, anyone found in possession of a 'reasonable quantity exclusively destined for personal consumption,' as determined by a judge, is exempt from punishment, both criminal and administrative.<sup>367</sup> If a judge, considering a number of factors, including quantity, makes a determination that the drugs in possession were intended for sale, production or distribution, he or she must explain the reasoning for such a determination in any sentence issued.<sup>368</sup>

Although drug use and possession is statutorily decriminalised in Uruguay, researchers point out that police-enforcement practices and judicial processes have resulted in the incarceration of many people who use drugs. A number of individuals are placed in pre-trial detention, with the de facto presumption of a cultivation or trafficking offence but no formal charges.<sup>369</sup> Between 2009 and 2013, the number of people incarcerated for drug crimes rose 39 per cent, outstripping the overall rise in prison population by 24 per cent.<sup>370</sup> Worse still, the number of pre-trial detainees stood at 69.4 per cent of the prison population in October 2015,<sup>371</sup> underscoring weaknesses in the country's criminal justice system which may work counterproductively with the legislative goal of decriminalisation.

In December 2013, the country became the first in the world to pass legislation establishing the legal framework for state regulation of cannabis for recreational use.<sup>372</sup> The regulatory framework was revealed in May 2014 and stipulates the following:<sup>373</sup>

- there will be three ways to access legal cannabis: growing up to six plants for home consumption, joining a cannabis growing cooperative of between 15 and 45 members, and buying the drug in licensed pharmacies for either recreational or medicinal use. All of these must be licensed by the Institute for the Regulation and Control of Cannabis (IRCCA), which will only recognise Uruguayan citizens and permanent residents over the age of 18;
- the THC content of commercially grown cannabis will be capped at 15 per cent;
- total production for cannabis clubs and home cultivation must not exceed 480 grams per individual per year.

Uruguay has been cautious about rushing the implementation of its regulatory framework. Domestic cultivation and cannabis clubs have both been approved by the government, with 4,400 growers and 17 clubs registered at the time of writing, though the country is yet to begin commercial sales. In October 2015, two private companies were finally selected to cultivate cannabis to be sold in pharmacies on state-owned land,<sup>374</sup> making it likely that sales will begin at some point in the second half of 2016.

## CONCLUSION

The proliferation of decriminalisation policies around the world demonstrates that decriminalisation is a viable and successful policy option for many countries. **Decriminalisation has not been the disaster many predicted and continue to predict.** As evidenced in this report, a country's drug-enforcement policies appear to have little correlation with levels of drug use and misuse in that jurisdiction. Countries with some of the harshest criminalisation systems have some of the highest prevalence rates of drug use in the world, and countries with decriminalisation systems have some of the lowest prevalence rates, and vice versa. But this does not end the discussion. More research is needed; governments and academics must invest more in researching the optimum models of decriminalisation to determine which are the most effective in reducing drug harms and achieving just and healthy policy outcomes. More and better data will bolster the existing research and provide a sound foundation on which to build and design drug policies for the future.

Recognising that drug laws have little impact on drug use, policymakers must be willing to consider the broader – and more difficult – social factors that influence individuals' relationships with drugs. Though more research is needed, socioeconomic characteristics such as wealth disparity and levels of social support appear to correlate more closely with problems linked to drug use in a society than do drugs laws or policies. Preliminary research suggests that countries with higher levels of wealth inequality tend to have higher levels of problematic drug use.<sup>375</sup> It would behave advocates and policymakers interested in designing effective drug policies that reduce costs and harms to recognise that problem drug use is often a symptom of broader social and economic factors and not necessarily a cause of them. And that for the vast majority of people who use drugs with no problem to themselves the greatest harm they face is criminalisation and the risks of an unregulated market.

Around the globe, increasing numbers of countries are assessing their current drug policies and considering the alternatives. Central America and Latin America have been at the centre of calls for reform in recent years, though they are by no means alone. This trend towards a more pragmatic and evidenced-based approach will have a significant impact on millions of people's lives, ending the continued and needless criminalisation of many within our society, most notably the young and vulnerable.

Over 50 years since the current prohibitionist drug policy framework was set, we must not forget that some countries now have over 40 years of experience with drug decriminalisation policies. These countries have as much to say to the world about drug policy management, as do those with aggressive criminal prohibition regimes. And the time has come to begin listening to them.

## REFERENCES

- 1. Harm Reduction International, *10 by 20 Campaign*, (http://www.ihra.net/10by20) accessed 26 February, 2016
- Economic and Social Council, World crime trends and emerging issues and responses in the field of crime prevention and criminal justice, Vienna: UN, January 2013 (https://www.unodc.org/documents/data-and-analysis/ statistics/crime/World\_Crime\_Trends\_2013.pdf) accessed 26 February, 2016
- United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (UNODC), World Drug Report 2015, New York: UN, 2015
- 4. Ibid.
- 5. Eastwood, N., Shiner, M., & Bear, D., The Numbers in Black And White: Ethnic Disparities in the Policing and Prosecution of Drug Offences in England and Wales, Release, 2013 (http://www.release.org.uk/publications/numbers-black-andwhite-ethnic-disparities-policing-and-prosecution-drugoffences) accessed 25 February, 2016
- 6. Decriminalisation is defined as 'The removal of sanctions under the criminal law, with optional use of administrative sanctions (e.g. provision of civil fines or court-ordered therapeutic responses)' – Hughes, C., & Stevens, A., What can we learn from the Portuguese decriminalization of illicit drugs? British Journal of Criminology 2010; 50. Pp. 999–1022. For the purposes of this report, we consider a decriminalisation policy to be one that removes the imposition of a permanent criminal record as a result of drug-possession or drug-use offences – this includes both *de jure* and *de facto* approaches to decriminalisation.
- 7. Latvia and Moldova, for example, punish drug use with administrative sanctions such as fines, according to the European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction. See http://www.emcdda.europa.eu/countries/latvia & http://www.emcdda.europa.eu/publications/country-overviews/ md#nlaws
- The Global Commission on Drug Policy has released 5 reports since 2011 detailing the numerous harms caused by the 'War on Drugs', all of which can be viewed here http://www.globalcommissionondrugs.org/reports/
- 9. Harm Reduction International, *The Global State of Harm Reduction*, 2012 (http://www.ihra.net/files/2012/09/04/GlobalState2012\_ CoverIntro.pdf) accessed 26 February, 2016
- WHO, Consolidated guidelines on HIV prevention, diagnosis, treatment and care for key populations, 2014 (http://www.who.int/hiv/pub/guidelines/keypopulations/en/) accessed 26 February, 2016
- UNDP, Addressing the Development Dimensions of Drug Policy, 2015 (http://www.undp.org/content/dam/undp/library/ HIV-AIDS/Discussion-Paper--Addressing-the-Development-Dimensions-of-Drug-Policy.pdf) accessed 26 February, 2016
- OHCHR, Study on the impact of the world drug problem on the enjoyment of human rights, 2015 (http://www.ohchr.org/EN/HRBodies/HRC/Pages/ WorldDrugProblem.aspx) accessed 26 February, 2016
- 13. UNODC, Briefing Paper: Decriminalisation of Drug Use and

Possession for Personal Consumption (Unreleased), 2015 (http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/shared/bsp/hi/pdfs/19\_10\_11\_ unodcbriefing.pdf) accessed 26 February, 2016

- WHO, UNAIDS, UNODC et al. A Technical Brief HIV and Young People who Inject Drugs, WHO, 2015 (http://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/media\_asset/2015\_ young\_people\_drugs\_en.pdf) accessed 26 February, 2016
- UK Home Office, Drugs: International Comparators, October 2014, (https://www.gov.uk/government/ uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/368489/ DrugsInternationalComparators.pdf) accessed 25 February, 2016
- 16. WHO, Assessment of compulsory treatment of people who use drugs in Cambodia, China, Malaysia and Viet Nam: An application of selected human rights principles, 2009 (http://www.wpro.who.int/publications/docs/FINALforWeb\_ Mar17\_Compulsory\_Treatment.pdf) accessed 25 February, 2016
- Harris, G., Conviction by numbers: Threshold Quantities for Drug Policy, Series on Legislative Reform of Drug Policies Nr. 14, May 2011 (https://www.tni.org/files/download/dlr14\_0.pdf) accessed 25 February, 2016
- 18. The existing 1989 Argentinian drug laws allow for custodial sentences for personal use and possession between 1 month and 2 years or the equivalent sentence in education or treatment. See Law 23.737, Article 14, subsection 2
- Touze, G., Argentina: reform on the way? TNI & WOLA Series on Legislative Reform of Drug Policies Nr. 6. 2010. Pg. 1 (http://www.tni.org/files/download/dlr6.pdf) accessed 26 January, 2016
- 20. Cozac, D., Rulings in Argentinian and Colombian courts decriminalize possession of small amounts of narcotics, HIV/ AIDS Policy & Law Review 2009: 14(2)
- Council of the European Union, Regional report on South America (Dublin Group), Brussels: European Union, 13830/1/14REV1. Pg. 7 (http://data.consilium.europa.eu/ doc/document/ST-13830-2014-REV-1/en/pdf) accessed 19 January, 2016
- 22. Fusero, M., Comparativo de proyectos de ley sobre despenalización de delitos de consumo de drogas en Argentina, International Drug Policy Consortium, 2015 (http://idpc.net/es/publications/2015/09/comparativo-deproyectos-de-ley-sobre-despenalizacion-de-delitos-deconsumo-de-drogas-en-argentina) accessed 24 February, 2016
- 23. Andreassi, C., Criminal Code Reform: A Debate in the Making, The Argentina Independent, 5 March, 2014 (http://www.argentinaindependent.com/currentaffairs/ analysis/criminal-code-reform-debate-making/) accessed 26 January, 2016
- 24. Touze, G., Argentina: reform on the way? TNI & WOLA Series on Legislative Reform of Drug Policies Nr. 6. Pg. 8
- Politi, D., Kirchner for Reefers? International Herald Tribune, 9 February, 2012 (http://latitude.blogs.nytimes.com/2012/02/09/ decriminalizing-drug-use-in-argentina-is-a-correction-to-badpolicy/) accessed 26 January, 2016

- Council of the European Union, Regional report on South America (Dublin Group), Brussels, European Union, 13830/1/14REV1, Pg. 8
- Neuman, J., After Flirting With Decriminalisation, Argentina Set to Get Tough on Drugs, TalkingDrugs, 6 October 2015 (http://www.talkingdrugs.org/after-flirting-withdecriminalization-argentina-set-to-get-tough-on-drugs) accessed 26 January, 2016, accessed 24 February, 2016
- Moore, J., Who is Mauricio Macri, Argentina's New President?, Europe Newsweek, 12 December, 2015 (http://europe.newsweek.com/who-mauricio-macri-argentinasnew-president-403465) accessed 26 January, 2016
- Executive Order of the President of the Republic of Armenia on Approving the National Programme on Combating Drug Addiction and Trafficking of Narcotic Drugs in the Republic of Armenia in 2009–2012. Pg.4 (http://www.translation-centre.am/pdf/Translat/HH\_Naxagah/ Order\_NK\_162\_N/order\_NK\_162\_N\_en.pdf) accessed 27 January, 2016
- U.S. Department of State, Country reports: Armenia, The Free Library, 2011 (http://www.thefreelibrary.com/ Country+reports%3a+Armenia.-a0259155670) accessed 27 January, 2016
- 31. Ibid.
- 32. Arka News Agency, Average monthly salary in Armenia in February 2013 was 139,331 drams, 2013 (http://arka.am/en/news/society/average\_monthly\_salary\_in\_ armenia\_in\_february\_2013\_was\_139\_331\_drams/) accessed 27 January, 2016
- Abrahamyan, G., Decriminalization of drug abuse encourages more addicts to seek treatment, Armenia Now, 24 June, 2011 (http://www.armenianow.com/news/30615/armenia\_drug\_ trafficking\_border) accessed 26 January, 2016
- 34. Executive Order of the President of the Republic of Armenia on Approving the National Programme on Combating Drug Addiction and Trafficking of Narcotic Drugs in the Republic of Armenia in 2009–2012. Pg. 4
- 35. Penal Reform International, Who are women prisoners? Survey results from Armenia and Georgia, PRI, 2014 (http://www.penalreform.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/09/PRI-Research-report\_Armenia-and-Georgia\_Reprint-2014\_ENG.pdf) accessed 27 January, 2016
- Lenton, S., & Allsop, S., A tale of CIN—the cannabis infringement notice scheme in Western Australia, Addiction, 2010: 105(5). Pp. 808-816 (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pubmed/20331566) accessed 24 February, 2016
- 37. For detailed discussion, see: Hughes, C., & Ritter, A., A Summary of Diversion Programs for Drug and Drug Related Offenders in Australia. Sydney: National Drug and Alcohol Research Centre, University of New South Wales, 2008 (https://ndarc.med.unsw.edu.au/resource/16-summarydiversion-programs-drug-and-drug-related-offenders-australia) accessed 24 February, 2016. See also Lenton, S., Chanteloup, F., Fetherston, J., Sutton, A., Hawks, D.V., Barratt, M.J. & Farringdon, F., An evaluation of the impact of changes to cannabis law in WA – Summary of the Year 1 findings, National Drug Law Enforcement Research Fund, Monograph No. 12. Commonwealth of Australia, Canberra, 2005. And Shanahan. M., Hughes, C., & McSweeney, T., (in press). Australian police diversion for cannabis offences: Assessing program outcomes and cost-effectiveness. Canberra, National Drug Law Enforcement Research Fund
- 38. Hughes, C., & Ritter, A., A Summary of Diversion Programs for Drug and Drug Related Offenders in Australia, Sydney: National Drug and Alcohol Research Centre, University of New South Wales, 2008 (https://ndarc.med.unsw.edu.au/resource/16summary-diversion-programs-drug-and-drug-related-offendersaustralia) accessed 24 February, 2016

- LSC Duty Solicitor Handbook, Drug Offences, Cannabis: Expiation of simple cannabis offences, Legal Services Commission of South Australia, 2016 (http://www.lsc.sa.gov.au/ dsh/ch12s06.php) accessed 24 February, 2016
- Single, E., Christie, P., & Ali, R., *The impact of cannabis decriminalisation in Australia and the United States*, Journal of Public Health Policy 2000: 21(2):167 (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10881453) accessed 24 February, 2016
- 41. Ibid. Pg.168
- Christie, P. & Ali, R., Offences under the Cannabis Expiation Notice scheme in South Australia, Drug and Alcohol Review 2000:19:251 (http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/pdf/10.1080/ cdar.19.3.251.256) accessed 26 February, 2016
- 43. Ibid. Pg. 253
- 44. South Australia Police, Annual Report 2013 2014, South Australia Government, (https://www.police.sa.gov.au/\_\_data/ assets/pdf\_file/0008/58616/Annual-report-2013-2014\_ INTERNET.pdf) accessed 2 February, 2016
- 45. Damrongplasit, K., Hsiao, C., & Zhao, X., Decriminalization and marijuana smoking prevalence: evidence from Australia, American Statistical Association Journal of Business and Economic Statistics 2010: 28(3). Pp.344–356 (https://economics.indiana.edu/home/about-us/events/ conferences-and-workshops/files/2006-11-08-01.pdf) accessed 26 February, 2016
- 46. Single, E., Christie, P., & Ali, R., The impact of cannabis decriminalisation in Australia and the United States, *Journal* of *Public Health Policy* 2000:21(2):167 (http://www.parl.gc.ca/ content/sen/committee/371/ille/presentation/single-e.htm) accessed 26 February, 2016
- 47. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, National Drug Strategy Household Survey, Australian Government, 2015, Online Tables: Table S7.7: Recent use of cannabis, people aged 14 and older, by state/territory, 1998 to 2013 (http://www.aihw.gov.au/alcohol-and-other-drugs/ndshs-2013/ tables/#state) accessed 2 February, 2016
- For all dates and details see: Hughes, C., The Australian (illicit) drug policy timeline: 1985-2015, Drug Policy Modelling Program, NDARC, UNSW 2015, (https://ndarc.med.unsw.edu.au/resource/ australian-illicit-drug-policy-timeline-1985-2014-national) accessed 24 February, 2016
- Ali, Christie, Hawks, Lenton, Hall, Sutton, and National Drug Strategy Committee, *The Social Impacts of the Cannabis Expiation Notice Scheme in South Australia: Monograph no. 34*, 1999 (http://nceta.flinders.edu.au/files/8912/5548/1112/EN3.pdf) accessed 24 February, 2016
- 50. Sutton, A., & McMillan, E., A Review of Law Enforcement and Other Criminal Justice Attitudes, Policies and Practices Regarding Cannabis and Cannabis Laws in South Australia, Canberra: Publications Production Unit, Department of Health and Aged Care, 1999. Pp. vii–ix.
- Hughes, C., Shanahan, M., Ritter, A., McDonald, D., & Gray-Weale, F., Monograph No. 25: Evaluation of the ACT drug diversion programs, DPMP Monograph Series Sydney, National Drug and Alcohol Research Centre, 2014 (https://ndarc.med.unsw.edu.au/resource/25-evaluationaustralian-capital-territory-drug-diversion-programs) accessed 24 February, 2016
- 52. Ibid.
- McLaren, J., & Mattick, R.P., *Cannabis in Australia: use, supply, harms, and responses*, Sydney: National Drug and Alcohol Research Centre, University of New South Wales, 2007. Pg.57
- Hughes, C., Shanahan, M., Ritter, A., McDonald, D., & Gray-Weale, F., Monograph No. 25: Evaluation of the ACT drug diversion programs, DPMP Monograph Series Sydney, National

Drug and Alcohol Research Centre, 2014 (https://ndarc.med.unsw.edu.au/resource/25-evaluationaustralian-capital-territory-drug-diversion-programs) accessed 24 February, 2016

- 55. Drugs and the Law: Cannabis Offence Notice, Australian Federal Police (http://www.police.act.gov.au/crime-and-safety/drugsand-alcohol/drugs-and-the-law.aspx) accessed 2 February, 2016
- 56. See also: Changes to law were passed through the Crimes Legislation Amendment Act 2013 (No 2) (No. 50 of 2013) – Hughes, C., Shanahan, M., Ritter, A., McDonald, D., & Gray-Weale, F., Monograph No. 25: Evaluation of the ACT drug diversion programs, DPMP Monograph Series Sydney, National Drug and Alcohol Research Centre, 2014 (https://ndarc.med.unsw.edu.au/resource/25-evaluationaustralian-capital-territory-drug-diversion-programs) accessed 24 February, 2016
- 57. Ibid.
- 58. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, National Drug Strategy Household Survey, Australian Government, 2015, Online Tables: Table S7.7: Recent use of cannabis, people aged 14 and older, by state/territory, 1998 to 2013 (http://www.aihw.gov.au/alcohol-and-other-drugs/ndshs-2013/ tables/#state) accessed 2 February, 2016 - ACT reports rates of recent us of cannabis at 10.1 per cent in 2013, just in front of Victoria which has the lowest report rate of 9.1 per cent and New South Wales at 9.5 per cent.
- 59. Ibid.
- Jones, L., *Tough new cannabis laws for WA*, Sydney Morning Herald, July 17, 2011 (http://news.smh.com.au/breaking-newsnational/tough-new-cannabis-laws-for-wa-20110717-1hjq2.html) accessed 24 February, 2016
- Lenton, S., Allsop, S., A tale of CIN the Cannabis Infringement Notice scheme in Western Australia, Addiction, 2010: 105:810 (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20331566) accessed 24 February, 2016
- Reuter, P.H., Marijuana Legalization: What Can Be Learned from Other Countries? RAND Drug Policy Research Center, 2010.
   Pg. 9 (https://www.rand.org/content/dam/rand/pubs/working\_ papers/2010/RAND\_WR771.pdf) accessed 24 February, 2016
- ABC News, Tough new cannabis laws as usage soars, ABC News 27 July, 2011 (http://www.abc.net.au/news/2011–07–27/ wa-tough-new-cannabis-laws/2812558) accessed 24 February, 2016
- 64. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, National Drug Strategy Household Survey, Australian Government, 2015, Online Tables: Table S7.7: Recent use of cannabis, people aged 14 and older, by state/territory, 1998 to 2013
- SBS News, Factbox: Cannabis Laws in Australia, 3 April, 2012 (http://www.sbs.com.au/news/article/2012/04/03/factboxcannabis-laws-australia) accessed 2 February, 2016
- 66. Ibid.
- 67. Lenton, S., Chanteloup, F., Fetherston, J., Sutton, A., Hawks, D.V., Barratt, M.J. & Farringdon, F., An evaluation of the impact of changes to cannabis law in WA – Summary of the Year 1 findings, National Drug Law Enforcement Research Fund, Monograph No. 12., Commonwealth of Australia, Canberra, 2005 (http://www.ndlerf.gov.au/publications/research-summaries/ summary-12) accessed 24 February, 2016
- Fetherston, J., Lenton, S., Effects of the Western Australian Cannabis infringement Notice Scheme on Public Attitudes, Knowledge, and Use, Perth: National Drug Research Institute, 2007. Pg. 43 (http://ndri.curtin.edu.au/local/docs/pdf/ publications/T177.pdf) accessed 26 February, 2016
- Hughes, C., & Ritter, A., A Summary of Diversion Programs for Drug and Drug Related Offenders in Australia, Sydney: National Drug and Alcohol Research Centre, University of New South Wales, 2008 (https://ndarc.med.unsw.edu.au/

resource/16-summary-diversion-programs-drug-and-drugrelated-offenders-australia) accessed 24 February, 2016

- 70. Ibid.
- Payne, J., Kwiatkowski, M., & Wundersitz, J., Police Drug Diversion: A Study of Criminal Offending Outcomes, AIC Reports: Research and Public Policy Series 97, Canberra: Australian Institute of Criminology, 2008. Pg.70 (http://www.aic.gov.au/publications/current%20series/rpp/81-99/rpp97.html) accessed 24 February, 2016
- 72. Shanahan, M., Hughes, C., & McSweeney, T., (in press), Australian police diversion for cannabis offences: Assessing program outcomes and cost-effectiveness, Canberra, National Drug Law Enforcement Research Fund.
- 73. Hughes, C., & Ritter, A., A Summary of Diversion Programs for Drug and Drug Related Offenders in Australia, Sydney: National Drug and Alcohol Research Centre, University of New South Wales, 2008 (https://ndarc.med.unsw.edu.au/resource/16summary-diversion-programs-drug-and-drug-related-offendersaustralia) accessed 24 February, 2016
- 74. Ibid.
- 75. Ibid.
- 76. See generally, Damrongplasit, K., Hsiao, C., Zhao, X., Decriminalization and marijuana smoking prevalence: evidence from Australia, American Statistical Association Journal of Business and Economic Statistics 2010:28(3). Pp. 344–356 (https://economics.indiana.edu/home/about-us/events/ conferences-and-workshops/files/2006-11-08-01.pdf) accessed 26 February, 2016
- 77. See Fetherston, J., Lenton, S., Effects of the Western Australian Cannabis infringement Notice Scheme on Public Attitudes, Knowledge, and Use, Perth: National Drug Research Institute, 2007. Pg.54 (http://ndri.curtin.edu.au/local/docs/pdf/ publications/T177.pdf) accessed 26 February, 2016
- 78. See Donnelly, N., Hall, W., & Christie, P., Effects of the Cannabis Expiation Notice Scheme on Levels and Patterns of Cannabis Use in South Australia: Evidence from the National Drug Strategy Household Surveys 1985–1995, Parkside: Drug and Alcohol Services Council, South Australia, 2009; Lenton, S., Christie, P., Humeniuk, R. et al. Infringement Versus Conviction: the social impact of a minor cannabis offence under a civil penalties system and strict prohibition in two Australian states. Parkside: Drug and Alcohol Services Council, South Australia, 1999; Lenton, S., Cannabis policy and the burden of proof: is it now beyond reasonable doubt that cannabis prohibition is not working?, Drug and Alcohol Review 2000:19(1). Pp. 95-100; Single, E., Christie, P., & Ali, R., The impact of cannabis decriminalisation in Australia and the United States, Journal of Public Health Policy 2000:21(2). Pp.157–186; Anne Linn Brettville-Jenson AL, Williams J. Decriminalization and Initiation into Cannabis Use. Melbourne: University of Melbourne, 2011 (http://fbe.unimelb.edu.au/\_\_data/assets/ pdf\_file/0007/784276/1130.pdf) accessed 24 February, 2016. Although they did not find an impact on overall use, Brettville-Jenson and Williams do suggest that the age of initiation into cannabis use was lower in those states that had decriminalised cannabis, although no causal link is established
- Ritter, A., Hughes, C., & Hull, P., (in press), *Chapter 08: Drug policy (Global national*), The SAGE Handbook of Drug & Alcohol Studies Volume 1. London, Sage Publications
- McLaren, J., Mattick, R.P., Cannabis in Australia: use, supply, harms, and responses, Sydney: National Drug and Alcohol Research Centre, University of New South Wales, 2007. Pg. 560
- Payne, J., Kwiatkowski. M., & Wundersitz J, Police Drug Diversion: A Study of Criminal Offending Outcomes, AIC Reports: Research and Public Policy Series 97, Canberra: Australian Institute of Criminology, 2008. Pg. 70
- Single, E., Christie, P., & Ali, R., The impact of cannabis decriminalisation in Australia and the United States, Journal of Public Health Policy 2000;21(2). Pg. 167

- Payne, J., Kwiatkowski, M., Wundersitz, J., Police Drug Diversion: A Study of Criminal Offending Outcomes. AIC Reports: Research and Public Policy Series 97, Canberra: Australian Institute of Criminology, 2008. Pg. 70 (http://www.aic.gov.au/publications/ current%20series/rpp/81-99/rpp97.html) accessed 24 February, 2016
- 84. European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction (EMCDDA), *Belgium Country Profile*, Lisbon: EMCDDA, 2011
- Sleiman, S., ed. Belgian National Report on Drugs 2005, IPH/ EPI Reports NR 2005-012. Brussels: Scientific Institute of Public Health, Epidemiology Unit, 2005. Pp. 14-15 (http://www.appel-arlon.net/telech/ISP\_4.pdf) accessed on 22 January, 2016
- EMCDDA, Belgium Country Profile National Drug Laws, 2015 (http://www.emcdda.europa.eu/countries/belgium) accessed on 22 January, 2016
- Euroscope, Continuing the madness: Europe's faltering cannabis policy, December 11, 2014 (http://publications.europeintheworld.com/continuing-madnesseuropes-faltering-cannabis-policy/) accessed 22 January, 2016
- EMCDDA, European Drug Report 2015: Trends and Developments, Lisbon: EMCDDA, 2015. Pg. 79
- The European School Survey Project on Alcohol and Other Drugs (ESPAD), The 2011 ESPAD Report: Substance Use Among Students in 36 European Countries, CAN, EMCDDA, Pompidou Group, 2011. Pg. 358
- Ley Num. 20.000, Artículo 4°, Biblioteca del Congreso Nacional de Chile, 2005 (http://www.leychile.cl/ Navegar?idNorma=235507) accessed 25 January, 2016
- Jelsma, M., Drug Law Reform Trend in Latin America, Transnational Institute, 2009 (http://www.akzept.org/pdf/ volltexte\_pdf/nr23/drogenpo\_inter/tnItrends\_latam0110.pdf) accessed 25 January, 2016
- 92. Subsecretaría de Prevención del Delito, Procedimientos Policiales por Infracción a la Ley de Drogas N°20.000, Ministerio del Interior y Seguridad Pública, 2014. Pg. 4 (http://www.seguridadpublica.gob.cl/media/2014/09/Informe-Anual-de-Estad%C3%ADsticas-Nacionales-y-Regionales-sobre-Procedimientos-Policiales-por-infracci%C3%B3n-a-la-Ley-de-Drogas..pdf) accessed 26 January, 2016
- 93. Astudillo, D., & Matus, J., Despenalización de la marihuana: gobierno ingresa indicaciones que restringen porte y cultivo, La Tercera, 10 November, 2015 (http://www.latercera.com/ noticia/nacional/2015/11/680-655402-9-despenalizacion-dela-marihuana-gobierno-ingresa-indicaciones-que-restringen. shtml) accessed 26 January, 2016
- 94. Poder Judicial-República de Chile, Corte suprema absuelve a condenada por cultivo de marihuana destinada a consumo ritua," Poder Judicial, Noticias, 4 June, 2015 (http://goo.gl/kOyZRw) accessed 28 January, 2016
- Ministerio de Salud-República de Chile. Decreto Nº 84/15, Modifica los decretos Nº 404 y 405..." (http://www.leychile.cl/Navegar?idNorma=1085003) accessed 28 January, 2016
- 96. Servicio Nacional para la Prevención y Rehabilitación del Consumo de Drogas y Alcohol, Décimo Primer Estudio Nacional de Drogas en Población General de Chile, 2014, Ministerio del Interior y Seguridad Pública, 2014. Pp. 17-18 (http://www.senda.gob.cl/media/estudios/ PG/2014\_EstudioDrogas\_Poblacion\_General.pdf) accessed 25 January, 2016
- Guzmán D.E, Yepes R.U, Prohibition, a Backwards Step: the personal dose in Colombia, TNI & WOLA Series on Legislative Reform on Drug Policies Nr. 4, 2010. Pg. 3 (https://www.tni.org/ files/download/dlr4.pdf) accessed 3 February, 2016
- Ley 1453, Artículo 376, El Congreso de Colombia, 24 June, 2011 (http://www.secretariasenado.gov.co/senado/basedoc/

ley\_1453\_2011.html) accessed 4 February, 2016. See also the Constitution of Colombia 1991 (http://www.procuraduria.gov.co/guiamp/media/file/ Macroproceso%20Disciplinario/Constitucion\_Politica\_de\_ Colombia.htm) accessed 23 February, 2016

- Corte Constitucional de Colombia, Sentencia C-491/12, 28 June, 2012 (http://www.corteconstitucional.gov.co/ relatoria/2012/c-491-12.htm) accessed 4 February, 2016
- 100. El Congreso de Colombia, Ley 1566, 31 July, 2012 (http://wsp.presidencia.gov.co/Normativa/Leyes/Documents/ ley156631072012.pdf) accessed 23 February, 2016
- 101. Coret Suprema de Justicia de Colombia, Radicación No. 33409, 3 September, 2014 (http://www.legismovil.com/BancoMedios/Archivos/ sent-sp-11726(33409)-14.pdf) accessed 23 February, 2016
- 102. Uprimny, R, Guzmán, D, Parra, J, & Bernal, C 'Policies on Illicit Use of Drugs in Colombia,' in: In Search of Rights: Drug Users and State Responses in Latin America, Colectivo de Estudio Drogas y Derechos, Mexico, 2014. Pg. 83 (http://www.drogasyderecho.org/publicaciones/prop\_del/fullreport-english.pdf) accessed 4 February, 2016
- 103. Ibid. Pp. 77-8
- 104. Corda, A, Drug Policy Reform in Latin America: Discourse and Reality, Colectivo de Estudio Drogas y Derechos, 2015. Pg. 7 (http://www.drogasyderecho.org/publicaciones/pub-priv/ alejandro\_i.pdf) accessed 27 January, 2016
- 105. Instituto Nacional Penitenciario y Carcelario, Estadísticas enero de 2016 - Modalidad delictiva Población de Internos en Establecimientos de Reclusión enero 31 de 2016, 10 February, 2016 (http://www.inpec.gov.co/portal/page/portal/Inpec/ Institucion/Estad%EDsticas/Estadisticas/Estad%EDsticas) accessed 23 February, 2016
- 106. Transnational Institute for Drugs and Democracy, *Costa Rica:* Drug Laws and Trends in Costa Rica, TNI, Amsterdam, 2016
- 107. Ibid.
- 108. Sentencia: 01087 Expediente: 00-200446-0456-PE
- 109. Cortes, E., Drug law reform in Costa Rica benefits vulnerable women and their families, Independent Drug Policy Consortium August 21, 2013 (http://idpc.net/blog/2013/08/drug-law-reformin-costa-rica-benefits-vulnerable-women-and-their-families)
- 110. Drug Abuse Prevention Act, Article 54, Government of Croatia 2001
- 111. Amendments of the Law on Combating Drugs Abuse, Article 10, Government of Croatia, 2003
- 112. Disturbance of the Public Peace Act, *Article 20*, Government of Croatia
- EMCDDA, Croatia Country Profile National Drug Laws, 2016 (http://www.emcdda.europa.eu/countries/croatia) accessed 26 February, 2016
- 114. Ceste, J., A Balancing Act: Policymaking on Illicit Drugs in the Czech Republic, Lessons for Drug Policy Series, New York: Open Society Foundations, 2012. Pg. 14 (https://www.opensocietyfoundations.org/sites/default/files/A\_ Balancing\_Act-03-14-2012.pdf) accessed 10 February, 2016
- 115. Ibid.
- 116. Ibid. at Pg.19
- 117. Ibid. at Pg. 20
- 118. What constitutes a 'small amount' was not defined by the law until 2010, except for internal police enforcement guidelines which were not binding on state attorneys or courts.
- 119. Ceste, J., A Balancing Act: Policymaking on Illicit Drugs in the Czech Republic, Pg.15

- 120. Zabransky, T., Mravcik, V., Gajdosikova, H., & Miovskù, M., Impact Analysis Project of New Drugs Legislation Summary Final Report, Prague: Secretariat of the National Drug Commission Office of the Czech Government, 2001 (http://www.druglawreform.info/images/stories/ documents/Czech\_evaluation\_2001\_PAD\_en.pdf) accessed 25 February, 2016; Ceste, J., A Balancing Act: Policymaking on Illicit Drugs in the Czech Republic, Pg. 22
- 121. Ceste, J., A Balancing Act: Policymaking on Illicit Drugs in the Czech Republic, Pg. 24
- 122. Belackova, V., Maalsté, N., Zabransky, T., & Grund, J. P., "Should I Buy or Should I Grow?" How drug policy institutions and drug market transaction costs shape the decision to self-supply with cannabis in the Netherlands and the Czech Republic, International Journal of Drug Policy, 2015, 26(3), Pp. 296-310.
- 123. Ibid. at Pg. 25
- 124. Mravčík, V., (De) criminalisation of possession of drugs for personal use–A view from the Czech Republic, International Journal of Drug Policy, 2015: 26(7). Pp. 705-707 (http://www.ijdp.org/article/S0955-39591500067-5/fulltext) accessed 22 February, 2016
- Opinion of Supreme Court, 15 Tdo 1003/2013. See also: Associated Press, Czech court sets rules on drugs possession, 9 April, 2014 (http://news.yahoo.com/czech-court-sets-rulesdrugs-possession-111208135.html) accessed 9 February, 2016
- 126. Mravčík, V., (De) criminalisation of possession of drugs for personal use–A view from the Czech Republic, International Journal of Drug Policy, 2015: 26(7). Pp. 705-707 (http://www.ijdp.org/article/S0955-39591500067-5/fulltext) accessed 22 February, 2016
- 127. Ibid.
- Filipková. T., Cannabis policy in the Czech Republic, Transnational Institute, 28 September, 2015 (https://www.tni.org/en/article/cannabis-policy-in-the-czechrepublic) accessed 10 February, 2016
- 129. For example, in 2009 an estimated 38.1% of Czech people aged 18-24 years reported cannabis use in the previous year – See: Csete, J., A Balancing Act: Policymaking on Illicit Drugs in the Czech Republic
- 130. Ibid.
- 131. The National Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Addiction, Annual Report: The Czech Republic Drug Situation 2013. Pg.2 (http://www.vlada.cz/assets/ppov/protidrogova-politika/ AR\_2013\_CZE.pdf) accessed 25 February, 2016
- 132. The National Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Addiction, Annual Report: The Czech Republic Drug Situation 2009. Pg. 28 (http://www.vlada.cz/assets/vydavatelstvi/vydane-publikace/ Czech\_Annual\_Report\_Drug\_Situation\_2009\_EN.pdf) accessed 25 February, 2016; and, The National Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Addiction. Annual Report: The Czech Republic Drug Situation 2013, Pg. 37 (http://www.vlada.cz/ assets/ppov/protidrogova-politika/AR\_2013\_CZE.pdf) accessed 25 February, 2016
- 133. Ibid. Pp. 7-8
- 134. It is important to note that the two data sets, 2008 and 2013 are not identical and are based on general populations surveys. The 2008 data is drawn from 4,500 participants in comparison to 868 for the 2013 report. The number of 15-34 year olds surveyed in 2008 was 827 in 2013 it was 308. The unequal sample sizes raises the margin of error in making comparisons as to the effects of decriminalisation, but both samples are taken from reports from an organisation established by the Czech state, are fairly large and show significant statistical differences in pre and post-decriminalisation drug use, hence their inclusion in this report.
- 135. Metaal, P., Pardon for Drug Mules in Ecuador, a Sound Proposal, TNI & WOLA Series on Legislative Reform on Drug Policies

Nr. 1, 2009. Pg. 3 (http://www.wola.org/sites/default/files/ downloadable/Drug%20Policy/2011/Spanish/joint%20pubs/dlr1. pdf) accessed 5 February, 2016

- 136. Edwards, S., 'A short history of Ecuador's drug legislation and the impact on its prison population' in: Systems Overload: drug laws and prisons in Latin America, Washington/Amsterdam: Washington Office on Latin America (WOLA)/Transnational Institute, 2010. Pg. 57 (http://www.druglawreform.info/en/ publications/systems-overload/item/875-drug-laws-andprisons-in-peru) accessed 27 January, 2016
- 137. Metaal, P., Pardon for Drug Mules in Ecuador, a Sound Proposal, Pg. 1
- See Artículo 364, Asamblea Constituyente, Constitución del Ecuador 2008, (http://druglawreform.info/images/stories/ documents/Constitucion-2008.pdf) accessed 5 February, 2016
- 139. Consejo Nacional para el Control de las Sustancias Estupefacientes y Psicotrópicas, *Resolución 001 CONSEP-CD-2013*, 21 May, 2013 (http://ecuadorcannabico.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/06/ Resoluci%C3%B3n-001-CONSEP-CD-2013.pdf) accessed 5 February, 2016
- 140. Álvarez, C., Reforms and Contradictions in Ecuador's Drug Policy, Washington Office on Latin America, August, 2014. Pp. 3-5 (http://www.wola.org/sites/default/files/Drug%20 Policy/Ecuador%20memo%20English\_FINAL.pdf) accessed 5 February, 2016
- 141. Vicente Paladines, J., The Seven Steps of Drug Policy Reform in Ecuador, Washington Office on Latin America, 10 June, 2015 (http://www.wola.org/commentary/los\_siete\_pasos\_de\_la\_ evolucion\_de\_la\_reforma\_de\_drogas\_en\_ecuador) accessed 5 February, 2016
- 142. Álvarez, C., Reforms and Contradictions in Ecuador's Drug Policy, Pg. 5
- 143. Ortiz, S., Ernesto Pazmiño: 'Atacar la droga por el lado penal es ineficaz', El Comercio, 23 September, 2015 (http://www.elcomercio.com/actualidad/ernestopazmino-drogacoip-microtrafico.html) accessed 5 February, 2016
- 144. EMCDDA, Estonia Country Overview: A Summary of the National Drug Situation (http://www.emcdda.europa.eu/ countries/estonia) accessed 26 January, 2016
- 145. EMCDDA, Threshold Quantities for Drug Offences, (http://www.emcdda.europa.eu/html.cfm/index99321EN.html) accessed 26 January, 2016
- 146. EMCDDA, Penalties for drug law offences in Europe at a glance (http://www.emcdda.europa.eu/topics/law/penalties-at-aglance) accessed 26 January, 2016
- 147. EMCDDA, European Drug Report 2015: Trends and Developments, Lisbon: EMCDDA, 2015. Pg. 79
- 148. Narcotic Drugs Act (Betäubungsmittelgesetz) of 1981 Sec. 31a (as amended 18 December, 2009) (http://www.emcdda.europa. eu/html.cfm/index5173EN.html?pluginMethod=eldd.showlegalt extdetail&id=677&lang=en&T=2) accessed 17 February, 2016
- 149. Max Planck Institute for Foreign and Criminal Law, Cannabis Non-Prosecution Policies in Germany, Freiburg: Max Planck Institute for Foreign and Criminal Law, 2011 (http://www.mpicc.de/ww/en/pub/forschung/forschungsarbeit/ kriminologie/archiv/cannabis.htm) accessed 17 February, 2016
- 150. For the different thresholds please see http://www.undrugcontrol.info/images/stories/documents/ Threshold\_quantities\_by\_state\_in\_the\_Federal\_Republic\_of\_ German.pdf (accessed 17 February, 2016)
- 151. Decision of German Federal Constitutional Court, Second Senate, 9 March 1994, BVerfGE 90, 145
- 152. Der Spiegel, Berlin Set to Relax Cannabis Laws, Der Spiegel, 18 May, 2010 (http://www.spiegel.de/international/

germany/0,1518,695215,00.html) accessed 17 February, 2016

- EMCDDA, Threshold Quantities for Drug Offences, Lisbon: EMCDDA, 2010 (http://www.emcdda.europa.eu/html.cfm/ index99321EN.html) accessed 17 February, 2016
- Böllinger, L., Drug law and policy in Germany and the European Community: recent developments, Journal of Drug Issues 2004; 34(3). Pg. 499
- Act on the Trade in Narcotic Drugs Sec. 35 (as amended 18 Dec. 2009)
- Böllinger, L., Drug law and policy in Germany and the European Community: recent developments, Pg. 492
- 157. Spiegel Online, Know Your Limit: Germany Seeks Uniform Law on Marijuana, 24 May, 2013 (http://www.spiegel.de/ international/germany/german-states-consider-standardizingmarijuana-rules-a-901717.html) accessed 17 February, 2016
- 158. EMCDDA, Germany Country Overview: Prevalence, Germany: Drug use among the general population and young people, Lisbon, 2016 (http://www.emcdda.europa.eu/countries/ germany) accessed 18 February, 2016
- 159. EMCDDA, Prevalence Maps Prevalence of Drug Use in Europe, Lisbon, 2016 (http://www.emcdda.europa.eu/countries/ prevalence-maps) accessed 18 February, 2016
- 160. Torrini, E., Drug Control and Prevention: Italy's Legal Framework, Talking Drugs, 2014. Pp. 1-2 (http://www.talkingdrugs.org/sites/default/files/italian-druglegislation.pdf) accessed 28 January, 2016
- 161. Solvetti, L.M., Drug Use Criminalization V. Decriminalization: An Analysis of the Italian Experience, Report prepared for the Swiss Federal Office of Public Health, Bern: Swiss Federal Office of Public Health. Pg.40
- 162. Zuffa, G., How to Determine Personal Use in Drug Legislation: the 'threshold controversy' in the light of the Italian experience. Transnational Institute Series on Legislative Reform of Drug Laws Nr. 15. Amsterdam: Transnational Institute, 2011. Pg. 4 (http://www.undrugcontrol.info/en/publications/legislativereform-series-/item/2710-how-to-determine-personal-use-indrug-legislation) accessed 28 January, 2016
- Torrini, E., Drug Control and Prevention: Italy's Legal Framework, Pp. 2-3
- 164. Antigone, CNCA, Forum droghe, Societá della Ragione, The Effects of the 2006 Italian Drug Legislation ('Fini-Giovanardi law') on the Penal and Prisons System (2006–2010) Executive Summary. Pg.1 (http://www.idpc.net/sites/default/files/library/ White-Book\_Executive-Summary.pdf) accessed 28 January, 2016
- 165. Zuffa G., How to Determine Personal Use in Drug Legislation: the 'threshold controversy' in the light of the Italian experience, Pg. 7
- 166. Antigone, CNCA, Forum droghe, La Societá della Ragione, 5 Libro Bianco che la legge Fini-Giovanardi, 2014. Pg. 5 (http://www.cesdop.it/public/download/V\_libro\_bianco\_2014. pdf) accessed 28 January, 2016
- 167. Torrini, E., Drug Control and Prevention: Italy's Legal Framework, Pg. 4
- 168. UPI, In Italy, no need to hide the pot plants, UPI, 29 June, 2011 (http://www.upi.com/Top\_News/World-News/2011/06/29/ In-Italy-no-need-to-hide-the-pot-plants/UPI-74621309392885/) accessed 28 January, 2016
- 169. Torrini, E., Drug Control and Prevention: Italy's Legal Framework, Pg. 5
- 170. Ibid. See generally
- 171. Reuters, Italy court strikes down drug law blamed for prison crowding, Rome, 12 February, 2014 (http://www.reuters.com/

article/us-italy-drugs-law-idUSBREA1B1FF20140212) accessed 28 January, 2016

- 172. EMCDDA, Prevalence of drug use > Cannabis > Lifetime prevalence (%) > All adults (15-64), (http://www.emcdda.europa.eu/data/stats2015) accessed 28 January, 2016
- 173. National Commission on Ganja, A report of the National Commission on Ganja to Rt. Hon. PJ Patterson OC, MP, Prime Minister of Jamaica, 7 August, 2001 (http://www.cannabis-med.org/science/Jamaica.htm) accessed 1 February, 2016
- 174. Wilson, D., Dangerous Drugs (Amendment) Act 2015 to Come Into Effect April 15, Jamaica Information Service, 13 April, 2015 (http://jis.gov.jm/dangerous-drugs-amendment-act-2015-comeeffect-april-15/) accessed 1 February, 2016
- 175. Ministry of Justice, Fact Sheet Prepared by the Ministry of Justice on the Dangerous Drugs (Amendment) Act 2015, (http://moj.gov.jm/sites/default/files/Dangerous%20Drugs%20 Amendment%20Act%202015%20Fact%20Sheet\_0.pdf) accessed 1 February, 2016
- 176. Ibid.
- 177. Ibid.
- 178. Jamaica Gleaner, Cannabis Licensing Authority Announces April 4 Start Date, 22 February, 2016 (http://jamaica-gleaner.com/article/news/20160222/cannabislicensing-authority-announces-april-4-start-date) accessed 24 February, 2016
- 179. Jamaica Gleaner, Reformed Ganja Law Reaping Results, Says Justice Minister, 8 October, 2015 (http://jamaica-gleaner.com/ article/news/20151008/reformed-ganja-law-reaping-results-saysjustice-minister) accessed 1 February, 2016
- 180. Heinle, K., Molzahn, C., & Shirk, D., Drug Violence in Mexico: Data and Analysis Through 2014, Justice in Mexico Project, University of San Diego, April 2015. Pg. 11 (https://justiceinmexico.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/04/2015-Drug-Violence-in-Mexico-Report.pdf) accessed 2 February, 2016
- 181. See Artículos 478 & 479 of the 'Narcomenudo Decree' (http://www.diputados.gob.mx/LeyesBiblio/ref/lgs/LGS\_ ref44\_20ago09.pdf) accessed 2 February, 2016
- 182. Ibid.
- 183. Corda, A., Drug Policy Reform in Latin America: Discourse and Reality, Colectivo de Estudio Drogas y Derechos, 2015. Pg. 7 (http://www.drogasyderecho.org/publicaciones/pub-priv/ alejandro\_i.pdf) accessed 27 January, 2016
- 184. Pérez Correa, C., & Silva Mora, K, 'Illicit Use of Drugs and Drug Users in Mexico,' in: In Search of Rights: Drug Users and State Responses in Latin America, Colectivo de Estudio Drogas y Derechos, Mexico, 2014. Pp. 107-8; See also, Pérez Correa, C., La marihuana no es importante, ¿o sí?, Horizontal, 27 October, 2015 (http://horizontal.mx/la-marihuana-no-es-importante-o-si/) accessed 23 February, 2016
- 185. Ibid.
- For the full Supreme Court ruling, see (http://www.smartclub.mx/uploads/8/7/2/7/8727772/ar237\_ smart.pdf) accessed 2 February, 2016
- 187. Ibid.
- 188. The legislation refers to drugs that pose 'unacceptable risks' and those with 'less severe' risks.
- 189. Grund, J.P., & Breeksema J., Coffee Shops and Compromise: Separated Illicit Drug Markets in the Netherlands, Global Drug Policy Program, Open Society Foundations, July 2013. Pg. 11 (https://www.opensocietyfoundations.org/reports/coffee-shopsand-compromise-separated-illicit-drug-markets-netherlands) accessed 21 February, 2016

- 190. See Stevens, A., Drugs, Crime and Public Health: the political economy of drug policy, Abingdon: Routledge, 2010. Pp. 120–122
- 191. Ibid.
- 192. Opium Act (http://www.cannabis-med.org/dutch/Regulations/ Opium\_Act.pdf) accessed 21 February, 2016
- 193. Reuter, P, Marijuana Legalization: what can be learned from other countries? Santa Monica, CA: Rand Drug Policy Research Center, 2010 Pg. 2 (http://www.rand.org/content/dam/rand/ pubs/working\_papers/2010/RAND\_WR771.pdf) accessed 21 February, 2016
- 194. EMCDDA, Country Legal Profiles: Netherlands, EMCDDA, 2016 (http://www.emcdda.europa.eu/html.cfm/index5174EN. html?pluginMethod=eldd.countryprofiles&country=NL#E1) accessed 21 February, 2016
- 195. THC is tetrahydrocannabinol, considered to be the primary active compound in cannabis.
- 196. Blickman, T., Majority of the Dutch favour Cannabis Legislation. Transnational Institute: Drugs and Democracy, 4 October, 2013 (http://www.druglawreform.info/en/weblog/item/4960-majorityof-the-dutch-favour-cannabis-legalisation) accessed 21 February, 2016
- 197. Trimbos Institute, THC-concentraties in wiet, nederwiet en hasj in Nederlandse coffeeshops, 2013 (https://assets-sites.trimbos. nl/docs/6931bd18-8271-471c-9199-1a170feb4a63.pdf) accessed 26 February, 2016
- 198. Kilmer, B., Do Cannabis Possession Laws Influence Cannabis Use? Cannabis 2002 report: a joint international effort at the initiative of the Ministers of Public Health of Belgium, France, Germany, The Netherlands, Switzerland: technical report of the scientific conference, Brussels: Belgian Ministry of Public Health, 2002. Pg. 105.
- 199. Ibid.
- MacCoun, R, Reuter, P., Drug War Heresies: learning from other vices, times and places. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2001. Pg. 259
- 201. Mamber, N., Note: coke and smack at the drugstore: harm reductive drug legalization: an alternative to a criminalization society, Cornell Journal of Law and Policy 2006, 619:641
- 202. Gray, J.P., The hopelessness of drug prohibition. 13 Chapman Law Review 2010, 521:545.
- Stevens, A., Drugs, Crime and Public Health: the political economy of drug policy, Abingdon: Routledge, 2010. Pp. 122–123
- Grund, J.P., & Breeksema, J., Coffee Shops and Compromise: Separated Illicit Drug Markets in the Netherlands, Pg. 11
- 205. EMCDDA, Country Profile: Netherlands, EMCDDA, 2016 (http://www.emcdda.europa.eu/countries/netherlands) accessed 22 February, 2016. The data shows that the in 2012 the Netherlands' drug-related death rate was 7 per million of the population (European range 1.5 - 84.1 per million); injecting drug use is the lowest in Europe at 0.2% of the population; last year cannabis use among young people (15 – 34) in 2009 was 13.7% compared to the European average of 12%.
- 206. Grund, J.P., & Breeksema J., Coffee Shops and Compromise: Separated Illicit Drug Markets in the Netherlands, Pg. 49
- 207. Ibid. Pg. 60
- 208. Kruize, P., & Gruter, P., Drugsdelicten beschouwd: over aard & omvang van Opiumwetfeiten in 2012 geregistreerd bij politie en Koninklijke Marechaussee, The Hague: WODC, 2014. Pg. 71. For an English summary, see: https://www.wodc.nl/onderzoeksdatabase/2325geregistreerde-drugscriminaliteit-in-cijfer.aspx
- 209. Kranjc, S., Escritt, T., Tourists protest Dutch cannabis ban,

Toronto Sun, 1 May, 2012

(http://www.torontosun.com/2012/05/01/protestors-say-no-toduch-cannabis-ban) accessed 21 February, 2016

- Blickman, T., Majority of the Dutch favour Cannabis Legislation, Transnational Institute: Drugs and Democracy.
   4 October 2013 (http://www.druglawreform.info/en/weblog/ item/4960-majority-of-the-dutch-favour-cannabis-legalisation) accessed 21 February, 2016
- 211. Dutch News, Most Dutch councils ignore ban on marijuana sales to tourists. Dutch News, February 19, 2014 (http://www.dutchnews.nl/news/archives/2014/02/most\_ dutch\_councils\_ignore\_ban.php) accessed 25 February, 2016
- 212. Blickman, T., Cannabis policy reform in Europe: Bottom up rather than top down, Series on Legislative Reform of Drug Policies Nr. 28, Transnational Institute, December 2014 (http://www.druglawreform.info/en/publications/legislativereform-series-/item/6007-cannabis-policy-reform-in-europe) accessed 25 February, 2016
- 213. Summary and conclusions, in: Meesters, M., Het failliet van het gedogen: Op weg naar de cannabiswet. Vereniging Nederlandse Gemeenten (VNG), November 2015 (https://vng.nl/files/vng/ rapport\_werkgroep\_cannabisbeleid\_engels.pdf) accessed 25 February, 2016

## 214. Ibid.

- 215. See: (http://www.detransparanteketen.nl/upload/files/ Onderzoek%20motivaction.pdf) For an overview of public opinion polls on cannabis in the Netherlands, see (http://druglawreform.info/images/stories/documents/ Cannabis\_opinion\_polls\_in\_the\_Netherlands\_June\_2015.pdf)
- 216. Dutch News, Idealistic marijuana growers get suspended jail terms. Dutch News, 9 September, 2015 (http://www.dutchnews.nl/news/archives/2015/09/idealisticmarijuana-growers-get-suspended-jail-terms/) accessed 25 February, 2016
- 217. Ley 1340/88 de Paraguay, *Artículos 28 a 30*, 1988 (http://www.cej.org.py/games/Leyes\_por\_Materia\_juridica/ SALUD/LEY%201340.pdf) accessed 27 January, 2016
- 218. United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (UNODC), World Drug Report 2011, New York: UN, 2011. Pp. 213-18
- 219. Ministerio de Justicia, 2do Censo Nacional Penitenciario – Paraguay Resultados Finales 2013, Gobierno Nacional de Paraguay, 2013 (http://www.ministeriodejusticia.gov.py/ application/files/7914/3282/1796/Censo\_Penitenciario.pdf) accessed 27 January, 2016
- Código Penal del Perú, Ley No. 28002, Artículo 299, 2003 (http://docs.peru.justia.com/federales/leyes/28002-jun-16-2003. pdf) accessed 27 January, 2016
- 221. Jelsma, M., *Drug Law Reform Trend in Latin America*, Transnational Institute, 2009 (http://www.akzept.org/pdf/ volltexte\_pdf/nr23/drogenpo\_inter/tnItrends\_latam0110.pdf) accessed 27 January, 2016
- 222. Soberón, R., 'Legislation on drugs and the prison situation in Peru' in: Systems Overload: drug laws and prisons in Latin America, Washington/Amsterdam: Washington Office on Latin America (WOLA)/Transnational Institute, 2010. Pp. 71–80 (http://www.druglawreform.info/en/publications/systemsoverload/item/875-drug-laws-and-prisons-in-peru) accessed 27 January, 2016
- 223. Soberón, R., 'Drugs Users in Peru: Policies Rights and Problems,' in: In Search of Rights: Drug Users and State Responses in Latin America, Colectivo de Estudio Drogas y Derechos, Mexico, 2014. Pg. 121 (http://www.drogasyderecho.org/publicaciones/prop\_ del/full-report-english.pdf) accessed 27 January, 2016
- 224. Corda, A., Drug Policy Reform in Latin America: Discourse and Reality, Colectivo de Estudio Drogas y Derechos, 2015. Pg. 7 (http://www.drogasyderecho.org/publicaciones/pub-priv/ alejandro\_i.pdf) accessed 27 January, 2016

- 225. Soberón, R., 'Legislation on drugs and the prison situation in Peru,' Pg. 71
- 226. Comisión Nacional para el Desarrollo y Vida sin Drogas (DEVIDA), Encuesta Nacional Sobre Prevención Consumo de Drogas 2002, Lima, Perú, 2003. Pg. 22 (http://www.unodc.org/documents/peruandecuador/ Publicaciones/II\_ENCUESTA\_2002.pdf) accessed 27 January, 2016
- 227. DEVIDA, Encuesta Nacional de Consumo de Drogas en la Población General de Perú – 2010, Lima, Perú, 2012. Pg. 20 (http://www.hablafranco.gob.pe/images/upload/ descarga/20130123143258Informe%20Ejecutivo%20 Poblaci%C3%B3n%20General%202010%20(2).pdf) accessed 27 January, 2016
- 228. Reitox Polish Reitox Focal Point, 2012 National Report (2011 Data) to the EMCDDA: "POLAND" New Development, Trends and in-depth information on selected issues, EMCDDA, 2012. Pg. 4 (http://www.emcdda.europa.eu/attachements.cfm/ att\_214052\_EN\_Poland\_NR2012.pdf) accessed 22 February, 2016
- 229. Ibid.
- 230. Diogenis & Transnational Institute, Informal Drug Policy Dialogue Report: Warsaw, Poland, 14-16 February 2013. Pg. 7 (http://www.undrugcontrol.info/images/stories/Informal\_Drug\_ Policy\_Dialogue2013\_FINAL.pdf) accessed 22 February, 2016
- 231. Reitox Polish Reitox Focal Point, 2014 National Report (2013 Data) to the EMCDDA: "POLAND" New Development, Trends and in-depth information on selected issues, EMCDDA, 2014. Pg. 38 (http://www.emcdda.europa.eu/attachements.cfm/ att\_239667\_EN\_national\_raport\_2014\_r.pdf) accessed 22 February, 2016
- 232. Ibid. Pg. 149
- 233. Polska Sieć Polityki Narkotykowej, Changes in the Law recommended by the Polish Drug policy Network, 2014 (http://www.politykanarkotykowa.pl/artykul/changes-lawrecommended-polish-drug-policy-network) accessed 22 February, 2016
- 234. Ibid.
- 235. Ibid.
- EMCDDA, Drug Policy Profiles Portugal, Lisbon: EMCDDA, 2011. Pg.18 (http://www.emcdda.europa.eu/publications/drugpolicy-profiles/portugal) accessed 24 February, 2016
- 237. EMCDDA, Threshold Quantities for Drug Offences, Lisbon: EMCDDA, 2010 (http://www.emcdda.europa.eu/html.cfm/ index99321EN.html) accessed 24 February, 2016 – this amounts in practice to up to 5 grams of cannabis resin or 25 grams of herbal cannabis, 1 gram of ecstasy, 1 gram of heroin, and 2 grams of cocaine.
- Kreit, A., The Decriminalization Option: should states consider moving from a criminal to a civil drug court model? University of Chicago Legal Forum, Chicago: University of Chicago, 2010. Pp. 299–326
- 239. Domosławski, A., Drug Policy in Portugal: The Benefits of Decriminalizing Drug User, (Translated from Polish to English by Hanna Siemaszko), Global Drug Policy Program: Open Society Foundations (https://www.opensocietyfoundations.org/ reports/drug-policy-portugal-benefits-decriminalizing-drug-use) accessed 24 February, 2016
- 240. Hughes, C., & Stevens, A., What can we learn from the Portuguese decriminalization of illicit drugs? British Journal of Criminology 2010:50. Pg. 1002 (https://kar.kent.ac.uk/29910/1/Hughes%20%20Stevens%20 2010.pdf) accessed 24 February, 2016
- 241. Ibid. Pg.1004
- 242. EMCDDA & SICAD, 2014 National Report (2013 data) to the

EMCDDA by the Reitox National Focal Point: Portugal New Developments, Trend, EMCDDA, 2014. Pg. 11 (http://www.emcdda.europa.eu/system/files/ publications/996/2014\_NATIONAL\_REPORT.pdf) accessed 23 February, 2016.

- 243. Ibid.
- 244. Ibid. Pg. 106
- 245. Greenwald, G., Drug Decriminalisation in Portugal: lessons for creating fair and successful drug policies, Washington DC: CATO institute, 2009
- 246. Pinto, C., *The Resounding Success of the Portuguese Drug Policy: the power of an attractive fallacy*, Lisbon: Associacao para uma Portugal livre de drogas, 2010
- 247. Hughes, C., Stevens A, A resounding success of a disastrous failure: re-examining the interpretation of evidence on the Portuguese decriminalisation of illicit drugs, Drug and Alcohol Review 2012;31:101–113 (https://kar.kent.ac.uk/29901/1/Hughes%20%20Stevens%20 2012.pdf) accessed 24 February, 2016
- 248. Hughes CE, & Stevens, A., What can we learn from the Portuguese decriminalization of illicit drugs? Pg. 1006 – citing a small increase from 2001 to 2007 (https://kar.kent.ac.uk/29910/1/Hughes%20%20Stevens%20 2010.pdf) accessed 24 February, 2016
- EMCDDA, Drug Policy Profiles Portugal, Lisbon: EMCDDA, 2011. Pg. 20 (http://www.emcdda.europa.eu/attachements. cfm/att\_137215\_EN\_PolicyProfile\_Portugal\_WEB\_Final.pdf) accessed 24 February, 2016
- 250. Continuity of use if defined as the proportion of people reporting both lifetime use and recent use.
- 251. EMCDDA & SICAD, 2014 National Report (2013 data) to the EMCDDA by the Reitox National Focal Point: Portugal New Developments, Trends, EMCDDA, 2014, Pg. 23 (http://www.emcdda.europa.eu/system/files/ publications/996/2014\_NATIONAL\_REPORT.pdf) accessed 23 February, 2016
- 252. EMCDDA & SICAD, 2014 National Report (2013 data) to the EMCDDA by the Reitox National Focal Point: Portugal New Developments, Trends, Pg. 9
- Hughes C., & Stevens A, What can we learn from the Portuguese decriminalization of illicit drugs? Pg. 1006
- 254. Doughty, S., 'Portugal decriminalised drugs. Results? Use by teens doubled in a decade with nearly a fifth of 15 and 16 year olds using drugs', The Daily Mail, 30 October, 2014 (http://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-2815084/Portugaldecriminalised-drugs-Results-Use-teens-doubled-decadenearly-fifth-15-16-year-olds-using-drugs.html)
- 255. European School Survey on Alcohol and Other Drugs, The 2011 ESPAD Report, May 31, 2012. Pg. 357 (http://www.espad.org/Uploads/ESPAD\_reports/2011/ The\_2011\_ESPAD\_Report\_FULL\_2012\_10\_29.pdf) accessed 24 February, 2016
- 256. Ibid.
- 257. EMCDDA & SICAD, 2014 National Report (2013 data) to the EMCDDA by the Reitox National Focal Point: Portugal New Developments, Trends, Pg. 24
- 258. Ibid. Pg. 30
- 259. The World Bank, Unemployment total (% of labour force) (ILO estimate) (http://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SL.UEM.TOTL. ZS) accessed 24 February, 2016
- 260. United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime, The Economic and Social Consequences of Drug Abuse and Illicit Trafficking, 1 January, 198. Pp. 16, 30 (http://www.countthecosts.org/sites/ default/files/Economic%20and%20Social%20Consequences%20

of%20Drug%20Abuse%20and%20Illicit%20Trafficking.pdf) accessed 24 February, 2016

261. Ibid.

- 262. Hughes, C., & Stevens, A., What can we learn from the Portuguese decriminalization of illicit drugs? Pg. 1014
- 263. Ibid. Pg. 1015
- EMCDDA & SICAD, 2014 National Report (2013 data) to the EMCDDA by the Reitox National Focal Point: Portugal New Developments, Trends, Pg. 75
- 265. Hughes, C., & Stevens, A., What can we learn from the Portuguese decriminalization of illicit drugs? Pg. 1015
- EMCDDA & SICAD, 2014 National Report (2013 data) to the EMCDDA by the Reitox National Focal Point: Portugal New Developments, Trends, Pg. 75
- Ibid; and see, Hughes, C., & Stevens, A., What can we learn from the Portuguese decriminalization of illicit drugs? Pg. 1016
- European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction, National Report 2001: Portugal, Pg. 20 (http://www.emcdda.europa.eu/html.cfm/index34767EN.html) accessed 24 February, 2016
- EMCDDA & SICAD, 2014 National Report (2013 data) to the EMCDDA by the Reitox National Focal Point: Portugal New Developments, Trends, Pg. 75
- EMCDDA, Portugal, Country Overview, A Summary of the National Drug Situation: Diseases and Mortality, EMCDDA, 2016 (http://www.emcdda.europa.eu/countries/portugal) accessed 24 February, 2016
- 271. EMCDDA, European Drug Report 2015 Trends and Developments, EMCDDA, 2015. Pg. 57 (http://www.emcdda.europa.eu/attachements.cfm/att\_239505\_ EN\_TDAT15001ENN.pdf) accessed 24 February, 2016
- 272. Hughes, C., & Stevens, A., What can we learn from the Portuguese decriminalization of illicit drugs? Pg. 1008; and see EMCDDA & SICAD, 2014 National Report (2013 data) to the EMCDDA by the Reitox National Focal Point: Portugal New Developments, Trends, Pg. 110
- 273. Ibid. Pg. 1010
- EMCDDA & SICAD, 2014 National Report (2013 data) to the EMCDDA by the Reitox National Focal Point: Portugal New Developments, Trends, Pg. 109
- 275. Hughes, C., & Stevens, A., What can we learn from the Portuguese decriminalization of illicit drugs? Pg. 1010
- 276. Ibid. Pp. 1012–1013
- 277. Magson, J., Drugs, Crime and Decriminalisation: Assessing the Impact of Drug Decriminalisation Policies on the Efficiency and Integrity of the Criminal Justice System, Winston Churchill Fellowship, January 2014. Pg. 27 (http://www.wcmt.org.uk/ reports/1200\_1.pdf) accessed 24 February, 2016
- 278. Goncalvesa, R., Lourenc, A., & Nogueira da Silva, S., A social cost perspective in the wake of the Portuguese strategy for the fight against drugs, International Journal of Drug Policy 26, 2015. Pg. 207 (http://www.ijdp.org/article/S0955-39591400231-X/) accessed 24 February, 2016
- 279. Russian Civil Society, the Andrey Rylkov Foundation for Health and Social Justice, and the Canadian HIV/AIDS Legal Network, Submission to the Office of the UN High Commissioner for Human Rights: Russian Drug Policy as a Distorting Reflection of the UN Drug Conventions, 2015 (http://en.rylkov-fond.org/blog/ arf-advocacy/arf-international-advocacy/ungass2016/) accessed 20 February, 2016
- 280. Chiu, J., & Burris, S., Punitive Drug Law and the Risk

Environment for Injecting Drug Users: Understanding the Connections, Working Paper, Global Commission on HIV and the Law, 2011. Pg. 4 (http://www.hivlawcommission.org/index. php/working-papers?task=document.viewdoc&id=98) accessed 20 February, 2016

- 281. Ibid. Pg. 3
- 282. Ibid. Pg. 4
- 283. Merkinaite, S., A war against people who use drugs, Eurasian Harm Reduction Network (EHRN), Vilnius: 2012. Pg. 22 (http://www.harm-reduction.org/library/war-against-peoplewho-use-drugs-costs-0) accessed 25 February, 2016
- 284. Russian Civil Society, the Andrey Rylkov Foundation for Health and Social Justice, and the Canadian HIV/AIDS Legal Network, Submission to the Office of the UN High Commissioner for Human Rights: Russian Drug Policy as a Distorting Reflection of the UN Drug Conventions, 2015
- 285. Global Commission on Drugs Policy, The War on Drugs and HIV/ AIDS: How the Criminalization of Drug Use Fuels the Global Pandemic, June 2012 (http://globalcommissionondrugs.org/ wp-content/themes/gcdp\_v1/pdf/GCDP\_HIV-AIDS\_2012\_ REFERENCE.pdf) accessed 20 February, 2016
- Luhn, A., While Russia grapples with HIV epidemic, Moscow's addicts share filthy needles, The Guardian 24 May, 2015 (http://www.theguardian.com/world/2015/may/24/putin-hivepidemic-moscow) accessed 25 February, 2016
- 287. Ibid.
- Levison, L., Half a gram a thousand lives, Harm Reduction Journal 2008;5(22). Pg. 2 (http://www.harmreductionjournal.com/content/pdf/1477-7517-5-22.pdf) accessed 20 February, 2016
- 289. Marshall, A., From drug war to culture war: Russia's growing role in the global drug debate, Global Drug Policy Observatory Policy Brief 5, University of Swansea, 2014. Pg. 7 (http://www.swansea.ac.uk/gdpo/files/GDPO%20Russia%20 Article-1.pdf) accessed 26 February, 2016
- Levison, L., Half a gram a thousand lives, Harm Reduction Journal 2008;5(22). Pg. 1 (http://www.harmreductionjournal.com/content/pdf/1477-7517-5-22.pdf) accessed 20 February, 2016
- 291. Ibid. Pg. 2
- 292. Ibid. supplementary table 1.
- 293. Ibid. Pg. 3
- 294. Tetrault-Farber, G., Plans to send Russian drug addicts to labor camps slammed by experts, The Moscow Times 15 April, 2015 (http://www.themoscowtimes.com/news/article/planto-send-russian-drug-addicts-to-labor-camps-slammed-byexperts/519191.html) accessed 25 February, 2016
- Merkinaite, S., A war against people who use drugs, Eurasian Harm Reduction Network (EHRN), Vilnius: 2012. Pg. 15
- 296. Levison, L., *Half a gram a thousand lives*, Harm Reduction Journal 2008;5(22). Pg. 2
- 297. Russian Civil Society, the Andrey Rylkov Foundation for Health and Social Justice, and the Canadian HIV/AIDS Legal Network, Submission to the Office of the UN High Commissioner for Human Rights: Russian Drug Policy as a Distorting Reflection of the UN Drug Conventions, 2015
- 298. Ibid.
- Marks, A,. The Cannabis Club Model in Transition, Observatorio Civil de Drogas, 2016 (http://observatoriocivil.org/cannabisclub-model-in-transition/) accessed 26 February, 2016
- 300. Gamella, J., & Rodrigo, M.L.J., A brief history of cannabis

policies in Spain (1968–2003), Journal of Drug Issues 2004; Summer:630

- 301. Gamella J, Rodrigo MLJ., A brief history of cannabis policies in Spain (1968–2003), Journal of Drug Issues 2004:Summer. Pg. 648 – explaining that because of relatively high limits for self-consumption quantity, most users do not deal with the courts as police handle proceedings for administrative sanctions and fines.
- 302. Recurso No 1765/2014 Sentencia 484/2015 de 07/09/2015. See further Marks, A., *The Cannabis Club Model in Transition*, Observatorio Civil de Drogas, 2016
- 303. Marks, A., The Legal Landscape for Cannabis Clubs in Spain, Observatorio Civil de Drogas, 2015 (http://observatoriocivil.org/the-legal-landscape-for-cannabissocial-clubs-in-spain/) accessed 28 February, 2016
- Marks, A., The Cannabis Club Model in Transition, Observatorio Civil de Drogas, 2016
- 305. Franquero, O., & Bouso Saiz, J., Innovation Born of Necessity: Pioneering Drug Policy in Catalonia, New York: Open Society Drug Foundations, March 2015, (http://www.opensocietyfoundations.org/sites/default/ files/20150428-innovation-born-necessity-pioneering-drugpolicy-catalonia.pdf) accessed 28 February, 2016
- Marks, A., The Legal Landscape for Cannabis Clubs in Spain, Observatorio Civil de Drogas, 2015
- 307. Ibid.
- 308. Casals Madrid, O., & Marks A., Proceso de regulación de clubes sociales de cannabis en Catalunya 2014-2015, Observatorio Civil de Drogas, 2015 (http://observatoriocivil.org/resolucionparlament-catalunya/) accessed 28 February, 2016
- 309. Ibid. Pg. 41
- Franquero, O., & Bouso Saiz, J., Innovation Born of Necessity: Pioneering Drug Policy in Catalonia, 2015, Pg. 41
- 311. Ibid. Pg. 46
- 312. Ibid. Pg.43
- Marks, A., The Cannabis Club Model in Transition, Observatorio Civil de Drogas, 2016
- 314. Ley Orgánica 1/1992 sobre la Protección de Seguridad Ciudadana
- 315. Franquero, O., & Bouso Saiz, J., Innovation Born of Necessity: Pioneering Drug Policy in Catalonia, 2015, Pp. 14 & 34
- EMCDDA, Spain country overview: A summary of the national drug situation, Drug Offences, (http://www.emcdda.europa.eu/ countries/spain) accessed 28 February, 2016
- 317. Ley Orgánica 4/2015
- 318. Csete, J., From the Mountaintops: Drug Policy Change in Switzerland, Global Drug Policy Program, New York: Open Society Foundations, 2010. Pg. 15 (https://www.opensocietyfoundations.org/sites/default/files/ from-the-mountaintops-english-20110524\_0.pdf) accessed 20 February, 2016
- 319. Ibid.
- 320. Ibid. Pg. 19
- 321. Ibid.
- 322. Ibid. Pg. 9
- 323. Ibid. Pg. 22
- 324. Ibid.
- 325. Pryce, S., Fixing Drugs: The Politics of Drug Prohibition,

Macmillan, 2012. Pg. 132

- BBC News, Swiss approve prescription heroin, 30 November 2008 (http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/world/europe/7757050.stm) accessed 20 February, 2016
- 327. Ibid.
- 328. Steber Buechli, D., & Dreifuss, R., Swiss Drug Policy in International Context – Fought, Ignored, Admired, LSE Ideas. Pg.47 (http://www.lse.ac.uk/IDEAS/publications/reports/pdf/ SR014/Buechli-Dreifuss.pdf) accessed 20 February, 2016
- 329. Withnall, A., Switzerland Changes Law to Decriminalise Marijuana Possession, The Independent, 3 October, 2013 (http://www.independent.co.uk/news/world/europe/ switzerland-changes-law-to-decriminalise-marijuanapossession-8856308.html) accessed 20 February, 2016
- 330. Federal Act on Narcotics and Psychotropic Substances, Article 19 b (2) (https://www.admin.ch/opc/en/classifiedcompilation/19981989/index.html) accessed 26 February, 2016
- Withnall, A., Switzerland Changes Law to Decriminalise Marijuana Possession, The Independent, 3 October, 2013
- 332. Federal Act on Narcotics and Psychotropic Substances, Article 19 b (1) (https://www.admin.ch/opc/en/classifiedcompilation/19981989/index.html) accessed 26 February, 2016
- Federal Bureau of Investigation, Crime in the United States, 2014, Washington, D.C.: US Department of Justice, 2015
- 334. California, Connecticut, Delaware, Iowa, Maine, Massachusetts, Mississippi, New York, Pennsylvania, South Carolina, Tennessee, Utah, Vermont, West Virginia, Wisconsin and Wyoming
- 335. Stanford Justice Advocacy Project, Proposition 47 Progress Report: Year One Implementation, Stanford Law School, 2015 (https://www-cdn.law.stanford.edu/wp-content/ uploads/2015/10/Prop-47-report.pdf) accessed 24 February, 2016
- 336. Public Policy Polling, Washington, D.C., Survey Results, 2013
- 337. Public Policy Polling, New Hampshire Survey Results, 2016 (http://www.drugpolicy.org/sites/default/files/ NHResults\_012616.pdf) accessed 24 February, 2016
- 338. 338 Public Policy Polling, South Carolina Survey Results, 2016 (https://www.drugpolicy.org/sites/default/files/SC\_poll\_0216\_ PPP.pdf) accessed 24 February, 2016
- 339. Pew Research Center, America's New Drug Policy Landscape, Pew Research Center, April 2, 2014
- 340. LFA Group, Law Enforcement Assisted Diversion (L.E.A.D.) Program and Evaluation Plan Narrative, 2011; The Defender Association, Law Enforcement Assisted Diversion (L.E.A.D.): A Pre-Booking Diversion Model for Low-Level Drug Offenses, 2010
- 341. Collins, S.E., Lonczak, H.S., & Clifasefi, S.L., *LEAD Program Evaluation: Recidivism Report*, University of Washington, Harborview Medical Center, 2015 (http://leadkingcounty.org/storage/LEAD\_EVALUATION\_4-7-15.pdf) accessed 24 February, 2016
- 342. Collins, S.E., Lonczak, H.S., & Clifasefi, S.L., LEAD Program Evaluation: Criminal Justice and Legal System Utilization and Associated Costs, University of Washington, Harborview Medical Center, 2015 (http://leadkingcounty.org/storage/ June%202015%20LEAD-Program-EvaluationCriminal-Justiceand-Legal-System-Utilization-and-Associated-Costs.pdf) accessed 24 February, 2016
- 343. Drug Policy Alliance, Maryland Legislator to Introduce Groundbreaking Harm Reduction Drug Policy Bills to Reduce: Addiction, Deadly Overdose, Spread of Infectious Disease, and Incarceration Rates for Drug-Related Offenses, 2 February, 2016 (http://www.drugpolicy.org/news/2016/02/

maryland-legislator-introduce-groundbreaking-harm-reductiondrug-policy-bills-reduce-ad) accessed 24 February, 2016

- 344. Aldrich, M.R., & Mikuriya, T., Savings in California Marijuana Law Enforcement Costs Attributable to the Moscone Act of 1976: A Summary, Journal of Psychoactive Drugs Vol. 20(1), Jan-Mar 1988. Pp. 75-81 (http://digital.library.ucla.edu/ websites/1988\_999\_002/platform/mj\_study.html) accessed 9 February, 2016
- 345. American Civil Liberties Union, War on Marijuana in Black and White, June 2013, Pp. 77 & 126 (https://www.aclu.org/files/ assets/aclu-thewaronmarijuana-rel2.pdf) accessed 6 February, 2016
- 346. Senate Bill No. 1449, Chapter 708, State of California, September, 2010 (http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/ billNavClient.xhtml?bill\_id=200920100SB1449) accessed 9 February, 2016
- California NORML, California Arrest and Prisoner Data, (http:// www.canorml.org/arrestsprisoners.html) accessed 25 February, 2016
- 348. Office of the Attorney General California Department of Justice, Crime in California 2014, (http://oag.ca.gov/sites/all/ files/agweb/pdfs/cjsc/publications/candd/cd14/cd14.pdf ?) Accessed 25 February, 2016
- California Proposition 36, The Substance Abuse and Crime Prevention Act 2000 (http://www.nationalfamilies.org/guide/ california36.html) accessed 10 February, 2016
- 350. Urada, D., Hawken, A., Conner, B.T., et al. Evaluation of Proposition 36: The Substance Abuse and Crime Prevention Act of 2000, UCLA Integrated Substance Abuse Programs, prepared for the Department of Alcohol and Drug Programs, California Health and Human Services Agency. Los Angeles: UCLA, 2008. Pg. 228 (http://www.uclaisap.org/Prop36/documents/2008%20 Final%20Report.pdf) accessed 10 February, 2016
- 351. See California Society of Addiction Medicine (CSAM). San Francisco: CSAM, 2009. 2009/10 Budget: Funding for Proposition 36 Addiction Treatment (http://www.csam-asam.org/200910-budget-fundingproposition-36-addiction-treatment) accessed 10 February, 2016
- 352. Ibid.
- 353. Garvey, M & Leonard, J, Drug use rearrests up after Prop. 36, Los Angeles Times, 14 April, 2007 (http://articles.latimes.com/2007/ apr/14/local/me-drug14) accessed 10 February, 2016
- 354. See California Society of Addiction Medicine (CSAM). San Francisco: CSAM, 2009. 2009/10 Budget: Funding for Proposition 36 Addiction Treatment,
- 355. California Judicial Branch, Proposition 47: The Safe Neighborhoods and Schools Act, (http://www.courts.ca.gov/ prop47.htm) accessed 10 February, 2016
- 356. Convictions for prior offences under California Penal Code Section 667 (e)(2)(C)(iv) mean the person cannot receive a misdemeanour (http://codes.findlaw.com/ca/penal-code/pensect-667.html) accessed 10 February, 2016
- 357. Chang, C., Gerber, M., & Poston, B., Unintended consequences of Prop. 47 pose challenge for criminal justice system, Los Angeles Times, 6 November, 2015 (http://www.latimes.com/ local/crime/la-me-prop47-anniversary-20151106-story.html) accessed 10 February, 2016
- 358. Davis, K., Scramble to implement Prop 47 begins, The San Diego Union-Tribune, 5 November, 2014 (http://www.sandiegouniontribune.com/news/2014/nov/05/ prop-47-pass-resentence-inmate-jail-petition/) accessed 25 February, 2016
- 359. American Civil Liberties Union, War on Marijuana in Black and White, June 2013, Pp. 54 & 66 (https://www.aclu.org/files/ assets/aclu-thewaronmarijuana-rel2.pdf) accessed 6 February, 2016

- 360. Ibid. Pp. 15 & 127
- 361. Marijuana Policy Project, An Overview of D.C.'s Decriminalization Ordinance, (https://www.mpp.org/states/ district-of-columbia/an-overview-of-d-c-s-decriminalizationordinance/) accessed 6 February, 2016
- 362. Washington D.C Act 20-305, Sec. 202, March 31, 2014 (http://lims.dccouncil.us/Download/29565/B20-0409-SignedAct.pdf) accessed 6 February, 2016
- NORML, District of Columbia Laws & Penalties, (http://norml.org/laws/item/district-of-columbia-penalties) accessed 6 February, 2016
- 364. Drug Policy Alliance, D.C. Council Reverses Opposition to Regulated Spaces to Consume Marijuana, 2 February, 2016 (http://www.drugpolicy.org/news/2016/02/dc-council-reversesopposition-regulated-spaces-consume-marijuana) accessed 6 February, 2016
- 365. Boecker, K., On D.C.'s one-year anniversary with legalized marijuana, work remains, The Washington Post, 25 February, 2016 (https://www.washingtonpost.com/blogs/all-opinionsare-local/wp/2016/02/25/on-d-c-s-one-year-anniversary-withlegalized-marijuana-work-remains/) accessed 27 February, 2016
- 366. Jelsma, M., Drug Law Reform Trend in Latin America. Amsterdam: Transnational Institute, 2009. Pg. 1 (http://www. akzept.org/pdf/volltexte\_pdf/nr23/drogenpo\_inter/tnItrends\_ latam0110.pdf) accessed 30 January, 2016
- 367. Gobierno de Uruguay, Ley N° 17.016 updating Decreto-Ley N° 14.294 of 1974, Artículo 31, 1998 (http://www.cicad.oas.org/ fortalecimiento\_institucional/legislations/PDF/UY/ley\_17016. pdf) accessed 30 January, 2016
- 368. Ibid
- 369. Garibotto, G., 'Prisons and drugs in Uruguay,' in: Systems Overload: drug laws and prisons in Latin America, Washingron/ Amsterdam: Washington Office on Latin America (WOLA)/ Transnational Institute, 2010. Pp.82–86 (http://www. druglawreform.info/images/stories/documents/Systems\_ Overload/TNI-Systems\_Overload-uruguay-def.pdf) accessed 30 January, 2016
- 370. Corda, A., Drug Policy Reform in Latin America: Discourse and Reality, Colectivo de Estudio Drogas y Derechos, 2015. Pg. 7 (http://www.drogasyderecho.org/publicaciones/pub-priv/ alejandro\_i.pdf) accessed 27 January, 2016
- Institute for Criminal Policy Research, World Prison Brief Uruguay, 2015 (http://www.prisonstudies.org/country/uruguay) accessed 30 January, 2016
- 372. Gobierno de Uruguay, Ley Nº 19.172, 2013 (http:// www.parlamento.gub.uy/leyes/AccesoTextoLey. asp?Ley=19172&Anchor) accessed 30 January, 2016
- 373. Ramsey, G., Uruguay Finally Unveils Marijuana Regulatory Framework, TalkingDrugs, 6 May, 2014 (http://www.talkingdrugs.org/after-delays-uruguay-unveilsmarijuana-regulatory-framework) accessed 30 January, 2016
- 374. Fernández, N., Uruguay adjudicó a dos empresas la producción legal de marihuana, La Nacion, 2 October, 2015 (http://www. lanacion.com.ar/1833056-uruguay-adjudico-a-dos-empresas-laproduccion-legal-de-marihuana) accessed 30 January, 2016
- 375. Wilkinson, R., & Pickett, K., The Spirit Level: why equality is better for everyone. London: Penguin Books, 2010. Pg.71



Tel: +44 (0)20 7324 2979 Fax: +44 (0)20 7324 2977 Email: ask@release.org.uk Web: www.release.org.uk

ISBN - 0-904932-45-1

© Release Publication 2016

Designed by SVIDesign www.svidesign.com Release is the UK national centre of expertise on drugs and drug laws, providing free and confidential specialist services to professionals, the public, and people who use drugs. Release also campaigns for the reform of UK drug policy, particularly the removal of criminal sanctions for possession offences, in order to bring about a fairer and more compassionate legal framework to managing drug use in our society.

This is the second edition of 'A Quiet Revolution: Drug Decriminalisation Policies Across the Globe'. The first edition was released in July 2012 and has since been cited by a wide range of organisations and agencies, including: the World Health Organisation, the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, and the Global Commission on Drug Policy. This edition builds on the 2012 publication, providing updates on the jurisdictions originally covered and highlighting a number of new countries that have adopted a non-criminal justice response to the possession of drugs for personal use.

Many countries continue to incarcerate and criminalise people for possession or use of drugs, with criminalisation alone undermining employment, education and housing opportunities. In addition, many people who use drugs are often subject to human rights abuses by the state in jurisdictions which continue to criminalise them. The continued targeting of this group has not only a negative impact on the individuals in question, but their families and broader society as a whole. The aim of this report is to inform the public and policymakers alike on the impact of decriminalising drug possession offences, showing that decriminalisation does not lead to increased rates of use while equally demonstrating that law enforcement-led approaches have little impact on this metric. Rather, the decision to end the criminalisation of people who use drugs can negate the harms highlighted above when done effectively and produce positive social, health and economic outcomes, not just for the individual, but for society as a whole.



Tel: +44 (0)20 7324 2979 Fax: +44 (0)20 7324 2977 Email: ask@release.org.uk Web: www.release.org.uk

ISBN - 0-904932-45-1 © Release Publication 2016

Designed by SVIDesign www.svidesign.com